Final White Paper Research Project T1803 Task 29 Riparian Corridor

#### ECOLOGICAL ISSUES IN FLOODPLAINS AND RIPARIAN CORRIDORS

by

Susan M. Bolton Associate Professor and Director Jeff Shellberg Research Assistant

Center for Streamside Studies University of Washington, Bx 352100 Seattle, Washington 98195

Washington State Transportation Center (TRAC)

University of Washington, Box 354802 University District Building 1107 NE 45th Street, Suite 535 Seattle, Washington 98105-4631

Washington State Department of Transportation Technical Monitor Patricia Lynch Environmental Affairs

Prepared for

Washington State Transportation Commission
 Department of Transportation
 and in cooperation with

 U.S. Department of Transportation
 Federal Highway Administration

1. REPORT NO.	2. GOVERNMENT ACCESSION NO.	3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NO.							
	2. GOVERNMENT RECEIPTION	s. Recherry criticol its.							
WA-RD 524.1									
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE	<u> </u>	5. REPORT DATE							
Ecological Issues in Floodplains and	Riparian Corridors	July 2001							
	6. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION CODE								
7. AUTHOR(S)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NO.							
Susan M. Bolton and Jeff Shellberg									
6									
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS	10. WORK UNIT NO.								
Washington State Transportation Cen									
University of Washington, Box 35480	11. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.								
University District Building; 1107 NE		Agreement T1803, Task 29							
Seattle, Washington 98105-4631									
12. SPONSORING AGENCY NAME AND ADDRESS	13. TYPE OF REPORT AND PERIOD COVERED								
Research Office	Final white paper								
Washington State Department of Transportation		Final white paper							
Transportation Building, MS 47370									
Olympia, Washington 98504-7370		14. SPONSORING AGENCY CODE							
James Toohey, Project Manager, 360-									
15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	105-0005								
• 1	ion with the U.S. Departme	nt of Transportation, Federal Highway							
Administration.									

<sup>16.</sup> ABSTRACT This white paper examines and synthesizes the literature pertaining to the current state of knowledge on the physical and biological effects of alluvial river channelization, channel confinement, and various channel and floodplain modifications. It also examines and summarizes literature on the mitigation, rehabilitation and restoration of rivers affected by these human modifications. Data gaps in our current understanding of physical and biological process, the effects of human modifications, and appropriate rehabilitation or restoration techniques are also reviewed.

The paper overviews ecological and habitat issues associated with streams and riparian zones in Washington State and the Pacific Northwest. The results of the literature review are documented in a synthesis of the ecological and habitat effects of channelization, channel confinement and construction. The physical and morphologic effects of channelization are first reviewed to highlight how habitat templates have been or potentially could be modified. Then, the responses of different groups of organisms (invertebrates, fish, plants, birds, mammals) that are dependent on functional riparian corridors are reviewed. Data gaps in our current knowledge in connecting cause and effects relationships in complex ecological systems are reviewed. The functional importance of hyporheic and perirheic zones in alluvial streams is also reviewed.

The paper includes a section on habitat protection and mitigation techniques. Alternative management strategies such as passive (vs. active) restoration, streamside vegetation retention or promotion, and modified in-channel vegetation removal are reviewed. Recommendations by various authors on minimizing impacts during design and construction are also summarized. Preservation of channel morphology, incorporation of vegetation into embankments, and alternative bank protection techniques are also explored.

In recent years there has been a societal push to rehabilitate and/or restore streams and rivers degraded by channel modifications. The paper ends with a review of large-scale rehabilitation and restoration projects and techniques in the literature.

channel confinement, restoration		<sup>18.</sup> DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22616						
19. SECURITY CLASSIF. (of this report)	20. SECURITY CLASSIF. (of this page)		21. NO. OF PAGES	22. PRICE				
None	Non	e						

## WHITE PAPER

# Ecological Issues in Floodplains and Riparian Corridors

Submitted to

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife Washington Department of Ecology Washington Department of Transportation

Prepared by

Susan Bolton and Jeff Shellberg University of Washington, Center for Streamside Studies

July 11, 2001

#### DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Washington State Transportation Commission, Department of Transportation, or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

# Contents

Overview of Aquatic Habitat Guidelines Project	iii
Assessment of the State of Knowledge	1
Methods	1
Overview of Ecological and Habitat Issues	
Basic Hydrology and Hydraulics	
Basic Geomorphology	
Basic Riparian Ecology	3
Definitions of Stream Corridors and Channel Migration Zones	4
Results of Literature Review on Ecological and Habitat Effects of Channelization	
Channel Confinement and Construction	7
Physical Effects of Channel Straightening	9
Physical Effects of Levees	
Physical Effects of Clearing and Snagging including the Role of Large Woody	
Debris	10
Biological Effects of Channelization	13
Requirements and Responses of Aquatic Invertebrates	14
Requirements and Response of Fish	15
Requirements and Response of Plants	16
Requirements and Response of Birds	
Requirements and Response of Mammals	
Off-site Consequences of Channelization	
Discussion/Data Gaps	20
Hydrogeomorphic and Ecological Effects of Channel Confinement and	
Channelization on the Hyporheic and Perirheic Zones	
Introduction to the Hyporheic and Perirheic Zones	20
Effects of Channel Confinement/Channelization on Hyporheic and Perirheic	
Zones	
Data Gaps	31
Habitat Protection and Mitigation Techniques	33
Background	33
Streamside Vegetation Removal	34
In-channel Vegetation Removal (Snagging)	37
Natural Recovery/Passive Restoration	39
Alternative Construction/Design Practices to Mitigate Impacts	41
Active Restoration and Rehabilitation Techniques	48
Data Gaps: Habitat Protection and Mitigation	
References	59
Appendix A Complete Literature Database	

# Tables

Table 1.	Typical changes in channel attributes following shortening and straightening of the channel (after Brookes 1988)	9
Table 2.	Typical Effects of Stream Channelization (Brookes 1988; Simpson et al. 1982)	.11
Table 3.	Simon and Hupp 1987A	.40
Table 4.	Simon and Hupp 1987B	.41
Table 5.	Alternative bank stabilization references (See appendix A for full citations)	.49

# Figures

Figure 1.	Principal effects of major types of channelization (taken from Brookes 1988)9
Figure 2.	Hyporheic zones (from Edwards 1998)

## **Executive Summary: Ecological Issues in Floodplains and Riparian Corridors**

Susan Bolton and Jeff Shellberg, University of Washington, Center for Streamside Studies

As part of the process outlined in Washington's *Statewide Strategy to Recover Salmon: Extinction is Not an Option* the Washington Departments of Fish and Wildlife, Ecology, and Transportation were charged to develop Aquatic Habitat Guidelines employing an integrated approach to marine, freshwater, and riparian habitat protection and restoration. Guidelines will be issued, as funding allows, in a series of manuals addressing many aspects of aquatic and riparian habitat protection and restoration.

This document is one of a series of white papers developed to provide a scientific and technical basis for developing Aquatic Habitat Guidelines. The white papers address the current understanding of impacts of development and land management activities on aquatic habitat, and potential mitigation for these impacts.

The scope of work for each white paper requested a "comprehensive but not exhaustive" review of the peer-reviewed scientific literature, symposia literature, and technical (gray) literature, with an emphasis on the peer-reviewed literature. The reader of this report can therefore expect a broad review of the literature which is current through late 2000. Several of the white papers also contain similar elements including the following sections: overview of the guidelines project, overview of the subject white paper, assessment of the state of knowledge, summary of existing guidance, recommendations for future guidance documents, glossary of technical terms, and bibliography.

This white paper examines and synthesizes the literature pertaining to the current state of knowledge on the physical and biological effects of alluvial river channelization, channel confinement, and various channel and floodplain modifications. It also examines and summarizes literature on the mitigation, rehabilitation and restoration of rivers affected by these human modifications. Data gaps in our current understanding of physical and biological process, the effects of human modifications, and appropriate rehabilitation or restoration techniques are also reviewed.

Databases accessible through the University of Washington library were used as primary information sources. Additional information sources included other library systems, the Internet, and governmental gray literature. The reference section in this document cites all papers used for writing. However, the literature review and topic summary are not comprehensive, as there are many additional informational sources that were beyond this review in scope and detail, or that were not discovered. For the ambitious reader, there is an additional database that includes all references that were found, including those not cited in the text.

wp1 /00-01215-009 flood plain exec summary.doc

The paper begins with an overview of ecological and habitat issues associated with streams and riparian zones in Washington State and the Pacific Northwest. A basic review of the science behind river hydraulics, river morphology and habitat formation is given, as is a review of riparian ecology and its importance in maintaining and forming aquatic habitat. Definitions of stream corridors and channel migration zones given by various authors are reviewed.

The results of the literature review are documented in a synthesis of the ecological and habitat effects of channelization, channel confinement and construction. The vast amount of literature on these subjects prohibited an exhaustive review. The most pertinent information is included by individual topic and in summary tables. Past literature reviews, summary reports and detailed investigations are cited for further reference and detailed information. The physical and morphologic effects of channelization are first reviewed to highlight how habitat templates have been or potentially could be modified. Then, the responses of different groups of organisms (invertebrates, fish, plants, birds, mammals) that are dependent on functional riparian corridors are reviewed. Data gaps in our current knowledge in connecting cause and effects relationships in complex ecological systems are reviewed.

The field of hyporheic ecology has developed and grown over the last three decades. Thus, the functional importance of hyporheic and perirheic zones in alluvial streams is reviewed. However, the effects of human activities on the hyporheic and perirheic zones have only been recently investigated. Our current state of knowledge in regards to human modifications of these ecotones is synthesized from the direct literature on the effects of channel modifications on hyporheic/perirheic processes. Derivations are also made from associated literature on the general effects of channelization and general hyporheic processes in unmodified fluvial systems. Many scientific data gaps exist in the hyporheic/perirheic literature.

The paper includes a section on habitat protection and mitigation techniques. Alternative management strategies such as passive (vs. active) restoration, streamside vegetation retention or promotion, and modified in-channel vegetation removal are reviewed. Recommendations by various authors on how to minimize impacts during design and construction are also summarized. Preservation of channel morphology, incorporation of vegetation into embankments, and alternative bank protection techniques are major features of this section.

In recent years there has been a societal push to rehabilitate and/or restore streams and rivers degraded by channel modifications. The development of restoration paradigms and strategies has been based on our understanding of natural systems. However, relatively little information has been published on working policies, pilot studies or experiments, restoration designs, implementation methods, and effectiveness monitoring of restoration activities. Furthermore, most projects have been implemented for the mitigation and enhancement of small site-specific sites. The paper ends with a review of large-scale rehabilitation and restoration projects and techniques in the literature.

# **Overview of Aquatic Habitat Guidelines Project**

As part of the process outlined in Washington's *Statewide Strategy to Recover Salmon: Extinction is Not an Option* the Washington Departments of Fish and Wildlife, Ecology, and Transportation were charged to develop Aquatic Habitat Guidelines employing an integrated approach to marine, freshwater, and riparian habitat protection and restoration. Guidelines will be issued, as funding allows, in a series of manuals addressing many aspects of aquatic and riparian habitat protection and restoration.

This document is one of a series of white papers developed to provide a scientific and technical basis for developing Aquatic Habitat Guidelines. The white papers address the current understanding of impacts of development and land management activities on aquatic habitat, and potential mitigation for these impacts. The following topics are addressed in the white paper series:

- Over-water structures marine
- Over-water structures freshwater
- Over-water structures treated wood issues
- Water crossings
- Channel design
- Marine and estuarine shoreline modification issues
- Ecological issues in floodplain and riparian corridors
- Dredging marine
- Dredging and gravel removal freshwater

Individual white papers will not necessarily result in a corresponding guidance document. Instead, guidance documents, addressing management and technical assistance, may incorporate information from one or more of the white papers. Opportunities to participate in guidelines development through scoping, workshops, and reviewing draft guidance materials will be available to all interested parties.

Principal investigators were selected for specific white paper topics based on their acknowledged expertise. The scope of work for their projects requested a "comprehensive but not exhaustive" review of the peer-reviewed literature, symposia literature, and technical (gray) literature, with an emphasis on the peer-reviewed literature. Readers of this report can therefore expect a broad review of the literature, which is current through late 2000. The coverage will vary among papers depending on research conducted on the subject and reported in the scientific and technical literature. Analysis of project specific monitoring, mitigation studies, and similar efforts are beyond the scope of this program.

Each white paper includes some or all of these elements: overview of the Aquatic Habitat Guidelines program, overview of the subject white paper, assessment of the state of the knowledge, summary of existing guidance, recommendations for future guidelines, glossary of technical terms, and bibliography. The overarching goal of the Aquatic Habitat Guidelines program is to protect and promote fully functioning fish and wildlife habitat through comprehensive and effective management of activities affecting Washington's aquatic and riparian ecosystems. These aquatic and riparian habitats include, but are not limited to rearing, spawning, refuge, feeding, and migration habitat elements for fish and wildlife.

# Assessment of the State of Knowledge

## Methods

Databases accessible through the University of Washington library were used to locate relevant references for this document. Abstracts were downloaded and reviewed and then the most relevant papers were located, copied, read and synthesized. Additional references were located through the citations in selected papers and from recommendations from other researchers. The reference section in the document contains all papers cited in the text. There is an additional database that includes all potentially relevant references that were found, including those not used in the text.

## **Overview of Ecological and Habitat Issues**

### **Basic Hydrology and Hydraulics**

An understanding of how water flows is important for understanding how activities in the channel and floodplain affect flow. The amount of water passing a point on the stream channel during a given time is a function of velocity and cross-sectional area of the flowing water,

$$Q = AV$$
(1)

where Q is stream discharge (volume/time), A is cross-sectional area, and V is flow velocity. Equation 1 is a form of a mass-balance equation typically referred to by hydrologists as the Continuity Equation.

If you confine the channel through various channelization activities, then the cross-sectional area decreases. If the channel must still carry the same flow or discharge (Q), then equation 1 shows that the flow velocity must increase. An increase in velocity results in an increase in the energy in the flow. This means that the flow can do more work, such as erosion and transport of sediments.

Velocity is a function of channel slope, channel roughness and area. Manning's equation (Equation 2) is commonly used in the United States to study velocity,

$$V = b/n (R^{2/3}S^{1/2})$$
 (2)

where V is flow velocity, n is Manning's roughness parameter, b is a coefficient that changes depending on whether one works with metric (b=1) or English units (b=1.49), R is hydraulic radius (cross-sectional area/wetted perimeter), and S is water slope. Wetted perimeter is the length of a line, perpendicular to the direction of flow, across the channel where the stream water is in contact with the bed and the banks.

Evaluation of equation 2 shows that if you decrease the channel roughness or increase the channel slope, velocity increases. As mentioned above, an increase in velocity increases the energy of the flow and the amount of work that the water can do. This can lead to erosion of the channel bed and banks and transport of sediment downstream. Changes in Manning's 'n', the roughness coefficient, are linearly related to velocity. In other words, if 'n' changes by 30%, velocity changes by 30%. Channel roughness is affected by substrate size, vegetation and large wood.

#### **Basic Geomorphology**

Schumm (1985) defines three major categories of stream channels: bedrock, semi-controlled, and alluvial. Bedrock channels are stable over time and do not change their position unless there are weak sections of bedrock that allow the channel to shift laterally. Semi-controlled channels have local controls that resist channel movement. Local controls can be areas of bedrock, resistant alluvium, or large wood and logjams (Abbe 2000). In areas without local controls, the channel is subject to migration. By definition, alluvial channels have substrates and banks made of material that is transported by the stream. This means that stream discharges can erode, transport, and deposit the material that shapes the channel. Alluvial channels frequently change their positions and exhibit a range of patterns that are characterized by meander and braiding features. The stability of alluvial channels is much higher when islands and bars have mature vegetation (Kondolf and Curry 1984; Hupp and Osterkamp 1996), but in some situations vegetation has only limited influence on stability and channel migration (Burckhardt and Todd 1998). In alluvial channels, lateral shifts may be normal river behavior, but changes in depth and width indicate true channel instability (Schumm 1985).

While anthropogenic channel confinement and channelization can and does occur in bedrock and semi-controlled stream channels, the majority of this paper will focus on issues in lowland alluvial stream channels and floodplains. Nanson and Croke (1992) give a genetic classification of the morphology and functional processes of floodplains in alluvial rivers. Their classification is based on a streams competence and ability to do work. Primary classification variables include shear stress (tractive force on a streambed) and stream power. Gross stream power,  $\Omega$ , relates to the internal energy of a stream and its ability to do work, and is defined as:

$$\Omega = \gamma QS \tag{3}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the specific weight of water, Q is the stream discharge, and S is channel slope (Leopold et al. 1964). The classification scheme is divided into three major distinct groups based mainly on stream power, sediment size and valley confinement:

Class A: High-Energy Non-Cohesive Floodplains Class B: Medium-Energy Non-Cohesive Floodplains Class C: Low-Energy Cohesive Floodplains Within this classification are a total of fifteen subgroups that differ according to stream power, sediment dynamics, erosional and depositional processes, landforms, channel planform, and environment. Geomorphic classifications such as these are not cookbooks for channel design, but they are very useful to the planner, manager and scientist in identifying what type of general system and processes they are dealing with before embarking on more detailed site-specific investigations.

### **Basic Riparian Ecology**

Riparian areas are lands adjacent to streams and lakes (Hall 1988). The interactions between the land and water create a diverse and productive habitat for plants and animals. The availability of water, moist rich soils and a variety of plants make the area attractive to wildlife, livestock and people. The size of the riparian area and the extent of interaction between the land and the water vary with the size of the stream (Bilby 1988). In small, upland streams with typically small amounts of stream flow, the forest or other adjacent land use dominates the stream. Living trees provide shade that keeps water temperatures cool. Dead and fallen trees become large woody debris and provide habitat and cover for insects, amphibians and fish and create pools that help control sediment and nutrient transport. With little sunshine reaching the stream, the forest provides food in the form of insects, leaves, needles, twigs and branches for the insects, amphibians and fish that live in the stream (Gregory et al. 1987). In larger, wider streams the forest and the water interact frequently with each other (Bilby 1988). High stream flows can undercut trees, change the flow path of the river, and deposit nutrient rich sediment onto the forest floor. The forest in turn provides shade and wood to the stream. In very large rivers, a large floodplain forest influences channel migration and development of forest islands within the channel migration zone. In these streams, there is usually an extensive area of active exchange of water and nutrients between surface and subsurface water through an area called the hyporheic zone.

Whatever the size of the stream, riparian areas are critical for maintaining the ecological health of the stream. The water quantity and quality in streams reflects the conditions in the watershed including the riparian areas and the upland areas (Naiman et al. 1992). Healthy streams and watersheds provide clean water, fish, wildlife and livestock habitat, and natural flood and sediment control. Trees and shrubs along the stream slow flood waters and provide time for water to soak into the ground, which can reduce flooding in downstream areas. Streamside vegetation can also filter out pollutants before they reach the stream keeping the stream and groundwater clean. Sediments and nutrients that get filtered out in the riparian zone are quickly colonized by new vegetation, which stabilize the sediment and use the nutrients for growth.

Streams and adjacent riparian areas are subject to frequent disturbances. Natural disturbances include fires, floods, pest and disease outbreaks, slope failures and windstorms (Naiman et al. 1992). Natural systems have a patchwork of forests of different ages with a variety of shrub and tree species. No single area along a river provides the best habitat for all species. The patchwork of forest creates a highly diverse landscape that provides many different habitats than can be used by a large number of plant and animal species. This mix of habitats is the key to a healthy

riparian system. However, an increase in the number, size or duration of disturbances can overwhelm the system. Human activities, such as mining, grazing, farming, damming, channelization, logging, urbanization and recreation also disturb riparian areas. It is important to understand the historical rate of disturbances for any given riparian system and not to exceed that frequency, size or duration of disturbance.

Riparian areas affect the delivery and routing of sediment (Everest et al. 1987), water (Sullivan et al. 1987) and wood (Bisson et al. 1987) into and through the stream. Management of upland areas can alter the processes that deliver water, wood and sediment to the riparian areas. This means that a watershed view of riparian areas is essential. Changes in the amount and timing of water delivery to streams affect the plants and animals. If water is delivered to the stream at unusual times or in unusually high or low amounts, various plants and animals many not successfully reproduce or grow. Slope failures provide wood and sediment to streams that help create diverse habitat, but an increase in slope failures can overload channels with sediment or scour them clean, both of which create less diverse habitat. A less diverse habitat means fewer species can live in that area.

Large woody debris (LWD) is a critical component for channel complexity. One popular definition of LWD is wood that is 10 cm or about 4 inches in diameter and more than 2 m long. This definition most likely came from a research program in the 1970s that was concerned with decay of organic matter like leaves, twigs and branches. Once branches reached 4 inches, decay was very slow and hence anything over that size was designated as large and not contributing greatly to decay rates. Today, LWD is viewed as providing stability to streams in the form of pool habitat and sediment and nutrient retention. Recent studies (e.g. Abbe 2000; Savery 2000) indicate that 10 cm wood does not provide all of the desired functions in the stream. Especially in large channels, a key piece (large diameter wood with attached root wad) of LWD is usually necessary to form a stable logjam. Protecting riparian areas will allow trees to grow larger and provide large wood to the stream and forest floor naturally over time (Beechie et al. 2000). LWD on the forest floor provides habitat for a variety of insects, amphibians, reptiles and small mammals and birds as well as a surface for seedlings to become established. These nurse-logs help conifer seedlings survive and out-compete shrubs and hardwoods (Beach 1999).

People often underestimate the amount of riparian habitat because they usually visit streams in the dry summer months. Winter rains fill small channels and off-channel habitats that provide critical habitat especially for juvenile fish during high flows. New regulations have been developed that better define riparian areas and protect the forests around them. Riparian areas are heavily used by humans, wildlife, and livestock and are highly productive and diverse. Maintaining healthy, productive and diverse riparian areas is important for clean water, flood control, fish and wildlife habitat, and recreational opportunities.

#### **Definitions of Stream Corridors and Channel Migration Zones**

Budd et al. (1987) defined stream corridors as the surface water drainage systems that included the water body and adjacent riparian lands. Due to the many uses of stream corridors, such as

aesthetic amenities, fish and wildlife habitat, outfalls for storm sewers, agricultural uses, water supply, and recreation areas (Budd et al. 1987), whenever land development increases, pressures on stream corridors increase. Definitions that can be used to unquestionably identify exact undisputed boundaries of stream corridors or riparian areas or channel migration zones are hard to come by. Clear identification of boundaries is difficult because streams and riparian areas are not fixed in time and space. Streams are naturally areas of disturbance and floods, droughts, fires, and landslides can all affect the location of the wetted stream channel and adjacent riparian areas over time (Naiman et al. 1992).

As the importance of riparian areas has been recognized, efforts have been made to identify the extent of these areas. Studies have begun to assess ways to identify buffer widths (e.g. Leavitt 1998; Castelle and Johnson 2000) and channel migration zones (Budd et al. 1987; Perkins 1993; Skidmore et al. 1999). When trying to define a channel migration zone (CMZ) or area within which the stream is expected to move, one first needs to define a time period. The amount of channel migration will vary depending on the time frame of interest.

For various reasons, many authors have decided that 100 years is an appropriate time frame. Most areas already have a Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA) defined 100-year floodplain. FEMA defines a floodplain as "an area adjacent to a river, stream, or waterway that may flood. The 100-year floodplain is an area that has a 1% chance of flooding each year." Any community that participates in the Federal Flood Insurance program is required by the local jurisdiction to elevate, flood proof, or otherwise mitigate against 100-year floods if structures exists in the 100-year floodplain. Federal Flood Maps (FIRM Maps) are available in local planning offices, or by calling toll-free1-877-FEMA MAP (http://www.fema.gov/RegX/env\_faq.htm#question\_5).

Pollack and Kennard (1999) defined the channel migration zone as the area that the stream and/or its side channels could potentially occupy under existing climatic conditions. It frequently approximates the 100-year floodplain, though it also includes lower terraces and hillslopes adjacent to the floodplain where the stream is likely to meander. In contrast, Skidmore et al. (1999) found the Nooksack River, Washington 100-year floodplain to be wider than the geologic channel, historic channel or meander belt width. This is probably due to the presence of a bridge that had confined the channel for many years.

In the February 17 1998 draft proposal of Oregon Forest Practice Rules the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) defined the CMZ (in Pess 1998) as:

...the area a stream is expected to occupy in the time period it takes to grow a tree of sufficient size to geomorphically function in the channel. Spatially, this area generally corresponds to the modern flood plain, but can also include river terraces subject to significant bank erosion. An acceptable method for delineating the CMZ at a particular site, involves delineating either the flood-prone area or the approximate 100-year flood plain, whichever is greater. For larger streams, the 100-year flood plain may already be available on U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or county flood hazard maps. A field method for delineating the floodprone area is approximated by Applied Fluvial (sic) [River] Morphology" (Rosgen 1996). The flood-prone area includes the estimated area that would be inundated by stream flows of two times the bank-full depth. The objective of identifying the CMZ is to ensure that the stream has a protective buffer in the future, even if the stream were to move away from its present location.

The US Fish and Wildlife Service (MBTSG cited in USFWS 1998) gave the following description and rationale for channel migration zones for Bull Trout:

The 100-year floodplain was chosen based on the need to fully incorporate the channel migration zone (CMZ) on low gradient alluvial streams. These stream channels provide critical spawning and rearing habitat for bull trout. An additional 150 feet on either side of the 100-year floodplain is required for the following reasons: 1) it encompasses one site-potential tree height at most locations; 2) provides sufficient width to filter most sediment from non-channeled surface runoff from most slope classes; 3) provides some microclimate and shallow groundwater thermal buffering to protect aquatic habitats inside the channel and the channel migration zone; and 4) provides an appropriate margin of error for unanticipated channel movement, hillslope and soil stability, blowdown, wildfire, operator error, disease, and certain other events that may be difficult or impossible to foresee on a site specific basis.

The Tricounty (see reference to URL) effort in Washington states that CMZ do not exist everywhere, but where they do exist they define the CMZ as:

...the area within the lateral extent of likely stream channel movement over a given stream reach due to stream bank destabilization, rapid stream incision, stream bank erosion, and shifts in location of stream channels.

They intend to identify CMZ boundaries for all stream reaches where stream power, soil conditions, and valley-floor widths are sufficient to support significant potential migration. For regulatory purposes, the Tri-county CMZ will be based on available historic records of channel migration, field indicators of the presence of the side channel in the last 100 years, or 100 years of calculated channel migration, whichever is greater, and will generally include those areas that encompass:

The limit of geologic controls, such as hillslope, bedrock outcrop, or abandoned floodplain terrace; the side channels, abandoned channels, and oxbows; and the outside edges of any signs of progressive bank erosion at the outside of meander bends.

The Washington Forest Practices Board (WFPB 2000) defined CMZ as the

area where the active channel of a stream is prone to move and thus results in a potential near-term loss of riparian habitat adjacent to the stream.

The WFPB manual has descriptions and illustrations of CMZs and delineation guidelines, that include CMZs that have been modified by a permanent levee or dike.

## Results of Literature Review on Ecological and Habitat Effects of Channelization

Humans have been altering the earth's surface for thousands of years (e.g. Drower 1954; Cole 1976; Brookes 1988). Riparian areas have been especially vulnerable to human activities. These areas are ideal locations for human habitation providing easy access to water for cooking, drinking and irrigating, transportation, waterpower, food and other amenities.

### **Channel Confinement and Construction**

Channelization can be described as the deliberate or unintended alteration of one or more of the interdependent hydraulic variables of a channel including slope, width, depth, sediment roughness or size, or sediment load. Any combination of changes in these attributes may be made in order to meet the engineering objectives of the channelization. To increase flood carrying capacity, channels are typically widened or deepened. To protect infrastructure such as roads or buildings, channels may be straightened which shortens the length of the river and thus increases channel slope. When inadequate consideration is given to the dynamic and unique characteristics of streams, the physical adjustments that occur following channelization may lead to unexpected or adverse consequences. The inevitable adjustments that occur in the channel may lead to extensive and costly maintenance to retain the engineering objectives that lead to the channelization. Numerous case studies have identified changes after specific channelization activities (e.g. Daniels 1960; Emerson 1971; Cederholm and Koski 1977; Piest et al. 1977; Horner and Welch 1982; Rasid et al. 1985).

It is important to note that changes in morphology are not limited to areas where activities have taken place directly in the channel and floodplain. Changes in channels also occur from changes in surrounding land-use. Urbanizing areas or land conversions from forests to other uses can alter hydrologic patterns that affect channel morphology. For example, changes in number and size of peak flows can lead to channel and bed scour (Booth and Jackson 1997).

Deliberate or unintended channelization and channel confinement can result from structures as well as morphologic channel changes. Structures that can initiate channelization include levees, embankments, berms, dikes, revetments, bridges, floodplain fill, roads (road prisms), railroads, training structures (groins, spurs, etc.), bioengineering structures (cribwalls, rootwad/rock mixtures etc.), and concrete walls. While the above structures can all vary in their size, height, longitudinal extent, longevity, ecological impact, cost and restoration potential, they all are similar in that they typically result in an alteration of one or more of the interdependent hydraulic variables mentioned above. Most of this paper will refer to the impacts of channelization and

restoration potential in general terms, with the exact impact of specific structures left up to a sitespecific analysis and/or reader interpretation unless otherwise stated and cited.

Channelization has immediate and direct effects on stream processes because it involves direct modification of the river channel. Reasons for modifying river channels include flood control, speedier storm water conveyance, drainage of adjacent lands, navigation, bank stabilization, erosion control, and protection of highways (e.g. Emerson 1971; Schneberger and Funk 1971; Herr 1973; Keller 1976; Brookes 1985b; Brookes 1988). Most of the early studies on the effects of channelization concentrated on the physical effects and changes that occurred to the stream channel. Later, biological effects also began to be noted and evaluated. In 1978, a Task Committee of the Hydraulics Division of the American Society of Civil Engineers did a general overview on the environmental effects of various hydraulic structures (Task Committee 1978).

Activities that are typically included under the heading of channelization include widening and deepening of the channel, straightening of the channel, levee construction adjacent to the channel, streambank stabilization and clearing and snagging of living and dead vegetation in and along the river (Nunnally and Keller 1979).

The combined effect of the physical and biological changes that take place following channelization lead to various alterations in biological systems. These changes affect benthic macroinvertebrates, fish, and aquatic/riparian vegetation from algae and macrophytes to riparian shrubs and trees, as well as terrestrial animals such as amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals.

Geomorphic analysis (e.g. Lane 1955; Hey 1974; Nunnally 1978; Montgomery and Buffington 1993) has shown than changes in stream discharge, sediment discharge, sediment material and valley slope lead to adjustments or changes in channel width, depth, slope, stream velocity and planform. Brookes (1988) did an extensive review of physical, biological and downstream consequences of channelization activities. Much of the following material is taken from the Brookes review. We have also included information taken from the post 1988 literature that updates Brookes.

The ecological effects of channelization consist of both physical and biological effects to the aquatic system. A typical sequence of events is that channelization leads to immediate changes in physical aspects of the channel. These physical changes lead to longer-term biotic responses that extend over space and time (Simpson et al. 1982). The availability of studies on specific physical effects of specific types of channelization is much higher than corresponding studies on biological effects. The biological effects may be in response to the physical changes in depth, shade, sediment, temperature, altered hydrology, isolation of floodplain habitats, etc. or they may be in response to changes in nutrient cycling and changes in populations of various trophic levels that get transmitted throughout the biological system (Figure 1).



#### Figure 1. Principal effects of major types of channelization (taken from Brookes 1988)

#### **Physical Effects of Channel Straightening**

The effects of shortening a channel by straightening the channel are summarized in Table 1. The type and extent of adjustments will depend on the particular geomorphologic and hydrologic setting of the stream. For example, confined bedrock channels will exhibit a smaller range of adjustments than unconfined alluvial channels.

# Table 1. Typical changes in channel attributes following shortening and straightening of the channel (after Brookes 1988)

Local Effects	Upstream Effects	Downstream Effects
Steeper slope	Steeper slope	Deposition of transported sediments
Higher velocity	Higher velocity	Increased flood stage
Increased sediment transport	Increased sediment transport	Loss of channel capacity
Degradation and possible headcutting	Degradation and possible headcutting	
Bank instability	Bank instability	
Channel braiding	Channel braiding	
Tributary degradation	Tributary degradation	

### **Physical Effects of Levees**

Levees are built to artificially increase the flow capacity of a channel. By increasing flow capacity, water that used to spread out over the adjacent floodplain is confined inside the levees. Levees, also known as flood banks, bunds, stop-banks, dikes or earthen embankments, have been used worldwide for centuries. Many large rivers in the United States have extensive levee systems. The Mississippi River system is extensively confined by levees. More than 50% of the Illinois River floodplain, about 50% of the Upper Mississippi River floodplain between navigation reach 19 and the Missouri River, and nearly 100% of the floodplain below the Missouri River confluence is isolated by levees (Theiling 1995).

Construction of levees or embankments is a common engineering solution to flood control. These are traditionally constructed fairly close to the river and need to be higher than natural terraces or banks to contain floodwaters within a narrower area (Hey 1994). Because the flow is confined within the levee walls, the depth and velocity tend to be higher than prior to the construction of the levees. This places higher shear stress on the channel bed and banks, which can lead to greater erosion on site and increased deposition downstream (Hey 1994). Depending on the magnitude of the flow increases within the confined area, many levee systems evolve into bank stabilization projects (Maddock 1976).

If the construction of levees is combined with channel excavation, deposition may occur on site rather than erosion. Griggs (1984) describes a levee/channel excavation project in Santa Cruz California that resulted in increase deposition and significant loss of flood capacity in the altered reach. The channel excavation allowed tidal flows to move much higher into the system that created low velocity water and caused sediment to drop out of suspension.

One method of decreasing the ecological impact of the close levees is the construction of levees some distance from the river. This allows the river to meander within the boundaries created by the levees. The ecological benefits of these 'set-back' levees will depend on the criteria used to locate them. Depending on the type and frequency of maintenance within the levees, ecological processes may be more or less intact. Extensive maintenance that includes sediment and vegetation removal does little to reestablish natural floodplain processes.

The effects of fill on floodplains are not addressed directly in the literature review. In general, fill has many of the same effects on habitat conditions as levees (Thronson 1979).

#### Physical Effects of Clearing and Snagging including the Role of Large Woody Debris

Channel morphology is affected by the presence of trees, shrubs, and logjams. There are few controlled studies on the before and after effects of vegetation removal from the floodplain or stream channel (Shields and Nunnally 1984), but physical effects can be identified by considering the processes affected by vegetation. Vegetation may provide bank stability through root reinforcement of the soil (Krogstad 1995). This strengthens the soil's resistance to the erosive force of the streamflow. Millar and Quick (1998) demonstrated that the effect of vegetation on bank stability could be expressed as an increase in critical bank shear stress. They

estimated that critical shear stress is about three times higher when trees and shrubs are present compared to just grass covered banks. However, there is some evidence that this effect is limited by root density and depth which varies with species and soil types. Rowntree and Dollar (1999) found that willows provided increase bank stability at flows less than bank-full, but did not appreciably affect long-term shifts in channel position from major floods. Nanson and Hickin (1986) found that outer bank migration in meandering channels was largely a function of river size and grain size in the large sand- and gravel-bed rivers that they studied. Vegetation both in channel and along the floodplain provides roughness, which slows water and removes energy from the water. Shields and Nunnally (1984) describe several studies that show changes of 30% in Manning's' 'n' depending on whether the channel is clean or has lots of vegetation and snags. In-channel vegetation also traps and stores sediment and nutrients.

In 1986, House noted a positive relationship between LWD and the health of salmonids. Many studies followed that continued to describe the importance of LWD to productive streams for salmon and the species they rely upon (e.g. Ralph et al. 1994; Montgomery et al. 1995).

		Stream Characteristics													
	Geometric							al	Chemical						
Major Consequences	Slope	Depth/width	Surface area	Total length	Channel Shape	Substrate/cover	Sediment	Light	Temperature	Velocity	Channel drying	Oxygen / gases	Nutrients	pH	BOD/COD
Stream length reduction	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х					
Channel deepening for capacity or drainage		Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х					
Lining or replacing bed and banks		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х		Х			
In-stream vegetation/snag removal	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
Riparian vegetation/snag removal	Х					Х		Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Increased gradient and velocity	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х			Х	Х				

 Table 2.
 Typical Effects of Stream Channelization (Brookes 1988; Simpson et al. 1982)

LWD loading is an important factor in pool formation in response reaches (Montgomery and Buffington 1993) and pool abundance correlates with overall salmon habitat quality. Sedell et al. (1985) estimated that salmonid production could be increased several times by raising the debris load in streams with limited amounts of LWD.

While organic debris of all sizes is generally recognized as important for maintaining the biotic and abiotic functions of stream channels, LWD is critical (Bilby and Ward 1989; Sedell and Beschta 1991; Maser and Sedell 1994; White 1996). LWD has a major influence on channel form, sediment transport and deposit patterns, and contributes to organic cycling (Bilby and Ward 1991). The number of pools in a channel system is highly correlated with the quantity of LWD (Woodsmith and Buffington 1996). The amount of large wood in most coastal streams is a

small fraction of historic levels (Bilby and Ward 1991; Bisson et al. 1997). Efforts are being made to determine ways to develop appropriate wood recruitment conditions (Peterson and Klimas 1996; Beechie et al. 2000) and estimates of appropriate wood loading in streams (Fox forthcoming).

The functions of LWD include the following:

- 1. Interrupt the streamflow to trap coarse sediment upstream of the LWD to create bars or islands (Abbe and Montgomery 1996)
- 2. Modify streamflow to create pool structure/habitat downstream of LWD (Cherry and Beschta 1989)
- 3. Direct high-water flow to support hydraulic routing (Gippel 1995; Gregory and Bisson 1997)
- 4. Trap and hold small organic materials (leaves, needles, carcasses etc.) (Culp et al. 1996)
- 5. Provide hydraulic roughness to the stream during high flow conditions (Abbe and Montgomery 1996)
- 6. Provide visual aesthetics suggesting natural materials (Bisson et al. 1997)
- 7. Provide habitat and perches for aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates, amphibians, reptiles, birds and riparian mammals (Borchardt 1993)
- 8. Provide structure and nutrients for microbiological organisms important to the aquatic ecosystem (Bilby and Ward 1989)
- 9. Provide habitat for aquatic and semi-aquatic plant communities by providing a stable substrate and silt traps within the structure (Maser and Sedell 1994)
- Provide cover and shade for juvenile and adult salmon (Bisson et al. 1987) and presumably other fish species

### Hydraulic Questions

The hydraulics of native and engineered LWD is not fully understood. In some jurisdictions all stream improvement designs must be assessed to determine whether they will or will not cause an increase in flood elevation. Gippel et al. (1992; 1996) studied the hydraulics of woody debris in the Thompson River, Victoria, Australia and concluded that re-introduction of LWD into previously cleared streams "is unlikely to result in a large loss of conveyance, or a detectable increase in flooding frequency".

Abbe and Montgomery (1996) have also combined field studies with theoretical and flume studies to explore the hydraulics of debris jams and logs with root wads. Their interest was to better understand how LWD affected stream geomorphic processes. Abbe (2000) and Drury (2000) present information on hydraulics when using wood in large streams for bank protection.

### Ecological Questions

LWD and logjams are reported to have a major influence on the storage of organic matter from leaves, needles and salmon carcasses in a stream system (Bilby and Ward 1991; Culp et al. 1996). It slows the movement of fine organic debris (leaves, needles, organic sediments etc.) through the system (Borchardt 1993; O'Connor 1991). LWD also provides a substrate for microbes and algae that are the food for the grazing guild of macroinvertebrates (Maser and Sedell 1994). O'Connor (1991) indicates that colonization by microbes and algae occurs within two weeks of wood deposition in the stream. Macroinvertebrates in turn are a valuable food source for many species of fish, birds, amphibians and reptiles.

Macroinvertebrates are often sampled as part of biological indices for stream health assessments (MacDonald et al. 1991). Most of these indices use benthic sampling. However, Benke et al. (1985) found that wood surfaces of snag habitat were the most biologically rich habitat in terms of diversity and production per unit of habitat surface area in sandy Southeastern streams. O'Neal (2000) reports similar findings in a study in the Pacific Northwest.

## **Biological Effects of Channelization**

Channels that have been unaffected by human activities retain suitable water temperatures for the organisms that have evolved in that location. There is adequate shading, good cover for fish, minimal temperature variations and abundant organic matter input such as leaves, twigs and wood. Channelized rivers tend to have increased water temperatures, less shading from trees, little cover for fish, greater fluctuations in stream temperature and less organic matter input. Natural channels have diverse habitats with varying water velocities as the morphology changes between riffles and pools. The sediment on the channel bottom is sorted and provides many microhabitats for organisms. In contrast, straightened channels tend to consist mostly of riffles and have unsorted gravels that limit the types of habitat available. The diverse nature of natural channels provides slow water refugia during high flow and many resting areas. With less structural diversity, channelized systems have minimal resting areas and organisms are easily swept away during high flows. In low flow periods, natural channels have sufficient water depth to support fish and aquatic species during the dry season. On the other hand, channelized systems may have insufficient depth to sustain required temperatures and dissolved oxygen to sustain life (Brookes 1988).

The species and roles of the organisms occupying the stream change depending on where they occur along the 'continuum' of the system from headwater creek to large alluvial floodplain river (Vannote et al. 1980; Neuhold 1981). The interaction between the stream and the riparian corridor are greatly influenced by the size of the stream. In the Pacific Northwest, many small

streams are located in steep watersheds that limit the development of riparian areas. Large streams and rivers usually occupy flatter, gentler terrain where there is a large potential for an extensive zone of influence between the river and the floodplain (Bilby 1988).

Many of the biological effects that occur as a result of channelization activities are in response to changes in the physical environment. Streamflow, stream velocity, channel morphology, vegetation and channel substrate are all affected by channel activities. The physical nature of stream channels reflects a continuous readjustment of the interrelated variables of discharge, slope, channel width and depth, flow velocity, channel roughness and sediment characteristics (Brookes 1988).

These parameters form the habitat that plants and animals need. Typically, changes due to human activities in the channel migration zone result in a reduction in habitat diversity, which affects the numbers and kinds of animals that can be sustained (Schneberger and Funk 1971; Hahn 1982; Simpson et al. 1982). As the physical habitat changes, stresses are placed on individual plants and animals. These stresses, depending on the tolerance of the species and individual, may limit growth, abundance, reproduction and survival (Lynch et al. 1977). Biologically important parameters that change following channel activities include water temperature, turbidity, flow velocity, variable water depths, hydrologic regime, a decrease or change in vegetation, changes in storage of organic matter and sediment, and changes in the size and stability of channel substrate (Hahn 1982). These changes can decrease habitat connectivity and the exchange of energy and matter between habitats. The direction of change varies by site and circumstance. Because of the complex changes in physical, chemical and biologic properties that follow from channelization activities, it is not feasible to address the biological effects as they relate to individual physical changes. One needs to look at the whole system to understand the changes in the biology.

#### **Requirements and Responses of Aquatic Invertebrates**

The conditions in channelized systems discussed above affect the occurrence and distribution of benthic invertebrates. Velocity is one of the critical variables that controls the presence and number of species (Scott 1958; Gore 1978; Milner et al. 1981). Many invertebrates depend on certain velocity ranges for either feeding or breathing (Brookes 1988). The crevices that exist between and under stones create a low turbulence habitat that is favored by mayfly nymphs. Riffles typically have a greater diversity of macroinvertebrates such as mayflies, caddis flies, stoneflies and black flies than do pools. Areas where the stream bottom is unstable or very fine-grained contain few macroinvertebrates. Typical invertebrates in fine sediments are burrowing worms or mayflies (Brookes 1988).

In general, streams with more complex substrates and velocities contain a more diverse invertebrate population (Hynes 1968; Karr 1997). Recent work (O'Neal 2000) has shown wood may provide an equal or even better habitat compared to cobble and gravels. Studies in England have shown that vegetation contributes to invertebrate habitat (Percival and Whitehead 1929; Wright et al. 1983).

Channelization activities tend to disrupt invertebrate communities (Wene and Wicliff 1940; Haynes and Makarewi 1982). Morris et al. (1968) reported a reduction of benthic area of almost 70% and a decrease in standing crop of macroinvertebrate drift of 88% fifteen years after channelization and dredging that eliminated brush piles and pools. Hansen (1971) found a decrease in macroinvertebrates but an increase in drift organisms following dredging of original substrate that provided attachment areas. Realignment of a channel that changed the substrate and reduced pools and shading led to a 75% decrease in invertebrate biomass per unit area (Moyle 1976). Schmal (1978) noted seasonal effects on invertebrate populations with an increased instability of substrate following dredging. Stoneflies were eliminated and the new vegetation and silty substrate favored snails and midges. If substrate changes are avoided following channelization, the recovery of invertebrates may be rapid (e.g. Crisp and Gledhill 1970; Duvel et al. 1976; Hortle and Lake 1982).

The removal of vegetation, wood and snags from channels decreases the ability of the channel to store organic matter that provides food and habitat for organisms (Bilby and Likens 1980). The effects of regular maintenance that includes weed cutting and vegetation removal are variable. In some cases, invertebrate abundance increase and in others it decreases. The effects of this activity on species are probably related to the timing of the activity and whether the substrate is disturbed (Brookes 1988).

### **Requirements and Response of Fish**

Brice (1981) indicates that effects on fish can be immediately apparent following channelization activities even though some of the morphological changes may take some time to adjust. The effects are varied and depend upon the type of work done, the intensity and extent of the work and the extent of morphological change (Brookes 1988). The major habitat requirements of fish are barrier-free migration, suitable substrate, water quality and habitat connectivity for spawning, incubation and rearing, food availability, and shelter from extreme flows and predators (Brookes 1988). Habitat isolation (losses of side channels and/or wetlands) that may occur following channel confinement can strand fish in isolated ponds without connection to the mainstem after high water or prevent access to low velocity refuge.

The natural processes that create and sustain suitable habitat for fishes are often altered by channelization and activities over the entire watershed. The negative effects of fine sediment on the reproductive success of salmonids have been known since 1923 (Harrison 1923). Many of the subsequent studies have been done in the laboratory in order to avoid the variability and complexity in natural streams (Everest et al. 1987). Species, stock, life history pattern, competition, habitat availability, stream gradient, channel morphology, flow regime, basin lithology and historical and current land use across the watershed all interact to determine the effect of fine sediment on fish (Everest et al. 1987). In general, fine sediment has the potential to negatively affect the successful incubation of eggs through limiting gas and fluid flows through the redd, prolonging incubation time due to low oxygen levels, and/or preventing emergence from the redd by fry. Everest et al. (1987) provide a good review of the literature on salmonids and fine sediment. To the extent that channelization leads to increases in fine sediment transport

and downstream deposition, one can expect salmonids to be affected. If salmon populations are large enough, there is some cleaning of the gravels of fine sediment that occurs during spawning (e.g. Burner 1951; Cordone and Kelley 1961). Evolutionarily, this may be effective in natural streams with historic numbers of salmon, but is unlikely to have the same success in altered streams with depressed salmon runs.

Most salmonids exhibit light avoidance behaviors (Brookes 1988). Therefore, the removal of vegetation that decreases cover can limit the availability of preferred habitat for salmonids. To the extent that the removal of in-stream and streambank vegetation also reduces shading, water temperatures can be expected to increase. Changes in temperature can alter the rate of egg development, growth rates and rearing success, species competition, and community composition (Beschta et al. 1987).

The effects on fish of channel maintenance in the form of weed cutting have not been extensively studied. Weed cutting may affect feeding and reproductive behaviors. Anything that affects the food web that the fish depend on will affect fish. One reason the literature is lacking on this subject is that the natural variability in fish populations makes it very difficult to separate changes in population that are natural variability and changes that are due to a specific channelization activity. (Brookes 1988).

#### **Requirements and Response of Plants**

There are three zones of plant communities in the stream corridor: submerged species in the channel, emergent species along the margins of the river, and species that grow on the banks and terraces adjacent to the river (Peltier and Welch 1969; Haslam 1978). Riparian and aquatic plants provide food, shelter, shade, and organic leaf litter to the stream corridor organisms (Brookes 1988). Aquatic plants are physically impacted or destroyed by dredging and cutting. If changes in the substrate and/or depth occur following channelization, then submerged and emergent species composition is likely to change. The effects of cutting on species depend on the life history of the individual species and time of the cut. (Brookes 1988). In England, Wade and Edwards (1980) have documented major changes in the plants in drainage channels due to dredging and herbicides. From 1840-1976, about 55 of the 100 species known to have occurred are still present. Six species have disappeared, eleven species have recently appeared and others have had notable changes in distribution.

Hill (1976) observed that bank-side vegetation is typically removed for 10-15 meters on each side of the channel for channelization activities and in some places removal extended for 100 m. If upland land use changes follow channelization, there can be widespread destruction of natural plant communities. Typical changes involve altered surface and soil water levels and timing of flows (Brookes 1988). Changes in hydrologic regime, especially in floodplain inundation or lowering of water tables can also affect reproduction of riparian vegetation (e.g. Braatne et al. 1996).

Ferrari (1993) surveyed upland (clear-cuts, young and mature forests) and riparian areas (cobble bars, riparian shrub patches, riparian forests and alder flats) in the Hoh and Dungeness watersheds on the Olympic Peninsula for exotic plant species. Fifty-two exotic plant species were identified and exotics were over 30% more frequent in riparian areas than in upland areas. Young riparian areas had the highest richness, mean number, and cover of exotic plant species of any of the studied environments. The disturbance patterns in riparian areas facilitate the movement of exotics up and downstream.

### **Requirements and Response of Birds**

Riparian areas cover less than 1% of the western United States but the vegetation in these areas provides habitat for more breeding bird species than any other vegetation type (Knopf and Samson 1988). Changes in the composition of riparian vegetation can be expected to have an impact on bird populations.

Not many studies have been done that address the effects of channelization on birds (Brookes 1988). Various studies in the U.S. have shown the importance of riparian habitat for birds (Bottorf 1974; Carothers and Johnson 1975; Henke and Stone 1978; Knopf 1985). Riparian areas provide the juxtaposition of habitat requirements (food, cover, water), and many niches due to the complexity, age range, number of species and structure of the vegetation (Knight 1988). This juxtaposition is created by the disturbance elements common in riparian systems that create a mosaic of habitat patches that provides core habitat (Greco 1999). The disappearance of wetlands and ponds due to floodplain isolation or fill would decrease available habitat for waterfowl.

Questions remain as to the effect on bird populations of riparian buffers compared to intact riparian areas that blend into the uplands (Hanowski et al. 2000). Current evidence, mostly from studies of forest stream buffers (e.g. Yahner and Scott 1988; Small and Hunter 1988; Robinson et al. 1995; Donovan et al. 1997) suggests that buffers need to be between 100-200 m wide in order to limit negative population effects such as nest predation due to edge effects (Hanowski et al. 2000). This assumes that forest birds will use buffers and that bird use is correlated with buffer width, neither of which has been shown (Miklejohn and Hughes 1999; Whitaker and Montevecchi 1999). A study on the effects of riparian areas around small streams (Carey 1988) indicated no discernible effect of bird diversity by the riparian stand.

#### **Requirements and Response of Mammals**

Riparian habitats provide large mammals (e.g. opossum, beaver, fox, mink, otter, elk, and deer) with an abundance of prey and carrion, a productive and varied plant community, reduced winter snow accumulation, early spring green-up, aquatic habitat and transportation corridors (Raedeke et al. 1988). Riparian habitat along smaller headwater streams is usually insufficient to support large mammals. Lowland riparian areas along large rivers used to provide productive wildlife habitat, but has been highly modified by humans. Aquatic species such as otter, beaver, nutria, muskrat and mink are most affected by changes in size and composition of riparian areas (Raedeke 1988). Recent studies (O'Connell et al. 2000) have shown that small mammal

population numbers are not adversely affected by current riparian buffer sizes, at least in the short term.

Many studies have noted the interaction that used to exist between beavers and riparian areas and streams prior to the almost total elimination of beaver in many locations. Beaver can have a significant effect on streams and riparian habitat (Naiman et al. 1986 & 1988; Gurnell 1998) Beaver ponds and associated wetlands provide good fish and bird habitat (e.g. Bisson et al. 1987; Brown et al. 1996; McCall et al. 1996). Changes in hydrologic regime can likewise affect beaver populations. Streams with altered hydrologic regimes that resulted in higher and more frequent peak flows would affect dam building and stability.

#### **Off-site Consequences of Channelization**

Connectivity longitudinally (up and downstream), laterally (floodplain and uplands) and vertically (groundwater, hyporheic, and phreatic) is a major feature of stream corridors (Stanford and Ward 1992). The temporal nature of the system adds a fourth dimension (Ward 1989). These linkages mean that the effects of channelization can be transmitted over areas far beyond the actual work zone. Impacts include changes in hydrology, biology, morphology and water quality (Brookes 1988).

Lateral connectivity is altered by channelization activities including levees, dredging and filling, channel lining, and bank stabilization. The cessation of overbank flooding and the flood-pulse (Junk et al. 1989) effect is suspected to decrease floodplain productivity and biodiversity (Bayley 1995).

Longitudinally connectivity is most clearly affected by dams and diversion structures that either store or remove water, sediment and nutrients from the river (Ward and Stanford 1989). Dams and diversions can have a significant effect on the quantity and timing of flow in the river, water temperature and sediment and nutrient loads (e.g. Lillehammer and Saltveit 1984; Ligon et al. 1995; and the journal Regulated Rivers). The biological and physical effects of dams on streams, channels and floodplains are not discussed in this white paper.

Many observations indicate that downstream flooding is a common, but not inevitable response to channelization actions such as building levees or stream straightening. If the channelization decouples the timing of peak flows merging at confluences, downstream flooding may be decreased. Draining and filling of wetlands and swamps in floodplains reduces the storage capacity of the system and leads to more downstream flooding (Brookes 1988).

On-site effects of channelization typically increase the channel slope and water velocity. As a result, there is more erosion and transport of sediment downstream where it is deposited in areas that have not had the transport capacity of the stream altered. Morphologically, this leads to incision or widening of the channel on-site and aggradation or filling of the channel downstream when the sediment is deposited.

Water quality effects are highly site specific and are controlled by the watershed land use, extent of channelization and the length of recovery period (Brookes 1988). Shields and Sanders (1986) reviewed studies on the effects of excavation and diversion on water quality. Observed water quality changes were due to increased sediment inputs and decreased shade. Most of the measured water quality parameters increased by 50-100% during construction compared to preconstruction values. Little (1973) reported that during and after channelization, large amounts of suspended sediments are typically released and deposited downstream where they adversely affect aquatic life. If the channelized reach is very long, temperature increases due to the reduction of shade may persist downstream (Duvel et al. 1976). Few studies have directly addressed the effects of channelization on water quality components such as oxygen, nutrients and ions (Brookes 1988).

Biological effects of changes in hydrology, morphology, or water quality would be the same as discussed earlier and the downstream extent of these effects would be highly site specific.

## Effects of Specific Structures

There are some studies that have looked at the biological effect of specific structures and bank stabilization techniques, such as riprap, spur dikes, and revetments. Hjorte et al. (1984) looked at fish and invertebrates along revetments and natural channel areas of the Willamette River, Oregon. Hjorte et al. (1984) found different numbers and species of fish and invertebrates in natural stream areas compared to riprap banks. Fewer fish species used riprap areas in high densities than used natural areas. Fish found in revetment areas tended to be ones that fed on algae or diatoms growing on the stones or fed on bottom dwelling invertebrates. Invertebrates found in the revetments were species that preferred a very stable bottom and either clung to the stones or hid in crevices. More fish species were found in areas with natural banks due to the greater diversity of habitat in these areas.

Li et al. (1984) compared larval, juvenile and adult fish use of natural and channelized habitats in the Willamette River, Oregon. They concluded that continuous revetments are not good larval fish habitat. The combination of proximity to fast water, steep bank slopes, greater water depth, and cooler temperatures does not provide suitable habitat for larval fish. Spur dikes have a greater diversity of habitats than continuous revetments and appear to be intermediate in habitat quality between natural banks and continuous revetments. Low-angle beaches that develop between spur dikes can provide good larval fish habitat. Natural banks have the greatest diversity of habitats within secondary channels, fast and slack water areas and backwaters and, as expected, have the most diverse fish species composition.

Peters et al. (1998) looked at seasonal fish densities in Washington at sites with various bank stabilization structures. They conducted a survey of typical bank stabilization methods and found that 496 of 667 projects used riprap or riprap with deflectors. Only 29 projects used bioengineering or large woody debris. Of all project types (riprap, riprap with large woody debris, rock deflectors, rock deflectors with large woody debris and large woody debris) surveyed by Peters et al. (1998), only sites stabilized with large woody debris consistently had higher fish densities in spring, summer and winter than the control sites without any stabilization structures. Riprap sites consistently had lower densities than control sites. At all sites, fish densities were generally positively correlated with increasing surface of large woody debris and increasing amounts of overhead riparian cover with 30 cm of the water surface.

#### **Discussion/Data Gaps**

One of the biggest gaps in the literature is information that directly relates habitat changes to fish productivity (Brookes 1988). This information is very hard to collect, especially for anadromous fish, because many factors affect their overall productivity and survival besides freshwater habitat.

Another major problem is the general lack of adequate (or any) pre- and post-construction monitoring of restoration activities. There is almost never any information collected for any substantial period of time preceding channel activities. Funding for monitoring to follow-up on physical and biological responses to channel activities is seldom available.

In general, there is very limited information available on amphibians and reptiles that is directly related to channelization and floodplain changes. Bury and Corn (1987) discuss amphibian responses to timber harvest but not in the context of channelization.

## Hydrogeomorphic and Ecological Effects of Channel Confinement and Channelization on the Hyporheic and Perirheic Zones

#### Introduction to the Hyporheic and Perirheic Zones

While hydrologists have long known about the dynamic nature of surface water/groundwater interactions along river systems, studies of these exchanges during the last two decades by ecologists and hydrologists have uncovered the functional importance of the hyporheic zone to the physical, chemical and biological integrity of fluvial ecosystems (Boulton et al. 1998). Traditionally, water along river systems has been defined as either surface water or ground water. However, other bodies or zones of water have recently been defined that are ecotones or intermediate in nature (physically, chemically and biologically) to surface and ground water. Hyporheic zone is a broad term that defines the "saturated interstitial areas beneath the stream bed and into stream banks that contain some proportion of channel water or that have been altered by channel water infiltration (advection)" (White 1993). This physiochemical definition relies on the presence of some proportion of surface water in the interstitial areas surrounding rivers [usually 10%, (Triska et al. 1989a)] and is the preferred definition of the hyporheic zone for most biogeochemical studies (Edwards 1998). However, Brunke and Gonser (1997) argue that an exact definition of the hyporheic zone does not contribute to its functional understanding as a complex ecotone of complex gradients and non-static boundaries over time and space.

Because of the complexity of the hyporheic zone, individual researchers studying specific systems and asking specific scientific questions can define the system to meet their objectives.

Many ecologists have defined the hyporheic zone as the area where hyporheic fauna (hyporheos) occur, which changes according to time, space, faunal composition and geographic location (Edwards 1998). Other researchers have further divided the hyporheic zone into distinct subzones or biotypes according to physical, chemical and biological characteristics. Boulton et al. (1992) divided the hyporheic zone into three subzones or types: the wetted channel or shallow hyporheic zone, the floodplain hyporheic zone and the parafluvial hyporheic zone. The wetted channel in close contact with biological and hydrological processes in the river channel. The floodplain hyporheic zone is located outside the bank-full channel in lowland floodplain river systems and is above the true groundwater zone of an unconfined aquifer up to the height of the floodplain water table. The parafluvial hyporheic zone is the zone of hyporheic water beneath the dry sediment bars within the active channel boundaries (Edwards 1998). While these subzones might appear distinct, they are all interconnected ecotones of a mixture of surface and ground water (see Figure 2).



### Figure 2. Hyporheic zones (from Edwards 1998)

A more hydrologically complicated view of floodplain hyporheic zones, gradients of mixing water of different chemistry, and biological and physical origin is given by Mertes (1997). She

defines the ecotone of mixing floodplain surface waters as the perirheic zone. From her study of numerous large river systems around the world at different stages of human disturbance, she found that floodplains are complex mixing zones of water from numerous sources: groundwater, hyporheic water, local tributary inputs, hillslope runoff, direct precipitation, and antecedent soil and surface water from prior floods (e.g. ponding).

Research by Mertes (1997) also sheds light on the relative importance and presence of the perirheic and hyporheic zones in relation to the spatial and temporal changes in substrate size, porosity and hydraulic conductivity along longitudinal river corridors. She predicts that fine alluvial floodplains will limit the development and extent of a hyporheic zone and accentuate the development of a perirheic zone through reduced subsurface flow rates and increased surface ponding. Thus hyporheic zone development is predicted to be least in headwater streams with little alluvium, to peak in intermediate reaches dominated by cobble, gravel and coarse sand, and then decline again in extreme lowland rivers systems dominated by fine alluvium (Boulton et. al. 1998).

As stated above, the dimensions of the hyporheic zone can vary dramatically depending on the stream size, stream discharge, sediment porosity and volume, and vertical and lateral exchange rates. In small headwater streams, the hyporheic zone is typically on the order of several meters both vertically and horizontally or entirely absent due to lack of alluvium or significant exchanges of water (e.g. streams dominated by uni-directional groundwater input) (White 1993). In large montane and lowland alluvial valleys, the hyporheic zone typically is on the scale of several meters below the streambed and up to 100-meters wide. In some highly conductive stream systems (e.g. Flathead River, MT; Yakima River, WA; Methow River, WA), the hyporheic zone can extend over 10 meters deep into alluvium and up to 3 km wide across the floodplain (Stanford et al. 1994; Stanford and Ward 1988; Stanford and Ward 1993; Whiting and Sweeney 1999). In some of these larger systems, water and materials can be transported most easily and rapidly through floodplain alluvial aguifers in a complex network of 'paleochannels' (Stanford and Ward 1993). Paleochannels are a result of 'successive elevations [and locations] of the laterally migrating river channel that were buried as the deposition of alluvium built the floodplain' or 'they may have been formed during the intensive outwash period following glacial retreat [in some parts of western North America] and subsequently buried by recent flood events' (Stanford and Ward 1993).

Due to the extremely complex nature of the hyporheic zone and the lack of an all-encompassing definition, the spatial delineation of the hyporheic zone is difficult. There are several common methods of delineation used by ecologist and hydrologists (Edwards 1998). All delineation methods require the installation of wells or piezometers to sample the subsurface water. The most common method involves monitoring the concentrations of naturally occurring solutes or water quality parameters such as pH, electrical conductivity, ion concentration and temperature. Differences in these variables are used to delineate surface, ground or hyporheic water via variable contour plots, which help define the gradational hyporheic zone. Other methods used to delineate the hyporheic zone include:

- The use of conservative tracers or dyes to map the spatial extent and residence time of subsurface waters
- The monitoring of water heights at the stream channel and nearby wells to detect close hydraulic connectivity (Stanford and Ward 1993)
- The mapping of the presence/absence of specific hyporheic fauna pumped from wells, which have specific affinities for surface, ground or hyporheic water

#### Functional Importance of Hyporheic Zones, Hyporheic Corridors and Perirheic Zones

For the last twenty years, ecologists and hydrologists have been studying the functional processes of the hyporheic zone as they relate to hydrologic exchange processes, nutrient dynamics and biotic lifecycles and habitat. The plethora of literature and research on the above topics, especially nutrient dynamics and hyporheic ecology, prevents a thorough review of this literature. The reader is referred to the cited literature in this paper and the additional references therein for more detailed information on these subjects. However, a brief summary of the functional importance of the hyporheic zone to river corridors and ecological diversity is given. For more information on these topics, see the detailed reviews of the hyporheic zone by Brunke and Gonser (1997), Edwards (1998), Boulton et al. (1998), Stanford and Ward (1993), and Gibert et al. (1997a).

#### Major Functional Attributes of the Hyporheic Zone

- 1. Retention and storage of water (Beard 1974; Lajczak 1995; Mertes 1997):
  - Results in longer runoff flow paths due to influent (losing stream) conditions during flood events
  - Reduces magnitude of peak flows
  - Sustains baseflows (summer effluent conditions)
- 2. Promotes habitat complexity (Boulton 1998; Brunke and Gonser 1997):
  - Hyporheic sub-zone complexity (wetted channel hyporheic zone, floodplain hyporheic zone, parafluvial hyporheic zone)
  - Lateral and vertical advection creates habitat:
    - Streambed roughness promotes flow paths in and out of bank and bed
    - o Heterogeneous substrate deposits with variable permeabilities

- Connected hyporheic corridors (Stanford and Ward 1993)
- 3. Regulation of stream temperature (Boulton 1997 & 1998; Brunke and Gonser 1997; Baxter and Hauer 2000):
  - Hyporheic upwelling zones; spring brooks; influent areas:
    - Cooler than surface water in summer (thermal refugia for species like salmonids)
    - Warmer than surface water in winter (thermal refugia from freezing, as with some species of incubating salmonid embryos)
- 4. Provides interstitial volume as habitat for hyporheic organisms or *hyporheos* (Williams 1984; Stanford et al. 1994):
  - Habitat for crustaceans, segmented worms, flatworms, rotifers, water mites, juvenile stages of aquatic insects, bacteria, protozoa, and fish embryos
  - Hyporheos help maintain their hyporheic habitat by modifying the porosity of the subsurface sediments through feeding and burrowing (Danielopol 1989)
- 5. Refugia for channel invertebrates and fish eggs and pupae from floods, droughts and water quality disturbances (natural and human induced) (Williams 1984; Stanford et al. 1994):
  - Insect recolonization after disturbances
  - Semi-predicable location for the placement of fish and invertebrate embryos
- 6. Buffering and filtering ecotone between the terrestrial and aquatic environments (Peterjohn and Correll 1984; Brunke and Gonser 1997; Edwards 1998):
  - Retains and transforms nutrients (e.g. nitrogen, phosphorus, iron, calcium, magnesium)
- 7. Enriches habitats (Boulton 1993; Stanford and Ward 1993; Brunke and Gonser 1997; Edwards 1998):
  - Hyporheic zones are generally enriched with solutes compared with surface waters

- Chemical and microbial processes occurring in the hyporheic zone can have substantial ramifications for surface biota
- Hyporheic zones retain and transform solutes for biotic production and future release
- 8. Downwelling (influent) stream water provides (Stanford and Ward 1993; Stanford et al. 1994; Geist and Dauble 1998):
  - Dissolved oxygen (DO) and organic matter for hyporheos organismlike microbes, invertebrates, and salmonid embryos
  - Spawning sites for certain salmonids (e.g. salmon)
  - Substrate at downwelling area promotes the trapping and retention of organic matter in the hyporheic zone:
    - Stimulates biofilm growth in downwelling areas
    - Organic decomposition and transformation by bacteria
    - Food resources for primary consumers
    - Watershed nutrient retention
  - Aquifer recharge
- 9. Upwelling hyporheic/subsurface water provides (Wallis et al. 1981; Stanford and Ward 1993; Stanford et al. 1994; Brunke and Gonser 1997; Edwards 1998; Baxter and Hauer 2000):
  - Nutrient enriched water for stream organisms
    - Source of inorganic nutrients after mineralization in the hyporheic zone
    - Input of phosphorus due to loss of DO, change in redox, and release of phosphorus
  - Hyporheic nitrification:
    - Accumulation of nitrogen along flow paths
    - Mineralization of organic matter
    - Regeneration of inorganic nitrogen
  - Source or sink for Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)
  - Spawning sites for certain salmonids (e.g. charr)

- High in-stream productivity in upwelling zones (e.g. hot spots):
  - Increased ecological diversity and biological production in otherwise nutrient poor river systems in the Pacific Northwest
- 10. Release of retained organic material from the hyporheic zone during disturbances (e.g. bed load movement) (Wootton et al. 1996; Brunke and Gonser 1997)
- 11. Control of biodiversity and ecosystem metabolism (Brunke and Gonser 1997):
  - Hyporheic residence time can control hyporheic biodiversity and ecosystem metabolism
- 12. Promotion of diverse and functional riparian communities (Peterjohn and Correll 1984; Gregory et al. 1991; Girel et al. 1997; Steiger et al. 1998)

#### Major Functional Attributes of the Perirheic Zone

- 1. Major ecotone between aquatic and terrestrial habitats in lowland floodplain ecosystems (Naiman et al. 1988)
- 2. Mixing of sediment laden, nutrient rich river water and clear, nutrient poor floodplain water (Mertes 1997):
  - Promotes high levels of floodplain productivity (periphyton and phytoplankton
- 3. Important seasonal habitat for riverine organisms (e.g. Salmonids in the PNW) (Andrus et al. 1997; Whitener and Kennedy 1998)
- 4. Overbank floodplain deposits create geomorphic heterogeneity and landform diversity (Mertes et al. 1995):
  - Promotes complex, functional vegetation communities
- 5. Storage areas for water, sediment and nutrients (Mertes et al. 1995):
  - Reduced peak flow magnitudes
  - Temporary and permanent sediment storage
### Effects of Channel Confinement/Channelization on Hyporheic and Perirheic Zones

Direct research on the effects of various anthropogenic disturbances on the hyporheic zone, perirheic zone and hyporheos is extremely limited. Many of the potential effects of hyporheic/perirheic zone alteration can be inferred from the general effects of channelization/confinement projects and the functional importance of the hyporheic and perirheic zones, but a huge data gap still exists. A summary of the most relevant existing literature pertaining to the potential effects of hyporheic/perirheic disturbance will be given followed by an analysis of current data gaps.

In one of the few studies directly addressing the impacts of land use on hyporheic function and ecology, Boulton et al. (1997) compared the hyporheic ecology of five small streams in New Zealand under different land use: native forest, exotic pine forest and pasture. Many distinct abiotic and biotic differences were observed between the different sites. As expected, the temperatures of hyporheic water at the pasture site were significantly higher than either of the two forested sites. This was attributed to the lack of riparian shading and warmer stream temperatures. Warm water temperatures further reduce the levels of dissolved oxygen in the sediments (Allen 1995), which can be a critical control on the presence or absence of certain hyporheic taxa. Boulton et al. (1997) predict that as stream and hyporheic temperatures warm up due to a lack of riparian shading, the hyporheos community structure can dramatically shift towards a community dominated by a few taxa tolerant of low oxygen (hypoxia) and high temperatures.

Boulton et al. (1997) also note the effects of a lack of a riparian canopy on other physical and ecological processes. They found that the forms of particulate organic matter entering the hyporheic zone differed between sites. Native forests contributed diverse types of leaf materials and woody debris to the hyporheic zone while pasturelands only contributed a few species of grass that decomposed rapidly and contributed little to aquatic production. Organic matter contribution from the exotic pine site was in between that of the other two sites, due to its monoculturistic contributions.

As noted in other sections of this white paper, the removal of riparian trees and understory vegetation can dramatically alter the stability of streambanks and hillslopes (Simon and Hupp 1992; Simon 1994; Shields 1991; Shields and Gray 1992; Kondolf and Curry 1986), which can lead to slumping, fine sediment input and unnatural erosion rates. Boulton et al. (1997) note that slumping of hillslopes and streambanks in unvegetated pasture streams leads to the smothering of lateral bars with sediment (especially fines), resulting in narrower channels with reduced volumes of potential hyporheic habitat. Furthermore, in small New Zealand streams, the lack of shading and increased slumping of sediment encouraged the growth of aquatic vegetation and algae. This encroaching vegetation has the potential of trapping fine sediment, which can smother potential hyporheic habitat and allow for the further encroachment of aquatic vegetation.

As related to the potential anthropogenic alterations of the hyporheic zone mentioned above, Boulton et al. (1997) found that pasture streams supported significantly less hyporheos diversity than the native forest. They largely attributed this to high levels of interstitial fine sediment and the reduction of downwelling oxygen-rich surface water which each promote hypoxic conditions intolerable to some organisms. Furthermore, exotic pine forests had similar taxonomic diversity as the pasture stream. Reduced diversity in these streams was attributed to changes in detritus and nutrient dynamics, lack of understory bank-stabilizing vegetation, and historical disturbances.

Another unique research study directly monitored and compared the pre- and post-project impacts of river channelization on the hydrology and hydrogeology of a catchment. Essery and Wilcock (1990 and 1991) documented the effects of channelization (mainly dredging and straightening) on catchment water yields, groundwater levels, and water storage for the River Main in Northern Ireland. The goal of their research was to document the intended drainage and drawdown of the floodplain water table, the expected reduction of overbank flooding, and the expected augmentation of low flows. After intensive monitoring of both control and modified catchments, they concluded that there was insufficient evidence to indicate any significant or sustained regional water table drawdown due to channelization measures. They also found that river channelization had no significant short-term effect on fens and lowland raised bogs far from the river. However, while they did not find any significant water table changes in wells far from the river, they did document significant changes in water table levels in the gravel aquifer adjacent to the river. An increase in low base flows was also detected following channelization, which was attributed to the release of water from the local gravel aquifer. The drawdown effects were limited to a narrow zone (i.e. the hyporheic zone) approximately 100m wide adjacent to the river channel. This research suggests that the short-term effects of channelization on groundwater levels might be insignificant in the regional context, but that dramatic dewatering effects can be seen in local aquifers and hyporheic zones adjacent to the river.

The research cited above indicates a potentially instantaneous and substantial effect that channelization can have on the spatial and temporal extent of the hyporheic zone and the frequency and direction of exchange processes between the channel, the floodplain and local aquifers. By lowering the channel bed elevation, increasing the bank-full channel area, and dramatically reducing the frequency of overbank flooding, channelization schemes can greatly alter the exchange processes between rivers and local aquifers (Essery and Wilcock 1990 & 1991). Channel incision also typically follows channelization projects (Simon and Hupp 1987; Simon 1994; Hupp 1992), which can further degrade the exchange potential between a river and its floodplain and parafluvial hyporheic zones. The balance between local aquifer recharge during high flows and baseflow augmentation from local gravel deposits during low flows can be altered by channelization projects to produce exchange processes dominated by uni-directional flow paths from the local aquifer/hyporheic zone to the river (Galay 1983; Keller and Kondolf 1990; Brunke and Gonser 1997). Essentially, channelization projects have the potential to drain and dewater local aquifers/hyporheic zones adjacent to river systems. Channelization causes the greatest decline in groundwater levels nearest the stream and diminishing declines with increased distance from the stream (Winner and Simmons 1977; Essery and Wilcock 1990 & 1991). The result is the permanent removal of potential saturated storage volume essential for aquatic organism habitat, riparian vegetation [and subsequently bank stabilization (Kondolf and Curry 1986)], temperature regulation and nutrient exchange (Edwards 1998). While water exchange processes can still occur to some extent following channelization, natural hyporheic functions

and habitat forming processes will be dramatically altered with still relatively unknown effects on physical exchange processes and aquatic biodiversity.

As stated in the functional importance of hyporheic zones section above, hydrologic exchange processes within the hyporheic zone can significantly control solute and nutrient dynamics within a given watershed. Several studies from the eastern United States document the potential impacts of stream channelization and confinement on nutrient processes (Kuenzler et al. 1977; Winner and Simmons 1977; Yarbro et al. 1984). As cited above, Winner and Simmons (1977) also found that channelization projects significantly lowered groundwater levels adjacent to stream channels. Associated with this drawdown was a significant increase in groundwater recharge to the stream channel. They predicted that the concentrations of dissolved nutrients and solids would increase following channelization, especially during low flow when local groundwater sources dominated discharge volumes. The potential ecological effects of these changes in solute dynamics on perirheic, hyporheic, riparian, and aquatic diversity were not investigated and are relatively unknown.

In a related study, Yarbro et al. (1984) found that nitrogen and phosphorus exports were significantly higher in channelized streams than in nearby natural watersheds with intact riparian floodplains, wetlands, and water table levels. Many researchers have found that intact floodplains and riparian forests effectively retain nutrients, making them available for perirheic, hyporheic, riparian, and lotic organisms and reduce nutrient exports to downstream river reaches and estuaries (Peterjohn and Correll 1984). This retention occurs via nutrient uptake along subsurface flow paths through the riparian zone or through sediment and nutrient retention and transformation in the perirheic zone of the floodplain (Mertes 1997; Peterjohn and Correll 1984). While the presence or absence of floodplain wetlands, hyporheic zones and active perirheic mixing zones are important in the retention and transformation of nutrients in a watershed, Yarbro et al. (1984) found that the loss of these natural attributes were not solely responsible for alterations in nutrient export. The process of denitrification is also important in the removal of nitrogen in shallow groundwater, hyporheic zones and perirheic zones (ponded floodplain water) with relatively long residence times and saturated conditions where denitrification can take place. Yarbro et al., (1984) hypothesized that the lowering of the groundwater table associated with channelization lead to the creation of aerobic soils and thus greater mineralization rates of organic matter and enhanced soil conditions for nitrification. The increased transport rates of water and nutrients associated with channelization and water table drawdown subsequently promoted the increased export of nutrients, especially nitrogen from channelized watersheds. Yarbro et al. (1984) also found that phosphorus export also increased with channelization. They attributed this to the loss of floodplain connectivity and potential uptake sites in floodplain forest and perirheic zones (e.g. soluble reactive phosphorus). In addition, increases in particulate phosphorus were attributed to increased erosion potential along streambanks due to increased velocities associated with channel confinement. Thus, the removal of riparian vegetation and loss of floodplain connectivity only partially explain the complex change in nutrient dynamics associated with channelization, with much of the alterations occurring due to changes in shallow groundwater and hyporheic nutrient dynamics.

Studies like the ones above shed more light into the importance of hyporheic, perirheic and shallow groundwater zones to the proper function of fluvial systems. In many natural systems in the Pacific Northwest, the hyporheic zone functions as a source of nutrients for relatively nutrient poor surface waters. However, in degraded fluvial systems in urban and agricultural areas of the Pacific Northwest and elsewhere where anthropogenic nutrient loading can greatly exceed background conditions, the hyporheic zone can act as a sink for nutrients entering the hyporheic zone along many different paths. In many heavily developed watersheds, intact riparian zones, floodplains, perirheic zones and hyporheic zones have the potential to significantly mitigate anthropogenic disturbances such as increased nutrient loading and altered discharge and sediment transport regimes. However, channelization often is associated with human development, masking any potential benefits of a functional riparian corridor, hyporheic corridor and channel migration zone. Therefore, the preservation of intact hyporheic corridors and floodplain connectivity is key to the promotion of functional fluvial systems. In currently degraded areas, the potential for reconnecting floodplain ecosystems and restoring hyporheic and perirheic processes exists and is a growing sub-field in river restoration, which will be discussed below in the Habitat Protection and Mitigation Techniques section.

Due to a lack of hyporheic research in regulated and channelized river systems, the effects of anthropogenic modifications and land use on the hyporheic zone, the hyporheos, and aquatic diversity and production are still relatively unknown and undocumented (Boulton et al. 1997). From the above examples, it is fairly obvious that different types of channelization projects have the potential to dramatically alter the extent and exchange rates of hyporheic zones. From the existing research on the functional significance of the hyporheic zone, many inferences can be drawn regarding the potential effects of modifying and simplifying a fluvial system on the hyporheic zone and its diverse functions. But whether human modifications completely truncate hyporheic functions and processes along a river corridor or whether they are just partially suppressed by anthropogenic constraints is still unknown for most catchments (Ebersole et al. 1997).

The presence of a true hyporheic zone (definition dependent) in highly modified fluvial systems is still subject to question. However, Stanley and Boulton (1993) documented the presence of a diverse hyporheic fauna in the Rhone River, France, which has been subject to intense human modifications for hundreds of years. In a modified arm of the river currently used as an overflow canal, they documented the existence of significant local exchange processes and the presence of distinct hyporheos utilizing different hyporheic microhabitats. Different hyporheos showed strong relationships between migrational patterns and the magnitude and duration of highly modified discharge events through the canal. This research points to the need for additional research on the presence, extent, and function of hyporheic zones in regulated and channelized river systems in order to determine the importance of these modified ecotones, the degree of hyporheic degradation, and the potential for hyporheic zone restoration.

Despite the plethora of literature that exists on the effects of channelization on floodplain exchange (e.g. complete truncation of lateral surface exchange), little scientific information exists on the alteration of biogeochemical processes resulting from modified perirheic exchange processes.

### Data Gaps

While the topics and references reviewed above do not represent an exhaustive review of hyporheic and perirheic process literature or the literature pertaining to the effects of river channelization/confinement on these zones, they do highlight most of the major functional attributes and some potential sources of physical and biological degradation caused by civil engineering projects. The scientific understanding of surface-groundwater interactions is still in its infancy, with the bulk of the research focused on understanding basic physical and biological processes in relatively unmodified environments. Very little hyporheic research has been conducted in highly altered and degraded fluvial systems. As the understanding of these processes in undisturbed fluvial systems becomes more solidified in the scientific community, more attention will undoubtedly be focused toward the effects of land use and other human activities on surface-groundwater ecotones. Thus, many data gaps exist in the current scientific literature pertaining to hyporheic/perirheic degradation. Below is a partial list of potential research topics pertaining to the effects of channelization, confinement and other human disturbances on the hyporheic and perirheic zones and their many functions. Some of the topics listed below may have existing literature pertaining to them that were not reviewed or uncovered in this literature review.

- 1. Direct effects of truncating portions of the physical water habitat of organisms that temporarily or permanently use the hyporheic zone as habitat
- 2. Ecological significance of the partial volumetric reduction of hyporheic habitat
- 3. Trophic effects of reduced invertebrate (*hyporheos*) production due to reduced habitat volume (e.g. What are the impacts to stream productivity and salmonid production?)
- 4. Effects of channel morphology simplification (e.g. straightening, LWD snagging, vegetation removal, bedform simplification) on hyporheic exchange processes (multiple scales)
- 5. Effects of altered microhabitat hyporheic flows (upwelling and downwelling) on benthic invertebrates and lithophilic vertebrate spawning (e.g. salmonids)
- 6. Effects of altered sediment transport regimes and substrate condition on hyporheic processes:
  - Effects of channelization and bed paving / armoring on vertical exchange processes

- Effects of fine sediment deposition on vertical and horizontal exchange processes
- 7. Ecological effects of altered nutrient dynamics and spiraling due to channelization, specifically in the Pacific Northwest and Washington State
- 8. Effects of riparian vegetation removal on water quality and fluxes of solutes through hyporheic zones and rivers in Washington State
- 9. Effects of altered hyporheic flows and water/nutrient availability on riparian vegetation communities
- 10. Effects of different traditional engineering and modern bioengineering bank stabilization structures and techniques on hyporheic exchange processes
  - Do some structures and techniques alter hyporheic processes less than others?
- 11. Other land uses associated with channelization that effect hyporheic ecology
  - Floodplain development, paving, riparian logging, grazing
- 12. Effects of different riparian vegetation communities on hyporheic ecology in Washington
  - Conifer, hardwoods, pasture, exotic species, conifer monocultures
- 13. Do hyporheic exchange processes still occur in heavily channelized rivers (revetments and levees)?
- 14. Effects of reduced floodplain interactions on hyporheic and perirheic processes
  - Lost overbank water, sediment and nutrient storage potential
  - Lost riparian community diversity and production potential
- 15. Impacts of lost opportunities for the creation or occupation of potential hyporheic habitat (e.g. paleochannels) along the hyporheic corridor or channel migration zone
- 16. General hyporheic/perirheic zone processes in the many diverse watersheds of Washington State

# Habitat Protection and Mitigation Techniques

# Background

While the problems associated with aquatic species decline are often complex and confounded by multiple issues rooted in the biological, physical, and social sciences, the importance of physical habitat as the foundation of healthy aquatic ecosystems has recently become the major focus for active restoration and rehabilitation projects. Aquatic communities are very complex and their health does not solely ride on the integrity of their physical habitat. However, as humans continue to modify the physical structure of landscapes and their associated processes, the physical habitat of aquatic ecosystems has become exceptionally degraded, resulting in a need for habitat-based restoration. Altering the fluvial geomorphic processes and structure of aquatic ecosystems, especially by channelization, flood control, and land reclamation projects, has resulted in much of the science of river restoration emerging from the perspective of hydrologists and geomorphologists. However, fluvial systems are not affected only by hydrologic and geomorphic processes. The interaction of vegetation and community succession with hydrology and geomorphology, along with the complex structure of aquatic communities and the biological requirements of individual species, makes the process of truly restoring aquatic systems very difficult. This section on habitat protection, enhancement, and mitigation techniques emphasizes the processes that restore (Beechie and Bolton 1999) the physical templates of aquatic ecosystems, but the reader is strongly encouraged to acknowledge the true nature of the problem that goes beyond the scope of this white paper.

Probably the simplest, most direct and least expensive way to improve the integrity of stream systems affected by channelization and confinement is to alter or halt the current management strategies that are a partial cause of continued habitat degradation. Management strategies that encourage and allow natural adjustment and healing processes to evolve over time tend to succeed because of the positive feedbacks derived from working with the natural tendencies of a fluvial system rather than against them (Ebersole et al. 1997). These management strategies tend to fall under the mitigation categories of avoiding, reducing or minimizing potential impacts. In areas with numerous degraded waterways and limited resources, natural recovery may be the most efficient and pragmatic process toward the recovery of stream systems over wide geographic areas (Brookes 1995). However, natural healing processes can take upwards of 100 years in some extremely degraded systems (Bayley 1991; Kern 1998) and without some degree of human intervention might never return to a state close to previous conditions. Allowing natural recovery to take place could permit 'surrogate' habitats to develop that provide increased habitat values compared to the current degraded conditions (Dennis et al. 1984). Therefore, natural recovery processes should be encouraged where feasible to maximize existing potential. Active restoration, rehabilitation or alternative management should be pursued in areas where recovery is slow, where full restoration is desired, where expedited habitat recovery is needed due to the threat of species extinction or where special human needs or opinions call for active management and only partial rehabilitation (Brookes 1995).

#### **Streamside Vegetation Removal**

For hundreds of years, it has been common practice in channelized river systems with extensive levees and revetments to maintain the channelization structures by keeping them clear of vegetation, especially woody riparian vegetation (Nolan 1984). Vegetation removal can either be a direct management goal or an indirect consequence of other procedures such as channel straightening or bank protection works. The rationale for vegetation removal includes access to levees for inspection, flood fighting, rodent burrow reduction, prevention of root induced piping (the lateral movement of water through large soil macro pores), reduced soil loading from vegetation, decreasing erosion due to soil exposure following tree windthrow and decreasing frictional resistance to maintain flood conveyance (Shields and Gray 1992; Nolan 1984). Many government managers, land owners and flood control districts have been reluctant to allow vegetation to grow along levees and revetments due to the perceived risk of failures induced by the presence of vegetation.

Traditional levee and revetment maintenance practices in the United States and in many countries worldwide involve clearing vegetation annually for reasons noted above. This is usually accomplished by burning, mowing, hand clearing and herbicides, which act to keep the vegetative succession at an early state. The plant community tends towards one dominated by weeds, annual grasses and other disturbance tolerant species capable of surviving between semiconsistent maintenance schedules (Daar et al. 1984). Many civil engineers and maintenance operators ignore the importance of most types of vegetation on levees and revetments. However, it has long been known that shallow root systems of grass sod serves to protect the surface of levees and some parts of revetments from surface erosion. In many instances, exotic or native grasses have been actively cultivated along levee margins to enhance the stability of the structure (Nolan 1984; California DWR 1967). The soil binding ability of vegetative root systems has long been recognized along stream systems and hillslopes and was reviewed previously in this white paper. Vegetation on levees may also prevent the differential drying and settling of soil following high flow events by evenly drying the soil through transpiration. This drying effect reduces crack formation (Daar et al. 1984). During the hot months of summer, the riparian canopy also may shade the levee surface and reduce the development of cracks due to the heat (Daar et al. 1984).

However, to maintenance operators, the apparent negative effects of some types of vegetation have outweighed the positive. This is indicated by U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and state flood control agency standards, "trees which attain large growth should never be permitted to become established on the levees [and revetments]" (Nolan 1984).

The ecological effects of vegetation clearing have been well documented (Marzolf 1978; Shields and Nunnally 1984; Simpson et al. 1982) along with the importance of riparian vegetation for bank stabilization, habitat creation and nutrient dynamics (Kondolf and Curry 1984; Knight and Bottoriff 1984). Due to the growing concern for riparian and aquatic habitat degradation and the questioning of the effects of vegetation on structural integrity and conveyance, numerous authors and agencies have revisited the topics of clearing and snagging over the last several decades in search of feasible alternative management strategies (California DWR 1967; Gray and Leiser

1982; Gore and Petts 1989; Shields 1991; Gray et al. 1991; Shields and Gray 1992). Many of these studies have documented the potential ecological and structural benefits of allowing volunteer recruitment of vegetation, rehabilitating vegetation on levees and revetments, and incorporating bioengineering techniques into structural design.

Shields (1991) also noted the relative influence of vegetated revetments on the conveyance capacity of channelized river channels. In medium to large sized channels, the percent of the wetted perimeter occupied by revetments and potentially woody vegetation is only 10-15% of the total. Shields states that incorporating vegetation into revetments will only have minor influences on the roughness characteristics of the channel. He also suggests that riparian vegetation could be pruned to create a pattern of trunks to further minimize the resistance to flow. Masterman and Thorne (1992) provide a theoretical approach to predict the effects of grass and shrub bank vegetation on the discharge capacity of channels with compound roughness (vegetated banks and sediment-bed streams). They incorporate established engineering equations for roughness, channel hydraulics and vegetation into a general methodology to predict changes in capacity in channels with different width-depth ratio, amounts of bank vegetation and seasonal changes in vegetation growth. In their first application example, which holds vegetation stiffness (~ roughness) constant at a moderate level while varying the width-depth ratio, they conclude that the discharge capacity of the near bank zones (as a percentage of the total channel) only becomes significant (>5%) in channels with width-depth ratios of less the 9. Their second example analyzes changes in stiffness and width-depth ratio and their effects on discharge reduction. Their results indicate that for fully grown, dense stands of typical riparian vegetation (except for large trees), channel capacity reductions are less than 10 % for channels with widthdepth ratios greater than 16. Capacity reduction is even less for channels with width-depth ratios of 20 and 30 (8% and 6% respectively) while dense vegetation may reduce discharge capacity up to 38% when the width-depth ratio is 5. These examples indicate that for most medium to large stream channels that have width-depth ratios greater than ~12 (Rosgen type B, C, D, DA, and F type channels (Rosgen 1994)), the percent reduction in discharge capacity due to dense vegetation is minimal to insignificant. However, in small, narrow, densely vegetated channels with width-depth ratios closer to 5 (Rosgen type A+, A, E, and G) the conveyance capacity may be significantly reduced by dense riparian vegetation. Masterman and Thorne (1992) recommend using their methodology or similar techniques for individual channels of concern to properly gage the effects of vegetation on discharge capacity. Once the analysis is complete, resource managers can properly determine whether the benefits gained by vegetation clearing for conveyance are truly significant or whether the benefits are outweighed by the economic cost of maintenance, the stability benefits of the vegetation and environmental effects of vegetation clearance.

On the Sacramento River in California, Shields (1991) found that in many cases the presence of woody riparian vegetation enhanced the soil shear strength of revetments and did not affect the performance of the structures during large discharge events. However, he warned of the complex interactions of vegetation and structural integrity and suggested that local vegetation, soil, stability and hydraulic conditions should be used to determine the effectiveness of vegetated revetments. During a more detailed study on the Sacramento River, Shields and Gray (1992) investigated the influences of different types of vegetation communities on the integrity of sandy

levees (earth embankments). They found that the highest soil protection was afforded by vegetation with high root densities at shallow depths. While herbaceous cover such as grass fits into this category, he also found that woody species such as willow (Salix spp.) and elderberry (Sambucus spp.) had similar root densities at shallow depths. Woody species also have larger root densities at greater depths which can help prevent deep-seated sliding, slumping and riverward failures. As a potential compromise and rehabilitation strategy for unvegetated levees, Shields and Gray (1992) suggest that native woody shrubs and small trees afford the best protection for structural integrity while providing valuable habitat resources without the possible problems of windthrow associated with large trees.

In some case, large woody vegetation and riparian corridors along the levees and revetments may actually improve the structural stability and resistance to failure of levee systems. This has been documented on the Missouri River by Dwyer et al. (1997). Following the 1993 floods, an inverse relationship was found between the width of the riparian corridor on the riverward side of levees and the failure of those levees. Levees with woody corridors upwards of three hundred feet on their riverward side significantly reduced the linear failure rate during the floods. Dwyer et al. (1997) attributed the increase in levee stability associated with wide riparian corridors to two important hydrogeomorphic-vegetation interactions. First, the increase in shear strength of the soil due to the root fibers of dense stands of woody plants significantly reduces erosion as long as the vegetation is not undermined by flowing water or incision (Shields et al. 1995a; Shields and Copeland 1990). Secondly, the drag associated with healthy woody stream corridors can significantly dissipate energy and reduce local velocities. Beasley et al. (1984) (in Dwyer et al. 1997) report that a four-fold reduction of bed shear stress is associated with reducing the velocity by half. This reduction of shear stress due to the presence of woody riparian corridors can significantly reduce the erosion potential of stream banks and thus the failure of levee systems (Dwyer et al. 1997).

Despite some fairly obvious evidence of the benefits of vegetation on levees and revetments and no direct evidence of failure due to the existence of riparian vegetation (Carter and Anderson 1984), there is still widespread concern for allowing vegetation, especially large native trees with shallow root systems, to grow directly on the faces of levees and revetments. One solution to this dilemma is to incorporate vegetation and large trees into the design of flood control structures (before or after construction) on a site-specific basis. Another is to accommodate the increased costs associated with levee maintenance, inspection and habitat improvement sometimes associated with the existence of woody vegetation. One of the main arguments for not allowing woody vegetation growth on levees and revetments is due to the increased time (and thus cost) needed to inspect structures with moderate to dense vegetative cover (Carter and Anderson 1984). However, if additional funding (i.e. time) is available, then maintenance and inspection needs can be met on vegetated levees and revetments.

Daar et al. (1984) proposed an integrated protocol for levee maintenance that accommodates riparian vegetation preservation and rodent control while allowing for the selective removal of vegetation. During an early state-government mandated study of the possible inclusion of vegetation on levees on the Sacramento River, the California Department of Water Resources (1967) conducted several tests to determine the best designs for the transformation of flood

control levees into multipurpose structures (flood control, erosion control, aesthetics and wildlife habitat) using vegetation. Their experiments consisted of determining the feasibility and cost of establishing different communities of vegetation, primarily exotic grass, shrubs and trees, on flood control levees. They specifically avoided testing the suitability of certain native species that they deemed incompatible with levee design such as cottonwoods, willows and alders despite their final determinations that these native trees could be compatible with levees if maintained properly (Dennis et al. 1984). They concluded that exotic vegetation may be established and/or native vegetation may be left on levees if they are maintained properly to ensure the structural integrity and inspection capability of the levees and revetments. However, it should be noted that the introduction of exotic species to riparian zones may hasten their spread (Ferrari 1993) and lead to other problems in the floodplain. Cost is one of the primary concerns in implementing the revegetation and maintenance needs of multipurpose structures. In many cases even slight cost increases were prohibitive for existing maintenance budgets and thus relatively few changes in maintenance procedures were implemented following the study.

If landowners, managers and society feel that the environmental benefits of riparian communities along existing revetments and levees are worth the extra cost, then allowing volunteer recruitment, incurring the increased maintenance costs or utilizing the array of bioengineering design and rehabilitation techniques for levees and revetments could be a worthy pursuit. As Whitlow et al. (1984) state in their cynical but realistic report on levee maintenance in California, the true solution to improving riparian habitat along channelized river systems involves changing the public policies and views towards riparian system management to accommodate the fiscal and logistical constraints of implementing habitat improvement.

## In-channel Vegetation Removal (Snagging)

The ecological effects of snagging have also been well documented (Marzolf 1978; Shields and Nunnally 1984; Simpson et al. 1982). For the last two hundred years it has been common practice to remove woody debris and snags from unchannelized and channelized river systems (Sedell and Froggatt 1984). The rationales underlying the practice of snagging include navigation, timber and firewood collection, floodplain drainage, recreation (canoeing and kayaking), structural protection, fish passage, frictional resistance, and flood conveyance (Marzolf 1978; Shields and Nunnally 1984; Simpson et al. 1982). Over the last several decades in the United States and other countries, but especially in the Pacific Northwest, the scientific understanding of the biological and physical importance of LWD in river systems has changed the way we view rivers (Keller and MacDonald 1983 and 1987; Abbe and Montgomery 1996; Abbe, 2000). The valuable role of LWD in river systems is now widely recognized and new ways of dealing with the concerns over wood removal and habitat retention have been developed over the last few decades.

Shields and Nunnally (1984) described some potential ecological benefits of modified snagging techniques in river systems and provide guidelines for implementing alternative techniques. They call for a site-specific approach to snagging using an interdisciplinary team to selectively decide which pieces of wood have the potential to be nuisances and need to be removed. This technique could mitigate for the past indiscriminate removal of wood from the channel by inexperienced

management personnel. The use of hand tools (chainsaws), small boats or barges and winches to remove undesired pieces is recommended instead of heavy equipment. They suggest reducing the size of wood so that the river channel can transport it more easily rather than removing wood entirely. If it is necessary to fully remove snags from the river channel they recommend using the wood for bank stabilization, channel training, and habitat rehabilitation projects using bioengineering techniques.

Shields and Nunnally (1984) also note the relative importance of LWD and snags in contributing to increased flood heights along river channels. While their investigation of existing literature does indicate that clearing and snagging can reduce frictional resistance (Manning's 'n' coefficient), especially in smaller channels, they indicate that snagging has little benefit in improving flow hydraulics and reducing flood heights in larger river systems. The flood reduction benefits per unit effort through snagging in large river systems are outweighed by the lack of significant results and environmental consequences. They indicate the true benefits of snagging in large rivers may only be realized if navigation is a social and economic priority.

The application of these guidelines in channel maintenance and design is still difficult due to the lack of knowledge in determining the exact effects of partial snag removal on conveyance and the tradeoffs between environmental protection and economic concerns (Shields and Copeland 1990). However, knowledge of the incremental effects of snag and bank vegetation removal on aquatic habitat degradation and conveyance benefits is slowly receiving more attention in research fields (Smith et al. 1992). In a more complex analysis and view of the effects of woody debris on flow resistance, Shields and Gippel (1995) provide a technique for computing the friction factors (a composite measure of channel roughness) in channels with varying levels of LWD. Friction factors are incrementally divided into three components: bends, bed, and debris. The contribution of debris to resistance can then be calculated using a field estimate of debris density, an estimate of a drag coefficient and channel geometry variables. Their results show that theoretical calculations of friction factors give reasonable estimates of measured friction factors in channels with significant wood debris. This technique may be useful to resource managers interested in calculating the hydraulic effects of woody debris removal on flood conveyance and weighing the benefits of proposed actions. However, the mathematical details of such calculation may prevent the widespread use of such techniques. From two case studies, Shields and Gippel (1995) found that snagging only provided modest increases in conveyance (5-20%). They also warned that the benefits of LWD removal declines over time due to additional wood recruitment from bed scour and bank erosion, creating a negative feedback cycle for maintenance.

The complex responses of fluvial systems to debris removal may result in undesired outcomes. Several studies indicate that benefits of snagging to improve conveyance decrease at higher flows when friction factors for cleared vs. un-cleared reaches converge to the same value (Hecht and Woyshner 1987; Shields and Gippel 1995). Smith et al. (1993) found that alternate bar formation following debris removal actually increased the channel resistance due to the increase in the bed (including bedforms) component of the composite friction factor. Other studies show the opposite trend with no significant channel stability issues or unexpected results following debris removal (Shields and Gippel 1995). Therefore, site-specific approaches should be taken to address the issues of LWD removal. This will allow the determination of all possible benefits, impacts and drawbacks to proposed actions and encourage the development of potential alternative strategies to traditional channel maintenance and management practices.

### Natural Recovery/Passive Restoration

As previously mentioned, management activities that relax the human constraints on channelized and degraded river systems can promote the geomorphic and biologic succession necessary for recovery (Ebersole et al. 1997). The resiliency of native riparian communities can be tremendous. Natural hydrogeomorphic processes can also rebound following channelization promoting the re-creation of habitats suitable for aquatic and riparian species through meandering and pool-riffle formation (Keller 1978). However, in many cases the continued maintenance of channelized rivers through dredging, re-straightening, clearing and snagging, and bank protection maintenance has prevented the natural recovery of many channelized rivers worldwide. Thus, modifying or ceasing maintenance strategies can drastically improve the recovery potential of river systems.

Simon and Hupp (1987) described the evolution and recovery patterns of channelized lowland streams in the Midwest following the halt of vegetation clearing and levee maintenance practices. While the recovery process and evolutionary pattern will not be identical for every channelized stream, the conceptual value of their model for the potential response and recovery of channelized streams is important in realizing their potential. As described previously in the section on the Effects of Channelization, a channel undergoes a series of morphological adjustments after channelization. This process is similar to the rejuvenation of streams following tectonic uplift (Leopold et al. 1964; Hupp 1992). An increase in gradient, migration of headcuts upstream and subsequent erosion and deposition downstream typically follows channelization. The evolution of channel form and the differential creation of habitat sites for riparian vegetation are associated with this process. Simon and Hupp (1987) developed a successional stage model from their observations of channel recovery patterns in western Tennessee River systems (see Tables 3 and 4 below).

According to their channel evolution model, readjustment and channel evolution begins soon after channelization with the river attempting to regain its natural slope, sinuosity and sediment transport balance. After initial downcutting, the banks are undercut which leads to slumping and bank failure. This results in channel widening and aggradation of excess sediment in the channel. As this sediment is reworked, point bars begin to develop again and sinuosity increases. Eventually, the channel will establish a new floodplain at a new equilibrium and base level. If the channelized river system is continuously maintained by dredging, clearing, snagging, readjusting, and re-straightening, the river could become stagnant in the lower stages of degradation and never proceed to or achieve the recovery stage where significant revegetation takes place. This was the case for many years in western Tennessee with several different cycles of construction work. However, as of 1970, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers stopped their dredging and channelization work and drastically reduced their maintenance program (Hupp 1992). This has allowed for the evolution of the channel through the different recovery stages and the dramatic improvement of riparian and aquatic habitat. For a detailed account of channel evolution processes and recovery following channelization, see Simon (1994).

Stage		Dominant processes			
No.	Name	Fluvial	Hillslope	Characteristic forms	Geobotanical evidence
	Premodified	Sediment transport; mild aggradation; basal erosion on outside bends; deposition on inside bends.		Stable, alternate channel bars; convex top-bank shape; flow line high rela- tive to top bank; channel straight or meandering.	Vegetated banks to flow line.
II	Constructed		······	Trapezoidal cross section; linear bank surfaces; flow line lower relative to top bank.	Removal of vegetation(?).
III	Degradation	Degradation; basal erosion on banks.	Pop-out failures	Heightening and steepening of banks; alternate bars eroded; flow line lower rel- ative to top bank.	Riparian vegetation high rel- ative to flow line and may lean toward channel.
IV	Threshold	Degradation; basal erosion on banks.	Slab, rotational, and pop-out failures.	Large scallops and bank retreat; vertical face and upper bank surfaces; fail- ure blocks on upper bank; some reduction in bank angles; flow line very low relative to top bank.	Tilted and fallen riparian vegetation.
v	Aggradation	Aggradation; development of meandering thalweg; initial deposition of alternate bars; reworking of failed material on lower banks.	Slab, rotational, and pop-out failures; low- angle slides of previously failed material.	Large scallops and bank retreat; vertical face, upper bank, and slough line; flattening of bank angles; flow line low rela- tive to top bank; develop- ment of new flood plain(?).	Tilted and fallen riparian vegetation; reestablishing vegetation on slough line; deposition of material above root collars of slough-line vegetation.
VI	Restabilization	Aggradation; further devel- opment of meandering thal- weg; further deposition of alternate bars; reworking of failed material; some basal erosion on outside bends; dep- osition on flood plain and bank surfaces.	Low-angle slides; some pop-out failures near flow line.	Stable, alternate channel bars; convex-short vertical face on top bank; flattening of bank angles; develop- ment of new flood plain(?); flow line high relative to top bank.	Reestablishing vegetation extends up slough line and upper bank; deposition of material above root collars of slough line and upper bank vegetation; some veg- etation establishing on bars.

## Table 3.Simon and Hupp 1987A



#### Table 4.Simon and Hupp 1987B

This conceptual evolutionary model shows the potential of natural recovery if the existing management regimes are altered to accommodate the recovery process. However, Simon and Hupp's (1987) study did not address any of the potential constraints on allowing the full recovery of channelized rivers in other locations. Obvious conflicts could potentially arise due to the increased sinuosity, channel migration, levee or revetment erosion, overbank flooding, loss of streamside property and other social and economic values. While the potential for natural recovery exists, in many cases recovery cannot be allowed to fully proceed until the larger physical, economic and social issues are resolved.

Another passive form of restoration can be changes in grazing and pasture management (Rinne 1988). A study in Montana of a 10-year exclosure around a montane stream showed that stream bank vegetation and stability were markedly improved within the exclosure. For additional information on impacts of livestock on riparian areas and potential management alternatives refer to Kaufman and Krueger (1984) and Platts (1991).

#### Alternative Construction/Design Practices to Mitigate Impacts

## Minimization of Impacts during Design and Construction

This section on alternative construction and design practices utilizes some basic design and construction guidelines that when followed, minimize the impacts of channelization on aquatic resources.

Nunnally (1978) argues for a new design approach to stream channelization projects that promotes stream channel preservation during construction. He suggests:

- 1. Straightening the channel and increasing the slope as little as possible.
- 2. Promoting bank stability by leaving as many trees as possible, minimizing channel reshaping, early seeding of native grass or other vegetation in disturbed areas and judicious placement of riprap.
- 3. Emulating nature in designing channel form.

Lund (1976) also offers some general design and mitigation techniques for cold-water trout streams:

- 1. Alter natural channels only when absolutely necessary and keep alterations to a minimum; preserve the meandering course
- 2. Retain trees and shrubs to provide bank stability and shade; replace topsoil
- 3. Above high-water level, cover riprap with soil and revegetate
- 4. Place mitigating devices in gravel-bed rivers at 5-7 channel widths to emulate the pool-riffle sequence of natural channels
- 5. Carefully locate mitigating devices across a channel section to provide effective aquatic species habitat
- 6. Randomly place rocks to create larger mid-channel pools

Keller and Brookes (1984) offer some general design guidelines for designing meandering channelization projects:

- 1. Estimate potential channel stability following construction
- 2. Design for a two-stage channel when flood control is an objective
- 3. Use vegetation as a means of stabilizing streambanks and floodbanks whenever feasible
- 4. Minimize channelization
- 5. Do not over design
- 6. Develop a reverence for rivers.

While the importance of incorporating environmental features into design practices is now widely recognized and best management practices have been used since the early 1970s to minimize onsite construction impacts, there still is a lack of universal or specific guiding design principles that are consistently implemented during river engineering projects. Several new approaches to river engineering design have emerged recently that simultaneously accommodate flood protection and environmental objectives. These new approaches effectively integrate higher levels of physical heterogeneity and habitat complexity into channel design without compromising the needs of humans on the landscape (Shields and Copeland 1990).

The emerging discipline of Ecological Engineering provides some basic design principles for integrating societal and ecological needs in patchwork-mosaic landscapes with complex land use.

Bergen et al. (2001) suggest 5 key principles of ecological engineering design:

- 1. Design based on ecological principles
- 2. Design for site-specific context
- 3. Maintain independence of design functional requirements
- 4. Design for efficiency in energy and information
- 5. Acknowledge the values and purposes that motivate design

Such a combination of highly constrained physical design systems (engineering) and highly unconstrained natural ecological processes requires a new way of thinking about design problems.

## Preservation of Channel Morphologic Features

As noted earlier, channelization and channel straightening usually involve reducing the longitudinal stream length, reducing the sinuosity and increasing the gradient. Significant ecological impacts result from this simplification of channel morphology and habitat. If channelizing or confining the river is absolutely necessary, there are several construction and design alternatives that are preferred to traditional methods.

One key alternative to mitigating the initial impact of channelization projects is to preserve the original meander bends of the river whenever possible. While the construction costs (usually determined by the dollar per linear foot of the project) are typically higher for constructing meandering channel alignments, the long-term ecological and maintenance benefits of this technique will probably outweigh the initial increase in construction costs (Brookes 1989; Keller and Brookes 1984). Minimizing the stream length reduction usually associated with channelization projects moderates the complex geomorphic responses associated with a reduction in length and an increase in gradient. While meander preservation does not alleviate all problems associated with channel confinement, it does reduce some of the impacts. Keller and Brookes (1984) note that meander preservation has been utilized successfully in the United Kingdom for the last sixty years. This practice has reduced the widespread stability problems associated with traditional channelization and straightening despite the loss of smaller channel unit features such as pools and riffles. Channelization projects that are compatible with the

natural tendencies of river systems, especially larger scale fluvial patterns like meanders, tend to be more stable, require less maintenance, and are more ecologically productive than traditional projects (Brookes 1989). Therefore, any initial effort to preserve the existing morphology will benefit the system in the long run.

Another important preservation technique during channelization design and construction is the preservation of smaller channel unit features such as existing pools and riffles whenever possible. Traditional channelization projects typically not only straighten stream channels but also simplify the in-channel topographic features associated with natural channels. Degraded, channelized stream systems often attempt to rebuild and regain their natural sinuosity and topographic feature (e.g. alternate bars) following channelization (Jaeggi 1989). Often recovery is never complete due to the total destruction of pre-existing habitat unit templates and larger scale alterations. In addition, the rehabilitation (but not complete restoration) of in-stream habitats by river managers often includes the reconstruction of pool-riffle or other habitat units, which typically has mixed results (Brookes 1989). Therefore, it is recommended and practical to retain as many of the existing natural in-stream habitat units as possible during channel manipulation practices (Nunnally 1978).

Partial construction and modification of only one half of the channel can significantly reduce the environmental impacts associated with complete channelization procedures. In many countries, the practice of modifying only one bank and leaving the opposite bank untouched has become common practice (Brookes 1989). This practice promotes the partial preservation of aquatic and riparian habitat and mitigates the loss of vegetation, shade, aesthetic appearance, bank stability, and habitat forming processes. In many cases, bank protection, straightening or channel widening procedures are alternated from one side of the river to the other, leaving a patchwork of unmodified sections that partially mitigate the loss of aesthetic integrity and sensitive habitats (Brookes 1989). Often, this practice involves bank protection/stabilization works such as riprap revetments only on the outside bends of meandering river systems, while leaving the point bar and riffle sections unmodified. These untouched areas can serve as important refuges for wildlife and still provide many of the functions of the pre-disturbed fluvial system.

However, while the impact of this method of channelization is less extreme than complete channel straightening or armoring, it still can have significant short and long-term consequences. Protecting just the outside bends of migrating river channels is still a form of channelization, though often masked by its site-specific nature. Many river systems throughout the world have been effectively channelized or confined by the slow, cumulative process of incremental bank armoring over time by small, site-specific projects. Meander migration and cut-bank erosion is an important mechanism in which rivers dissipate energy and maintain quasi-equilibrium. When this processes is truncated by reducing meander rates, the river is forced to adjust to new conditions, which often result in unintended consequences. Specifically, the reduced rate of meander migration inhibits point bar development and the creation and maintenance of new habitat in the unmodified portions of the reach. While the short-term effects might not be directly evident, the long-term effects can include the die off of riparian communities due to the lack of habitat forming processes, which can lead to an altered community structure.

Larsen et al. (1997b) modeled the geomorphic consequences of alternating riprap revetment structures on the Sacramento River. While their model does predict the intuitive effect of riprapped meander bends in reducing sinuosity, they also found that in many locations, the presence or absence of alternating riprap had little effect on long-term (50-100 years) sinuosity and wavelength amplitude due to channel migration away from the protected areas. This indicates that in some river systems, the benefits of using alternating riprap for erosion protection may be ephemeral because of the adjustment processes of natural fluvial systems. In these situations, natural recovery may be fairly rapid, but the human motivation for accelerated bank protection measures following migration may reduce the mitigating effects of only alternate bank modification. Therefore, while this technique is preferred over complete channel modification, the long-term human benefits and costs may be limited and other methods of erosion and flood protection are recommended.

#### Vegetation Incorporation into Levees, Revetments and Other Embankments

As stated in the Streamside Vegetation Removal section, there are numerous alternative structural and design methods that incorporate different types of vegetation on levees and revetments. While this section will address some of the basic techniques to minimize environmental impacts during the design and construction of riverine projects, it will not provide detailed information on the design of riverine structures or the numerous hydrologic or engineering issues that surround their construction.

In many cases, levees and revetments can be modified into multipurpose structures to accommodate different types of vegetation. A more traditional method favored by most engineers for accommodating woody vegetation on flood control structures is to overbuild or enlarge the levee or revetment (Carter and Anderson 1984). This effectively provides a zone for roots and vegetation on the landward side of the structure while also ensuring the integrity and margin of safety of the structure. However, the unnatural location and function of these surrogate vegetation zones make them less than ideal for the establishment of native riparian vegetation (Nolan 1984). Due to the reduced flood regime, altered substrate conditions and reduced moisture availability, these levee sites are usually suitable only for facultative upland species rather than typical streamside riparian communities that prefer moist to wet conditions. While this type of integration of structural function and habitat still does not provide all the attributes of a properly functioning riparian zone, it does provide surrogate vegetation habitat and ecosystem function of greater value than unvegetated structures. In the Pacific Northwest, the establishment of conifers in this overbuilt zone of levees could easily be accommodated in most situations and provide some long-term recruitment of LWD needed to promote habitat complexity in simplified river systems.

Another method of levee and revetment design that incorporates vegetation is the construction or retention of a berm on the riverward side of the levee (Brookes 1989). Essentially, a two stage cross-sectional geometry is created on one or both sides of the river. The low flow channel confines the normal discharges of water and sediment while berm and high flow channel mimic the bank-full height and floodplain level of the pre-channelized river. The levee still serves as a flood protection structure for the surrounding pre-channelized floodplain. In some cases, the

riverward slope and toe of the berm are revetted with stone to prevent erosion and migration of the low flow channel within the leveed river (Henderson 1986). The berm allows the development of a narrow riparian corridor on the riverward sides of the levee which serves many different functions. Structurally, the riparian vegetation supported on the berm protects the levee or revetment and berm from erosion and failure (Dwyer et al. 1997). However, where dense riparian vegetation develops and flood conveyance is a major issue, periodic, selective maintenance thinning is sometimes conducted, especially brushy undergrowth (Brookes 1989). Ecologically, the vegetated berms serve as surrogate riparian corridors that provide some of the same functions as natural riparian corridors.

Designing or retaining a two stage channel morphology greatly benefits the site-potential and thus the type of riparian community that can be established along a flood control structure in a modified stream. Certain riparian species, specifically of the family Salicaceae (cottonwoods and willows), have life history traits that are closely tied to hydrogeomorphic processes that produce moist, bare, sunny sites of newly deposited sediment along channel margins (Braatne et al. 1996). These seedling establishment sites are usually associated with three types of geomorphic disturbance processes: river meandering and point bar development, floodplain scouring and deposition, and channel abandonment (Scott et al. 1996). Unless meander bends and channel unit features are preserved during stream channelization, the only process available for the establishment of these species following channelization or bank stabilization is floodplain scouring and deposition. Traditional channelization procedures isolate the river from its natural floodplain and create steep banks with small surface areas and low moisture contents, which make vegetation establishment difficult if not impossible. By creating or retaining a berm on the inside of levees, a surrogate floodplain is created that allows for vegetation establishment following the inundation, scouring and sediment deposition on the berm. Consideration of habitat needs such as these during the design and construction of flood or erosion control structures can mitigate the long-term effects of streamside projects.

After channelization, berms and thin veneers of sediment can also develop naturally along embankments through deposition as the natural recovery processes progresses. Maintenance practices that permit the deposition of sediment on the riverward side of the levee or revetment embankment allow for the colonization of riparian vegetation and the effective buffering of the structure from the hydraulic energy of the river system (Shields 1991). This natural recovery process is especially common on channelized systems that are attempting to regain their original sinuosity and sediment transport regime. A larger scale and more geomorphically and ecologically functional version of a two stage cross-sectional design is the construction of setback levees far enough from the active low flow channel to unconstrain the river system. This provides a more natural floodplain berm for the establishment of riparian vegetation, migration of the river, conveyance of water and sediment, and retention of floodwaters. This topic will be addressed in the Active Restoration and Rehabilitation Techniques section below.

Alternative designs of traditional channelization, flood protection, and erosion control structures such as rock revetment (riprap) have the potential to provide opportunities for the development of riparian vegetation. In contrast to traditional rock revetment methods that armor the entire height of the bank, 'low rock revetment' can be placed at the toe and lower banks of the

embankment so that woody riparian vegetation can develop on the upper portion of the bank and possibly within the rock itself (Henderson 1986; Carter and Anderson 1984). Dennis et al. (1984) states that the height of the riprap is critical to the amount of vegetation that can be supported on the water face of embankments. This type of basic integrated design allows for the structural stability of the bank while also providing surrogate ecological and aesthetic benefits. This technique has proved to be very stable and effective in preventing erosion and flooding on the Sacramento River for the last sixty years (Henderson 1986). This method could also be used along or in conjunction with a berm as mentioned above. Sotir and Nunnally (1995) and Thorne et al. (1995) give a more detailed explanation of the potential uses of rock revetments and riprap in conjunction with vegetation and other bioengineering techniques (see also WDFW 2000).

## Alternative Bank Protection Techniques

Over the last several decades, the use of alternative structures for bank protection, erosion control and flood protection has increased in popularity due to the perceived or realized reduction in ecological impacts. In the past, engineers and resource managers have had relatively limited choices in techniques that could be used for river engineering and flood control projects. These limitations were mainly due to a lack of integration between science and management along with the lack of societal pressure that promoted the protection of aquatic/riparian resources and the use of bioengineering techniques. For example, prior to the 1980's, governmental organizations such as the Soil Conservation Service and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers utilized a fairly short list of possible techniques for flood and erosion control. Environmental considerations and concerns were usually accommodated, by encouraging selection of the method with the smallest effect on aquatic and riparian resources.

Types of channel modification listed in ascending order of impact on fish and wildlife resources (U.S. Soil Conservation Service 1977, as cited in Brookes 1989):

- 1. Riprapping (placement of rock as bank protection)
- 2. Selective Snagging (selective removal of objects such as fallen trees)
- 3. Clearing and Snagging (removal of debris such as shoals and vegetation)
- 4. Widening (enlargement of channel by widening)
- 5. Deepening (enlargement of channel by deepening)
- 6. Realignment (construction of a new channel)
- 7. Lining (placement of non-vegetative, smooth lining)

While these methods are still used today, the techniques available to resource managers for river engineering, flood control and erosion control have expanded tremendously to include many different types of designs that more effectively integrate societal and biological needs. Techniques that have evolved out of the fields of bioengineering and restoration ecology over the last few decades have slowly permeated into the fields of river engineering and watershed science. While some of these design concepts and engineering techniques have been implemented in a variety of contexts and have helped to change the perception of many resource managers and land owners (Schnick et al. 1982; Patterson et al. 1984; Thorne et al. 1995), they are not in widespread use despite abundant literature, guidelines and manuals (eg. Gore 1985;

Johnson and Stypula 1993; Newbury and Gaboury 1993; Brookes and Shields 1996a; Slaney and Zaldokas 1997; Flosi et al. 1998; FISRWG 1998). Many resource managers are reluctant to use certain techniques, because of the lack of widespread implementation, field-testing, monitoring, and peer reviewed literature. When push comes to shove, many engineers and resource managers fall back to time proven "traditional or conventional" techniques and approaches due to either societal and economic constraints and pressures or a lack of experience in alternative procedures (Shields and Copeland 1990). However, the disciplines of bioengineering and restoration ecology are rapidly developing to meet the ecological and societal demands for alternative engineering procedures in fluvial systems.

Currently there are copious alternative bank protection techniques that can be used to partially mitigate the ecological effects of channelization, flood control and erosion control projects. As watershed science and bioengineering technology continue to evolve and develop, many new and innovative techniques will be added to the possible choices available to scientists, engineers and managers. While alternative bank protection techniques are strongly linked to natural hazard mitigation, ecosystem impact mitigation and partial or full river restoration, the review of these techniques is beyond the scope of this white paper. There are many detailed literature reviews, manuals, guidelines, reports, books and articles on the subject. In fact, most of the emphasis in stream habitat mitigation and restoration over the last fifteen years has focused on small scale, site-specific alternative bank protection techniques. Less emphasis has been placed on holistic riparian corridor management and watershed scale restoration, as will be seen below in the Active Restoration Section.

A partial list of the alternative bank stabilization literature is given in Table 5; synthesis of scientific information is left up to the reader. For a more complete review of specific design techniques, the reader is referred to the Channel Design white paper in the Guidelines for Aquatic Habitat Protection and Restoration series, the numerous references in this section and paper, and the references listed below. Of interest in these documents is the evolution of the science and practice of bank protection over the last decade leading up to the modern "state of the art" in bioengineering and integrated streambank protection.

## Active Restoration and Rehabilitation Techniques

## Full Restoration: channel geometry and habitat features

To regain or re-express the habitat complexity of riverine ecosystems that existed prior to channelization and confinement, one must look beyond site-specific enhancement projects and envision a given catchment as a holistic system and assess its potential for full restoration. In many highly developed catchments, complete restoration might seem like an impossible task due to the extreme changes that have taken place, especially in urban areas. However, it is imperative that one view catchments and ecosystems as fully restorable in order to develop a holistic restoration plan and vision that will help shape the path of future restoration steps. In many cases, this vision will never result in a full re-expression of habitat complexity, but it will help push the effort to enhance aquatic ecosystems as close as possible to their potential. Without such as vision, management and enhancement strategies are often doomed to fail as mere 'Band-

### Table 5. Alternative bank stabilization references (See appendix A for full citations).

Author	Date	Title	
WDFW	2000	Integrated Streambank Protection Guidelines	
Crisp	2000	Trout and salmon: ecology, conservation and rehabilitation	
Nichols and Sprague	1999	The Use of Long-Line Cabled Logs to Protect Eroding Stream Banks in Skagit County, Washington	
FISRWG	1998	Stream corridor restoration: principles, processes, and practices	
Flosi et al.	1998	California Salmonid Stream Habitat Restoration Manual	
Cowx and Welcomme	1998	Rehabilitation of Rivers for Fish	
Riley	1998	Restoring Streams in Cities: A Guide for Planners, Policymakers and Citizens	
De Waal	1998	Rehabilitation of rivers: principles and implementation	
Slaney and Zaldokas	1997	Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures	
Abbe	1997	Design of stable in-channel wood debris structures for bank protection and habitat restoration: An example from the Cowlitz River, WA.	
Thorne	1995	River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone	
Johnson and Stypula	1993	Guidelines for Bank Stabilization Projects in Riverine Environments of King County	
Newbury and Gaboury	1993	Stream Analysis and Fish Habitat Design: A Field Manual	
Orsborn et al.	1992	A Handbook for the Planning and Analysis of Fisheries Habitat Modification Projects	
National Research Council	1992	Restoration of aquatic ecosystems: science, technology, and public policy	
Hunter	1991	Better Trout Habitat: A Guide to Stream Restoration and Management	
U.S. Department of Transportation	1989	Design of riprap revetment	
U.S. Federal Highway Administration	1988	Use of Riprap for Bank Protection	
U.S. Department of Transportation	1985	Design of Spur-type Streambank Stabilization Structures	
Wesche	1985	Stream Channel Modifications and Reclamation Structures to Enhance Fish Habitat	
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation	1985	Stream corridor management: a basic reference manual	
Sheehorn	1985	Stream Habitat Improvement Handbook	
Brown	1985b	Streambank stabilization measures for highway engineers	
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers	1984b	Mitigating the impacts of stream alterations	
Gray and Leiser	1982	Biotechnical slope protection and erosion control	
Schnick	1982	Mitigation and enhancement techniques for the Upper Mississippi River system and other large river systems	
Tarzwell	1934	Stream Improvement Methods	

Aid' approaches to a declining system that suffered from a lack of planning and understanding of the natural potential. In many cases, it has taken 100's of years to degrade a catchment and it could take 100's more for it to recover (Bayley 1991). While partial restoration efforts and techniques are valid and beneficial in many contexts as identified throughout this paper, it is the goal of this section to uncover some of the emerging river restoration science that seeks to implement larger scale full restoration projects. Partial restoration and rehabilitation techniques will also be addressed below.

Armed with these ethical views and opinions, many resource managers, river scientists and restoration consultants have pushed for large, catchment-scale restoration efforts that aim to fully restore large scale fluvial and habitat forming processes, especially in channelized lowland river systems. While there are relatively few documented examples of successful or unsuccessful large-scale river restoration projects, there is a wide variety of published literature that acknowledges and calls for alternative paradigms in river restoration (Gore and Shields 1995; Johnson et al. 1995; Ward and Stanford 1995; Brookes and Shields 1996a; Stanford et al. 1996; Ebersole et al. 1997). Most of the scientific information that emphasizes the importance of lowland river and floodplain restoration has been derived from the analysis of the relatively few intact lowland river floodplains that still exist. For example, while the lower floodplain of the Mississippi has been reduced in size from is former grandeur, there are still large tracts of functional floodplain within setback levees that serve as models for restoring the millions of acres of lost floodplain due to levees upstream (Gore and Shields 1995).

#### Levee/Revetment Removal and Alternative Levee Functions

There are no examples in the literature of holistic catchment or sub-catchment scale restoration projects in lowland channelized river systems and many examples of site-specific rehabilitation projects, and only a handful of large reach and valley segment scale case studies of channelized lowland river restoration. While there may be examples of large-scale restoration projects, they either were not uncovered in the literature or are so new that they have not been well documented in the rapidly accelerating field of river restoration. Thus, the examples given below provide a sampling of case studies, in channelized river restoration, that are 'state of the art'. Some of the studies outlined below are ongoing restoration experiments that have little peerreviewed literature published about them. However, it is projects like these that are at the cutting edge in channelized river restoration and are currently pushing the 'state of the art' and restoration vision toward the goal of catchment scale restoration.

For the last five years, The Nature Conservancy has been working on several experiments in levee removal, setback levee construction and levee breaching on the Lower Cosumnes River in the Central Valley of California (Florsheim and Mount, 2000; Whitener and Kennedy 1998). As part of their efforts to restore the integrity of their recently purchased 35,000 acres Cosumnes River Preserve, they have begun implementing their long-term plan to restore the river's access to its historic floodplain along most of the lowland river corridor. Since 1995, this has entailed taking parcels of agricultural land along the river out of production and breaching the flood retention levees in numerous locations. Accompanying this reconnection has been an intensive

reforestation effort on the historic floodplain. To date, several publications, consultant reports, 'soft publications' and symposium papers have been written on the restoration effort.

Whitener and Kennedy (1998) documented the immediate use of the restored floodplain access and habitat by a wide variety of native and exotic fish species. Of particular importance was the utilization of the floodplain by species of special concern such as fall Chinook salmon and the endangered Sacramento Splittail, both of which utilized these floodplain habitats for either rearing or spawning and rearing, respectively. Their ongoing work will document the importance of these restoration techniques and help guide the design of future levee breach and removal projects. For example, while they documented the benefits of this restored habitat, they also found some inherent problems in the breaching design that contributed to the stranding and mortality of some fish. These learning processes in ecological engineering design are important to the success of future levee breaching and removal projects.

As a complement to the research on floodplain fish utilization on the Cosumnes, Florsheim and Mount (2000) from U.C. Davis documented the hydrogeomorphic response of the river to the levee breaches. They found that there was complex topographic response along the floodplain and river channel due to scour and deposition associated with the levee breach. They argue that this differential habitat creation following levee removal is what is needed to restore the remainder of the Lower Cosumnes River. Through continued levee breaches and setback levee construction, they predict that the newly unconfined river will be able to return to its original anastomosing morphology, where numerous and diverse channels are continuously formed and abandoned by channel avulsions (Florsheim and Mount 1999). Of particular concern along the Cosumnes however, is the fact that the levees have caused the river to incise into alluvial formations due to increased velocities, depths and shear stress associated with channelization (Vick et al. 1997; Reiner and Calhoun 1999; Andrews 1999). This has reduced the inundation frequency of the recently reconnected floodplain and influenced the restoration potential of the river corridor. However, if the levees are removed to unconfine the river, natural channel evolution should result in an increase in sinuosity, meandering, and aggradation and therefore increase the inundation frequency of the restored floodplain (Simon 1994). This potential evolutionary response to setback levees on the Cosumnes River was also modeled by Andrews (1999), who predicted that shear stresses due to lower stage heights would be reduced by more than 50% if existing levees were setback to the edge of the 5-year floodplain (under a levee-free, 'restored bed elevation' hydraulic condition). In turn, the sediment transport capacity of the river would be significantly reduced allowing channel incision to cease. Subsequently, Andrews predicted that aggradation would occur promoting bed elevation restoration, reduced shear stresses and levee failure rates at new setback levees, reduced bridge pier scour and maintenance costs, increased meandering, increased gravel recruitment, increased floodplain inundation, increased groundwater recharge, and increased generation of riparian forests and floodplain habitats.

On the nearby Middle Sacramento River, another group of researchers from U.C. Davis has also been developing a levee setback geomorphic model that will allow the simulation and demonstration of the response of the fluvial system to levee removal and setback. The model is still in the production phase with little published literature (Greco 1999; Larsen, Greco and

Barker, in manuscript; Larsen, Mount, and Schaldow, in manuscript) and is currently being calibrated and tested along the Woodson Bridge subreach of the Sacramento River where the loss of forest successional dynamics is a serious concern (Greco 1999). This new model is derived from past research that modeled the physical processes of large river migration (Mississippi and Sacramento Rivers) to predict the effects of different management strategies and structures on habitat formation (Larsen 1995; Larsen et al. 1997a; Larsen and Dietrich 1996; Larsen and Micheli 1997; Larsen and Greco 1998; Larsen et al. 1997b).

Key questions that this research should help answer include:

- What are the effects of different levee and revetment scenarios on the migration of large riverine systems?
- How do levees and revetments affect the long-term patterns of channel migration {e.g. Larsen et al. 1997b}?
- Where will setback levees have the greatest effects on attenuation of a flood wave?
- How much room is needed for flood control and the redevelopment of natural meanders?
- How far should levees be setback?
- What are the ecologic benefits of different setback levee scenarios when compared to land purchase costs in easements or fee title?

Numerous large-scale floodplain restoration projects have been conducted in Europe over the last decade. The most complete, well-documented and monitored project has been the restoration of the Brede, Cole and Skerne rivers in Britain and Denmark as part of the EU-LIFE demonstration project. Two agricultural rivers and one urban river were reengineered to restore the channel sinuosity and floodplain connectivity. These projects were documented in a series of papers related to the physical, chemical and biological integrity of the river sections (2-3 km long) before, during and after implementation (Sear et al. 1998; Holmes and Nielsen, 1998; Vivash et al. 1998; Kronvang et al. 1998; Hoffmann et al. 1998; Biggs et al. 1998). Key aspects of the projects included the removal of channelization structures (e.g. incised berms and levees), the remeandering of the channels according to historic conditions, current conditions, constraints and professional knowledge, the reconfiguration of cross-sectional morphology, and the protection of property and infrastructure using setback berms, levees, light revetments and bioengineering bank stabilization techniques (Vivash et al. 1998). Comprehensive monitoring programs were developed to ensure and document success according to design functional requirements and constraints. Through monitoring, it was found that the restoration goals were achieved and the performance of the project exceeded expectations. At all sites, the floodplain connectivity and flood frequency were increased by reducing the bank-full channel capacity, deceasing the channel slope, lowering the bank level, and raising the bed level. Restoring the hydrologic

connectivity with the former floodplain promoted the deposition of sediment on the floodplain and the retention of nutrients such as phosphorus and iron (Kronvang et al. 1998). Associated with the increase in flood frequency and inundation duration, was an increase in floodwater storage. While no major changes were seen in flood hydrographs pre and post implementation downstream of the project sites, peak water levels downstream were reduced and these projects were considered strategic in the defense of infrastructure flooding in the altered and developed catchments. As expected, the morphologic habitat diversity of the sites dramatically improved after re-engineering the rivers out of a simplified, straight plan form geometry. Pool-riffle sequences developed which increased the heterogeneity of both the bed sediments and biotypes/habitat units. Future monitoring of these restoration sites will shed more light on riparian community response to the restoration works through community succession (Biggs 1998).

While the above project descriptions sound straight forward, the morphologic channel response following geomorphic and floodplain restoration is fairly complex. Restoration implementation can be seen as a disturbance in and of itself and often involves channel evolution in predictable steps similar to Simon and Hupp's (1987) model of channel evolution following channelization and natural recovery. Sear et al. (1998) provide a geomorphic model of channel evolution following lowland floodplain restoration. They analyze the theoretical response of channel geomorphology in the upstream un-restored reaches of a project, the construction or restoration section and the downstream impact reach. Dependent evolutionary variables include sediment discharge, water discharge (downstream impact reach), width, depth, slope, sediment size distribution, sinuosity, bank stability, and vegetation colonization. This model was then tested on one of the EU-LIFE demonstration projects (River Cole, UK) during and after implementation. Preliminary results three years after restoration show that the evolutionary response following meander re-engineering and floodplain reconnection is predictable, but will differ locally depending on channel boundary conditions such as sediment size, bank cohesiveness, and vegetation recolonization. After initial erosion of construction material along the restoration reach and redeposition and aggradation in the impact reach, Sear et al. (1998) found that the trajectory of channel evolution was toward a more stable and diverse channel morphology with sediment yields returning to background conditions as sediment was redistributed and flushed out of the system. Evaluation and adjustment of this model to other channel types, locations and restoration projects is needed. In addition, design criteria for meander and floodplain restoration projects such as these needs to take into account local existing and historic condition, well beyond any design parameters derived from the literature (Rinaldi 1997).

Another large-scale river restoration project on the Kissimmee River, Florida (tributary to Lake Okeechobee and eventually the Everglades) has been in various planning, implementation and monitoring stages for the last twenty years (Toth et al. 1997). Channelization and impoundment of the river for flood control lead to the severe loss of aquatic resources (Buntz 1969; Obeysekera and Loftin 1988; Shen et al. 1994; Koebel 1995; Toth 1993; Cummins and Dahm 1995). Several projects have been implemented as pilot projects to guide elaborate future restoration plans. These pilot projects have shaped the current model (both mathematical and conceptual) for restoring the hydrogeomorphic regime that supported historic biodiversity (Toth 1996, Toth et al. 1998). Major components of the restoration scheme include reinstating the

hydrologic conditions that once existed in the now impounded river system, reshaping 14 km of the channel with new meanders and reconnecting historic meanders, reestablishing floodplain inundation and connectivity, removing levees and removing several water control structures. In total, 70 km of river and 11,000 acres of wetland habitat are set for restoration (Koebel 1995). Monitoring of restoration designs has been critical in ensuring that restoration goals are met and that the physical, chemical and aquatic systems are responding as expected and modeled (Toth et al. 1995; Belanger et al. 1994; Harris et al. 1995; Koebel et al. 1999).

### Partial Restoration: Channel Geometry and Habitat Features

In many stream corridors, the opportunity to fully restore a confined or channelized stream's channel geomorphology and habitat features to a pre-disturbance state are severely constrained either by economic, social, or physical conditions. Often, this is a result of human encroachment onto historic floodplains, which prevents the complete reconnection of the stream to its historic floodplain through levee removal or other methods. Unfortunately, it is often a necessity and practical to forgo the complete restoration of a stream and concentrate on partial restoration and mitigation techniques that enhance channel geometry and habitat features to a higher level of integrity and functionality. This section will address the broad aspects of many techniques currently used to partially restore the integrity of stream habitats.

## Partial Meander Restoration

As mentioned in the Ecological and Habitat Effects of Channelization section, channelization often results in a loss of in-stream habitat features. In a new channelized stream with a greatly reduced channel migration zone and active channel dimensions, it is still possible to partially restore a meandering pattern within the allowable active channel zone. Use of the entire historic floodplain or channel migration zone is preferred but not always feasible. Some broad restoration concepts will be presented here but the details of site specific design and restoration opportunities will be dictated by the potential of the site and extent of constraints such the as economic, social, or physical realities surrounding floodplain management.

It is now widely recognized by fluvial geomorphologists and most river engineers that straightened and channelized streams tend to be unstable over long periods of time and will attempt to regain some semblance of their original morphology following modification. It is rare to find straight channels in nature, especially in lowland areas. Many channel evolution models describe the development of a meandering pattern following some initial condition in nature where the channel is relatively straight (Keller 1972; Downs 1995). While these models are somewhat limited in their use in "natural" systems due to the usual lack of some "initial condition" where the channel is straight, they are very appropriate in predicting the response of stream channels following human induced straightening or rapid geomorphic evolutionary response (Simon and Hupp 1987), as previously discussed in the Natural Recovery/Passive Restoration section. In recently channelized stream, small perturbations in the relatively uniform flow fields are caused by small-scale disturbances except in the most uniform channels. Turbulent flow vortices also develop due to frictional drag along the walls. These disturbances tend to be amplified or dampened in different locations of the channel, which in turn promote

flow convergence or divergence, respectively. Thus, over time, meander growth is amplified by these positive feedbacks, which results in increased sinuosity and habitat unit formation.

In some streams with appropriate slopes and width-depth ratios, it is common for alternate bars to develop following channelization as the stream attempts to recover its balance between sediment size and slope, and stream slope and discharge (Lane 1955). Alternate bar formation following channelization is often incorrectly interpreted as a sign of aggradation (Jaeggi 1989), which then triggers more channel maintenance such as dredging. However, alternate bar development can be an integral part of the natural recovery of pool-riffle sequences of natural streams. A more sinuous, low flow channel migrating between alternate bars provides greatly improved habitat values for a variety of organisms compared to the previous plane-bed channel form. They also can be the beginning evolutionary form of a migrating point bar system within the larger confined channel. Depending on the discharge capacity of the channel, alternate bars and bedforms can be encouraged and can lead to the development of a two-stage channel morphology with a small surrogate floodplain surface contained within the context of a larger channelized system. However, the concern over accelerated migration, bank erosion, aggradational buildup of temporarily stored sediments, vegetation colonization, and increased risk to flooding are obvious. This is especially true in urban areas where restoration must occur within a narrow corridor constrained by surrounding land use. These concerns are not inherent to all channels with developing alternate bars and need to be dealt with on a site-specific basis depending on the context of the catchment and water and sediment transport regimes. Furthermore, if erosion control or flood control is a concern, integrated bank stabilization techniques (bioengineering) (WDFW 2000) can be incorporated to provide a more holistic management approach to the fluvial system.

While the power of natural recovery processes of fluvial systems is often underestimated, it is sometimes necessary to speed the recovery process through active restoration, as in the case for endangered species. Within the context of an existing channelized stream with few opportunities for complete floodplain reconnection and meander restoration, there are numerous partial restoration techniques that can be used to promote increased aquatic habitat diversity.

The development of a more diverse meandering channel within a channelized stream corridor can promote habitat development. One method to promote the development of a sinuous channel within a channelized reach is to restore a more natural cross-sectional morphology. Numerous different morphologies or configurations can be reconstructed or restored and only a few will be mentioned here. Many restoration examples in the literature indicate partial restoration success through re-grading of existing banks of the channelized streams (or existing low flow channel banks). Appropriate regrading provides an asymmetrical cross-sectional geometry conducive to the formation of sinuous meanders (Brookes 1989 and 1995; Newbury and Gaboury 1993; Nielsen 1996). Asymmetrical cross-sections mimic the morphology of natural, meandering channels by directing the flow and promoting the formation of pool-riffle sequences. Typically, bank slopes on opposite sides of the channel are graded to different slopes, with 2:1 slopes on outside bends and 3:1 slopes on inside bends (Keller 1978). Water tends to converge along the 2:1 slope banks creating scour pools while the 3:1 banks promote divergence and deposition, mimicking point bar development, meander growth and floodplain development. Providing 2:1

slopes on both banks simulates crossover riffles where sediments are also deposited. For a lowland stream in Manitoba, Newbury and Gaboury (1993) successfully used a more skewed cross-section with 4:1 slopes on future inside bends. The Sacramento River Advisory Council (1989) also noted the importance of diverse bank slopes or fish slopes (5:1 slopes) at bank protection sites that create or simulate shallow bar habitat for juvenile salmonids during rearing and outmigration. The pattern of alternating bank slopes is typically repeated in a somewhat regular periodicity, with a typical pool spacing of 5-7 channel widths (Leopold et al. 1964). This initial bank geometry provides the initial perturbation and framework for the positive feedback and eventual growth of a meandering thalweg planform and desired habitat units. If left to their own development following the change in geometry, most lowland stream channels will recover to a more natural state as they redevelop pool habitat, point bar habitat, and small floodplain surfaces within the larger channel. The ultimate goal is to restore a morphology that facilitates morphologic stability and quasi-equilibrium in terms of the load imposed and the work done (Keller 1978). However, achieving this in degraded, channelized streams is often problematic due to altered hydrologic regimes in areas of changing land use and altered disturbance regimes. In addition, if erosion is a problem due to excessive meander migration following reconfiguration, integrated bank protection techniques or bioengineering techniques can be used to stabilize the outside bends of the channel.

Another method that can be utilized to restore the cross-section geometry, habitat units, and potential planform sinuosity is the restoration of a two-stage channel morphology (complex cross-section) from a previously simplified channelized reach (Brookes 1989). This topic was already previously addressed but will be reiterated and expanded on for clarification. Essentially, a two stage cross-sectional geometry is created on one or both sides of the river. The low flow channel confines the normal discharges of water and sediment while berm and high flow channel mimic the bank-full height and floodplain level of the pre-channelized river. The berm or bench allows for the development of a narrow riparian corridor on the riverward side of the levee, which serves many different geomorphic, ecologic and societal functions. Ecologically, the vegetated berms serve as surrogate riparian corridors that provide many of the same functions as natural riparian corridors and floodplains. Designing or retaining a two stage channel morphology greatly benefits the site-potential and thus the type of riparian buffer community that can be established along a flood control structure in a modified stream. Certain riparian species, specifically of the family Salicaceae (cottonwoods and willows), have life history traits that are closely tied to hydrogeomorphic processes that produce moist, bare, sunny sites of newly deposited sediment along channel margins (Braatnee et al. 1996), as is the case with two stage channels.

Restoring a two-stage channel morphology essentially jump starts the restoration and recovery process and allows the restoration designer to better predict and dictate channel planform geometry in tightly constrained situations. This practice is especially applicable in highly incised channelized streams, heavily degraded areas and in areas where extensive setback levees or floodplain reconnections are not feasible (Brookes 1990). Brookes (1987a, 1990, 1996) documented the successful design of a two-stage channel in Denmark that was severely incised and degraded by channelization for agriculture. Pulling back the steep banks of the incised stream, widening the channel significantly and reshaping a sinuous low flow channel with a

floodplain berm and flood retention levee created a two-stage channel. While much of the historic floodplain was not reconnected to the stream, the surrogate riparian strip and floodplain was essential to partially restoring essential geomorphic processes.

## Partial Floodplain Restoration

Human floodplain settlement and land use often prevents the full lateral and longitudinal reconnection of a river and its floodplain. This is often the case if many tracts of land are in different ownerships and land purchase costs or infrastructure removal costs are prohibitively high. If rehabilitation or restoration of aquatic habitat and floodplain connectivity is desired in these areas, the constraints of a particular location must be dealt with and partial floodplain/river restoration must be accepted, despite the vision to restore completely to site potential.

This has been the case for the Danube River in Austria (Tockner and Schiemer 1997; Tockner et al.1999a; Tockner et al. 1999b; Tockner et al. 1998; Schiemer et al. 1999; Hein et al. 1999; Heiler et al. 1995), where flood protection and navigation have prevented full floodplain reconnection and restoration. However, in a newly created park, the Alluvial Zone National Park, partial reconnection to historic but abandoned sections and back channels of the floodplain has been possible through the modification of existing engineered structures (Tockner and Schiemer 1997). Setback levees have been retained to ensure flood protection, but navigation training structures and interior levees have been breached and controlled in strategic locations to allow the three dimensional exchange of water, sediment, nutrients organic matter, and endangered aquatic organisms. The result has been the reconnection of exchange process into fragmented areas for more than half the year, which has improved habitat both in the river and backwaters. Hein et al. (1999) and Tockner et al. (1999a) document the positive response of planktonic productivity and species diversity respectively following the restoration of flood pulses. A positive response is also expected for endangered fish species, which have dramatically suffered due to their isolation from historic floodplain habitat due to channelization (Jurajda 1995). Instream channel habitat, flood stage heights and property protection are expected to improve along the park due to reduced tractive forces (e.g. shear stress) and increased energy dissipation by the floodplain. Continued monitoring (ten-year plan) and peer-reviewed literature publication associated with the project should promote the advancement of the scientific 'state of the art' knowledge surrounding this pilot project. Similar floodplain restoration projects are also planned downstream of Austria in Hungary, where the formulation of restoration policies, goals and alternatives have been well analyzed before project implementation (Marchand et al. 1994; Marchand et al. 1995).

## Site-specific Habitat Structures

Many site-specific habitat structures can be used as mitigation, rehabilitation and restoration tools in channelized river systems. Often these structures are needed as temporary improvements to habitat structure while long-term restoration schemes are implemented to restore habitat-forming processes (Beechie and Bolton 1999). An analysis of the design, implementation and ecological benefit of these structures is beyond the scope of the paper. Many of the techniques and structures used for site-specific bank stabilization can also be utilized for temporary

structural habitat rehabilitation. The reference list provided in the Alternative Bank Protection Techniques sub-section above will provide the reader with a current list of literature pertaining to the subject.

#### Data Gaps: Habitat Protection and Mitigation

The aforementioned restoration techniques, projects and case studies demonstrate the existence and need for a wide range of approaches and techniques in large river restoration. The need for an interdisciplinary team for design and construction, along with community support, cannot be overstated. These projects serve as examples of the potential for lowland river restoration in different regions of the world. Many concepts similar to these have been used in Washington and the USA, but little literature has been published regarding the few projects that are in construction or have been implemented. In Washington State, several floodplain restoration projects have been completed or are in the implementation stage (e.g. Puyallup River, Pierce County; North Creek, King County; Yakima River, Yakima County), but little published information exists on project design, implementation, and monitoring. Thus, there is a lack of local information, both technical and conceptual, for hydrogeomorphic, floodplain, hyporheic, and perirheic habitat restoration in coarse cobble and gravel-bed rivers. While there is abundant information on the biohydrogeomorphic processes and anthropogenic alterations occurring in local gravel bed rivers (Cederholm, 1972; Cederholm and Koski 1977; Chapman and Knudsen 1980; Horner and Welch 1982; Nelson 1986; Bowles 1991; Perkins 1992; Shannon and Wilson 1993; Perkins 1993; Perkins 1994; Sedell et al. 1994; Abbe and Montgomery 1996; Wissmar 1996; Norman et al. 1998; Ritzenthaler 1998; Bradley et al. 1998; Miles 1998; Milhous et al. 1998; Dillon and Littleton 1998; Abbe 2000), little experimental information exists on their restoration. As seen above, most of the literature on lowland river and floodplain restoration has focused on fine-grained (gravel, sand, silt, clay) river channels. While this information is directly applicable to many lowland rivers here in Washington, the need for detailed local information to expand on these concepts to include other channel types (Nanson and Croke 1992) is desperately needed. This information can only be gained through the implementation of multi-scale pilot and demonstration projects that serve as experiments and learning tools in aquatic ecosystem restoration. A commitment to pre-project monitoring, design, and long-term post-monitoring will be essential for developing scientific information on the outcomes of different techniques.

# References

- 1. Abbe, T. B. 2000. Patterns, mechanics and geomorphic effects of wood debris accumulations in a forest river system. University of Washington, PhD Dissertation, Seattle, WA.
- Abbe, T. B. and Montgomery, D. R. 1996. Large Woody Debris Jams, Channel Hydraulics and Habitat Formation in Large Rivers. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 12: 201-221.
- Abbe, T. B., Montgomery, D. R., and Petroff C. 1997. Design of stable in-channel wood debris structures for bank protection and habitat restoration: An example from the Cowlitz River, WA. Langendoen, E. J. Proceedings of the Conference on Management of Landscapes Distrurbed by Channel Incision (MLDCI). University of Mississippi, University, MS.
- 4. Allan, J. D. 1995. Stream ecology: structure and function of running waters, Chapman and Hall. New York.
- 5. Andrews, E. S. 1999. Identification of an Ecologically Based Floodway: The Case of the Cosumnes River, California. Pages 99-110 *in* S. B. Marriott and J. Alexander, editors. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches. Geological Society of London, London, UK.
- 6. Andrus, C. W., Landers, D. H., Erway, M. L., Sharps, D., and Cline, S. P. 1997. Ecological Functions of Off-Channel Habitat, Willamette River, Oregon. Final Research Plan, National Health and Environmental Effects Research Lab; Report: EPA/600/R-98/004. Corvallis, OR.
- 7. Baxter, C. V. and Hauer, F. R. 2000. Geomorphology, Hyporheic Exchange, and Selection of Spawning Habitat by Bull Trout (*Salvelinus Confluentus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 1470-1481.
- 8. Bayley, P. B. 1991. The Flood Pulse Advantage and the Restoration of River-Floodplain Systems. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 6: 75-86.
- 9. Bayley, P. B. 1995. Understanding large river-floodplain ecosystems. Bioscience 45: 153-160.
- 10. Beach, E. 1999. Conifer regeneration in managed riparian forests: effects of seed source, substrate, landform and vegetation, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- Beard, L. R. 1974. Hydrological Evaluation of Changes in Runoff Characteristics. Pages 1048-1055 *in* IAHS, editor. Mathematical Models in Hydrology, Proceedings of the Warsaw Symposium, Poland July 1971.

- 12. Beasley, R. P., Gregory, J. M., and McCarty, T. R. 1984. Erosion and Sediment Pollution Control, Iowa State University Press: Second Edition. Ames, Iowa.
- 13. Beechie, T. and Bolton, S. M. 1999. An approach to restoring salmonid habitat-forming processes in Pacific Northwest watersheds. Fisheries Habitat 24: 6-15.
- 14. Beechie, T., Pess, G., Kennard, P., Bilby, R., and Bolton, S. 2000. Modeling recovery rates and pathways for woody debris recruitment in Northwestern Washington streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20: 436-452.
- 15. Belanger, T. V., Heck, H., and Kennedy, C. 1994. Critical dissolved oxygen field studies in the Kissimmee River/floodplain system. Lake and Reservoir Management 9: 55-56.
- 16. Benke, A. C., Henry III, R. L., Gillespie, D. M., and Hunter, R. J. 1985. Importance of snag habitat for animal production in Southeastern streams. Fisheries 10: 8-13.
- 17. Bergen, S. D., Bolton, S. M., and Fridley, J. L. 2001. Ecological Engineering: Design based on ecological principles. Ecological Engineering 18(2):201-210.
- Beschta, R. L., Bilby, R. E., Brown, G. W., Holtby, L. B., and Hofstra, T. D. 1987. Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: Fisheries and forestry interactions. Pages 191-232 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Biggs, J., Corfield, A., Grøn, P., Hansen, H. O., Walker, D., Whitfield, M., and Williams, P. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, V - short-term impacts on the conservation value of aquatic macroinvertebrate and macrophyte assemblages. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 241-254.
- Bilby, R. E. 1988. Interactions between aquatic and terrestrial systems. Pages 13-43 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 59 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 21. Bilby, R. E. and Likens, G. E. 1980. Importance of Organic Debris Dams in the Structure and Function of Stream Ecosystems. Ecology 61: 1107-1113.
- 22. Bilby, R. E. and Ward, J. W. 1989. Changes in characteristics and function of woody debris with increasing size of streams in western Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 118: 368-378.
- 23. Bilby, R. E. and Ward, J. W. 1991. Characteristics and function of large woody debris in streams draining old-growth, clear-cut, and second-growth forests in southwestern Washington. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 48: 2499-2508.

- 24. Bisson, P. A., Bilby, R. E., Bryant, M. D., Dolloff, C. A., Grette, G. B., House, R. A., Murphy, M. L., Koski, K. V., and Sedell, J. R. 1987. Large Woody Debris in Forested Streams in the Pacific Northwest: Past, Present and Future. Pages 143-190 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 57 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 25. Bisson, P. A., Reeves, G. H., Bilby, R. E., and Naiman, R. J. 1997. Watershed management and Pacific salmon: Desired future conditions. D. J. Stouder, P. A. Bisson, and R. J. Naiman, editors. Pacific Salmon and Their Ecosystems: Status and Future Options. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- 26. Booth, D. B. and Jackson, C. R. 1997. Urbanization of Aquatic Systems: Degradation Thresholds, Stormwater Detection, and the Limits of Mitigation. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 33: 1007-1089.
- 27. Borchardt, D. 1993. Effects of flow and refugia on drift loss of benthic macroinvertebrates: implications for habitat restoration in lowland streams. Freshwater Biology 29: 221-227.
- 28. Bottorf, R. L. 1974. Cottonwood habitat for birds in Colorado. American Birds 28: 975-979.
- 29. Boulton, A. J. 1993. Stream ecology and surface-hyporheic hydrologic exchange: Implications, techniques and limitations. Australian journal of marine and freshwater research 44: 553-564.
- 30. Boulton, A. J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E. H., and Valett, H. M. 1998. The functional significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29: 59-81.
- 31. Boulton, A. J., Scarsbrook, M. R., Quinn, J. M., and Burrell, G. P. 1997. Land-use effects on the hyporheic ecology of five small streams near Hamilton, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 31: 609-622.
- 32. Boulton, A. J., Valett, H. M., and Fisher, S. G. 1992. Spatial distribution and taxonomic composition of the hyporheos of several Sonoran desert (Arizona, USA) streams. Archiv fur Hydrobiologie 125: 37-61.
- 33. Bowles, M. 1991. River greenway planning for stream corridor restoration in King County, Washington. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 34. Braatne, J. H., Rood, S. B., and Heilman P. E. 1996. Life History, Ecology and Conservation of Riparian Cottonwoods in North America. Pages 57-85 *in* R. F. Stettler, editor. Biology of Populus. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Canada.

- 35. Bradley, J. B., Williams, D. T., and Walton, R. 1998. Applicability and Limitations of Sediment Transport Modeling in Gravel-Bed Rivers. Pages 543-578 *in* Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- 36. Brice, J. 1977. Lateral Migration of the Middle Sacramento River, California, USGS: Water-Resources Investigations 77-43.
- 37. Brice, J. C. 1981. Stability of relocated stream channels, Federal Highway Administration, Offices of Research & Development, Environmental Division. Washington, D.C.
- 38. Brookes, A. 1991. Design Practices for Channels Receiving Urban Runoff: Examples From The River Thames Catchment, UK. Engineering Foundation Conference.
- Brookes, A. 1989. Alternative Channelization Procedures. Pages 139-162 *in* J. A. Gore and G. E. Petts, editors. Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida.
- 40. Brookes, A. 1988. Channelized Rivers: Perspectives for Environmental Management. John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, U.K.
- Brookes, A. 1985a. Impact of River Channelization; III. Downstream Morphological Consequences of River Channelization in England and Wales. Geographical Journal 151: 57-62.
- 42. Brookes, A. 1995. The Importance of High Flows for Riverine Environments. D. M. Harper and A. J. D. Ferguson, editors. Ecological Basis for River Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- 43. Brookes, A. 1987a. Recovery and Adjustment of Aquatic Vegetation within Channelization Works in England and Wales. Journal of Environmental Management 24: 365-382.
- 44. Brookes, A. 1986. Response of Aquatic Vegetation to Sedimentation Downstream from River Channelization Works in England and Wales. Biological Conservation 38: 351-367.
- 45. Brookes, A. 1990. Restoration and Enhancement of Engineered River Channels: Some European Experiences. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 5: 45-56.
- 46. Brookes, A. Restoring the Sinuosity of Artificially Straightened Stream Channels. Environmental Geology and Water Sciences 10(1), 3-41. 87.
- 47. Brookes, A. 1987c. River channel adjustments downstream from channelization works in England and Wales. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 12: 337-351.
- 48. Brookes, A. 1985b. River channelization: traditional engineering methods, physical consequences and alternative practices. Progress in Physical Geography. 9: 44-73.
- 49. Brookes, A. 1996. River Restoration Experiences in Northern Europe. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 50. Brookes, A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996a. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.
- 51. Brown, D. J., Hubert, W. A., and Anderson, S. H. 1996. Beaver ponds create wetland habitat for birds in mountains of southeastern Wyoming. Wetlands 16: 127-133.
- 52. Brown, S. A. 1985b. Streambank stabilization measures for highway engineers, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. McLean, VA.
- 53. Brunke, M. and Gonser, T. 1997. The ecological significance of exchange processes between rivers and groundwater. Freshwater Biology 37: 1-33.
- 54. Budd, W. W., Cohen, P. L., Saunders, P. R., and Steiner, F. R. 1987. Stream corridor management in the Pacific Northwest: 1. Determination of stream-corridor widths. Environmental Management 11: 587-597.
- 55. Buntz, J. 1969. Some Effects of The Kissimmee River Channelization On the Fishery Resource, Florida Game and Fish Commission.
- 56. Burckhardt, J. C. and Todd, B. L. 1998. Riparian forest effect on lateral stream channel migration in the glacial till plains. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 34: 179-184.
- 57. Burner, C. J. 1951. Characteristics of spawning nests of Columbia River salmon. Fishery Bulletin of the Fish and Wildlife Service 52: 97-110.
- 58. Bury, R. B. and Corn, P. S. 1987. Responses of aquatic and streamside amphibians to timber harvest. Pages 165-181 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fishery Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 59. California Department of Water Resources. 1967. Pilot levee maintenance study, California Department of Water Resources: Bulletin no. 167. Sacramento.
- 60. Carey, A. B. 1988. The influence of small streams on the composition of upland bird communities. Pages 153-159 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute for Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.

- 61. Carothers, S. W. and Johnson, R. R. 1975. The effects of stream channel modification on birds in the southwestern United States. Pages 60-70 *in* Symposium on Stream Channel Modification. Harrisonburg, VA.
- 62. Carter, L. W. and Anderson, G. L. 1984. Riparian Vegetation on Flood Control Project Levees: Constraints and Opportunities. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 63. Castelle, A. J. and Johnson, A. W. 2000. Riparian vegetation effectiveness, National Council for Air and Stream Improvement; Technical Bulletin 799.
- 64. Cederholm, C. J. 1972. The short-term physical and biological effects of stream channelization at Big Beef Creek, Kitsap County, Washington. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 65. Cederholm, C. J. and Koski, K. V. 1977. Effects of stream channelization on the salmonid habitat and populations of lower Big Beef Creek, Kitsap County, Washington, 1969-73, University of Washington. Seattle: Washington Cooperative Fishery Research Unit, College of Fisheries.
- 66. Chapman, D. W. and Knudsen, E. 1980. Channelization and Livestock Impacts on Salmonid Habitat and Biomass in western Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 109: 357-363.
- 67. Cherry, J. and Beschta, R. L. 1989. Coarse woody debris and channel morphology: a flume study. Water Resources Bulletin 25: 1031-1036.
- 68. Cole, G. 1976. Land drainage in England and Wales. Journal of the Institute of Water Engineers 30: 354-361.
- 69. Cordone, A. J. and Kelley, D. W. 1961. The influences of inorganic sediment on the aquatic life of streams. California Fish and Game 47: 1355-1380.
- 70. Cowx, I. G. and Welcomme, R. L. 1998. Rehabilitation of Rivers for Fish, Fishing News Books. Oxford, UK.
- 71. Crisp, D. T. 2000. Trout and salmon: ecology, conservation and rehabilitation, Fishing News Books. Oxford, UK.
- 72. Crisp, D. T. and Gledhill, T. 1970. A quantitative description of the recovery of the bottom fauna in a muddy reach of a millstream in southern England after draining and dredging. Archives of Hydrobiology 67: 502-541.

- 73. Culp, J. M., Scrimgeour, G. J., and Townsend, G. D. 1996. Simulated fine woody debris accumulations in a stream increase rainbow trout fry abundance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 125: 472-479.
- 74. Cummins, K. W. and Dahm, C. N. 1995. Introduction restoring the Kissimmee. Restoration Ecology 3: 147-148.
- 75. Daar, S., Klitz, W., and Olkowski, W. 1984. The Role of Vegetation in an Integrated Pest Management Approach to Levee Management. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 76. Danielopol, D. L. 1989. Groundwater fauna associated with riverine aquifers. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8: 18-35.
- 77. Danielopol, D. L., Rouch, R., Pospisil, P., Torreiter, P., and Moszlacher, F. 1997. Ecotonal Animal Assemblages; Their Interest for Groundwater Studies.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones: biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 78. Daniels, R. B. 1960. Entrenchment of the Willow Creek Drainage Ditch, Harrison County, Iowa. American Journal of Science 258: 161-176.
- 79. De Waal, L. C., Large, A. R. G., and Wade, P. M. 1998. Rehabilitation of rivers: principles and implementation, Wiley. Chichester, UK.
- 80. Dennis, N. B., Ellis, D., Arnold, J. R., and Renshaw, D. L. 1984. Riparian Surrogates in the Sacramento/ San Joaquin Delta and their Habitat Values. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 81. Dillon, J. F. and Littleton, T. M. 1998. Literature Review of Rock Revetment and Channelization Impacts on Pacific Northwest Aquatic Resources. Pages 145-150 *in* D. F. Hayes, editor. Engineering Approaches to Ecosystem Restoration.
- 82. Donovan, T. R., Thompson III, F. R., Faaborg, J., and Probst, J. R. 1997. Variation in localscale edge effects: Mechanisms and landscape context. Ecology 78: 2064-2075.
- 83. Downs, P. 1995. River Channel Classification for Channel Management Purposes. Pages 347-367 *in* A. Gurnell and G. Petts, editors. Changing River Channels. John Whiley & Sons Ltd., University of Nottingham, UK.
- 84. Drower, M. S. 1954. Water supply, irrigation and agriculture. Pages 520-557 *in* C. Singer, E. J. Holmyard, and A. R. Hall, editors. History of Technology. Clarendon Press, Oxford.

- 85. Drury, T. 2000. Stability and pool scour of engineered logjams on the North Fork Stillaguamish. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis, Seattle.
- 86. Duvel, W. A. J., Volkmar, R. D., Specht, W. L., and Johnson, F. W. 1976. Environmental Impact of Stream Channelization. Water Resources Bulletin 12: 799-812.
- 87. Dwyer, J. P., Wallace, D., and Larsen, D. R. 1997. Value of woody river corridors in levee protection along the Missouri River in 1993. Journal of the American Water Resource Association 33: 481-489.
- 88. Ebersole, J. L., Liss, W. J., and Frissell, C. A. 1997. Restoration of Stream Habitats in the Western United States: Restoration as Reexpression of Habitat Complexity. Environmental Management 21: 1-14.
- 89. Edwards, R. T. 1998. The Hyporheic Zone. Pages 399-429 *in* R. J. Naiman and R. E. Bilby, editors. River Ecology and Management. Springer.
- 90. Emerson, J. W. 1971. Channelization: A case study. Science 173: 325-326.
- 91. Essery, C. J. and Wilcock, D. N. 1991. Environmental Impacts of Channelization on the River Main, Country Antrim, Northern Ireland. Journal of Environmental Management 32: 127-143.
- 92. Essery, C. J. and Wilcock, D. N. 1990. Impact of Channelization on the Hydrology of the Upper River Main, County Antrim, and Northern Ireland: A Long-Term Case Study. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 5: 17-34.
- 93. Everest, F. H., Beschta, R. L., Scrivener, J. C., Koski, K. V., Sedell. J.R., and Cederholm, C. J. 1987. Fine sediment and salmonid production: A paradox. Pages 98-142 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 94. Federal Emergency Management Agency. 1999. Riverine Erosion Hazard Areas: Mapping Feasibility Study, FEMA, Technical Services Division, Hazards Study Branch.
- 95. Federal Interagency Stream Restoration Working Group (FISRWG). 1998. Stream corridor restoration: principles, processes, and practices, Washington D.C.
- 96. FEMA. http://www.fema.gov/Reg-X/env\_faq.htm#question\_5.
- 97. Ferrari, C. 1993. Exotic plant invasions across landscape patch types on the Olympic Peninsula. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis, Seattle.

- 98. Florsheim, J. L. and Mount, J. F. 1999. Geomorphic and Ecological Response of the Anastomosing Lower Cosumnes River, California, to Anthropogenic Disturbances: Implications for Restoration. Geological Society of America, Abstracts with Programs 31: A-202.
- 99. Florsheim, J. L. and Mount, J. F. 2000. Intentional Levee Breaching as a Floodplain Restoration Tool: Monitoring Floodplain Topography, Cosumnes River, California. American Geophysical Union Spring.
- 100. Flosi, G., Downie, S., Hopelain, J., Bird, M., Coey, R., and Collins, B. 1998. California Salmonid Stream Habitat Restoration Manual, Third Edition, California Department of Fish and Game. Sacramento, California.
- 101. Fox, M. J. Forthcoming in Montgomery, D., Bolton, S., Booth, D. editors. Restoration of Puget Sound Rivers. University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA.
- Galay, V. J. 1983. Causes of River Bed Degradation. Water Resources Research 19: 1057-1090.
- Geist, D. R. and Dauble, D. D. 1998. Redd Site Selection and Spawning Habitat Use by Fall Chinook Salmon: The Importance of Geomorphic Features in Large Rivers. Environmental Management 22: 655-669.
- 104. Gibert, J., Danielopol, D. L., and Stanford, J. A. 1994. Groundwater Ecology, Academic Press. San Diego.
- 105. Gibert, J., Mathieu, J., and Fournier, F. 1997b. The Groundwater/surface water Ecotone Perspectives: State of the Art. Pages 3-8 *in* J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones: biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 106. Gibert, J., Mathieu, J., and Fournier, F. 1997a. Groundwater/surface water ecotones: biological and hydrological interactions and management options, Cambridge University Press. New York.
- 107. Gippel, C. J. 1995. Environmental hydraulics of large woody debris in streams and rivers. Journal of Environmental Engineering 121: 388-395.
- 108. Gippel, C. J., O'Neill, I. C., and Finlayson, B. L. 1992. The Hydraulic Basis of Snag Management, Centre for Environmental Applied Hydrology, Department of Civil and Agricultural Engineering. the University of Melbourne, Parkville.
- 109. Gippel, C. J., O'Neill, I. C., Finlayson, B. L., and Schnatz, I. 1996. Hydraulic Guidelines for the Reintroduction and Management of Large Woody Debris in Lowland River Systems. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 12: 223-236.

- 110. Girel, J., Garguet-Duport, B., and Pautou, G. 1997. Landscape Structure and Historical Processes Along Diked European Valleys: A Case Study of the Arc/Isere Confluence (Savoie, France). Environmental Management 21: 891-907.
- 111. Gore, J. A. 1985. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience,
- 112. Gore, J. A. 1978. A technique for predicting in-stream flow requirements of benthic macroinvertebrates. Freshwater Biology 8: 141-151.
- 113. Gore, J. A. and Petts, G. E. 1989. Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, Florida.
- 114. Gore, J. A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1995. Can large rivers be restored? Bioscience 45: 142-152.
- 115. Gray, D. H. and Leiser, A. T. 1982. Biotechnical Slope Protection and Erosion Control, Van Nostrand Reinhold. New York, NY.
- 116. Gray, D. H., MacDonald, A., Thomann, T., Blatz, I., and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1991. The Effects of Vegetation on the Structural Integrity of Sand Levees, Department of the Army, Waterways Experiment Station, Corps of Engineers, Technical Report No. REMR-EI-5. Vicksburg, MS.
- 117. Greco, S. E. 1999. Monitoring Riparian Landscape Change and Modeling Habitat Dynamics of the Yellow-billed Cuckoo on the Sacramento River, California. University of California, Davis, PhD Dissertation.
- 118. Gregory, S. V. and Bisson, P. A. 1997. Degradation and loss of anadromous salmonid habitat in the Pacific Northwest. Pages 277-314 *in* D. J. Stouder, P. A. Bisson, and R. J. Naiman, editors. Pacific Salmon and Their Ecosystems: Status and Future Options. Chapman and Hill, New York.
- 119. Gregory, S. V., Lamberti, A., Erman, D. C., Koski, K. V., Murphy, M. L., and Sedell, J. R. 1987. Influences of Forest Practices on Aquatic Production. Pages 233-255 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 57 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 120. Gregory, S. V., Swanson, F. J., McKee, W. A., and Cummins, K. W. 1991. An Ecosystem Perspective of Riparian Zones. BioScience 41: 540-551.
- 121. Griggs, G. B. 1984. Flood control and riparian system destruction: Lower San Lorenzo River, Santa Cruz County, California. Pages 142-149 *in* R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation, and Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA; California Riparian Systems Conference, Davis, CA (USA), 17-19 Sep 1981.

- 122. Gurnell, A. M. 1998. The hydrogeomorphological effects of beaver dam-building activity. Progress in Physical Geography 22: 167-189.
- 123. Hahn, H. H. and Troubounis, G. L. 1983. Possible Changes in Groundwater Quality Resulting from River Channelization and Impoundment. Pages 1087-1103 *in* Ground Water in Water Resources Planning: proceedings of a symposium. IAHS Publication No. 142, Koblenz, Federal Republic of Germany.
- 124. Hahn, S. S. 1982. Stream channelization; effects on stream fauna. Pages 43-49 in P. E. Greeson, editor. Biota and biological principles of the aquatic environment. U. S. Geological Survey: Circular.
- 125. Hall, F. C. 1988. Characterization of riparian systems. Pages 7-12 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 126. Hanowski, J. M., Wolter, P. T., and Niemi, G. J. 2000. Effects of riparian buffers on landscape characteristics: Implications for breeding birds. Pages 523-528 *in* P. J. Wigington and R. L. Beschta, editors. Riparian Ecology and Management in Multi-Land Use Watersheds. American Water Resources Association, Middleburg, VA.
- 127. Hansen, D. R. 1971. Effects of Stream Channelization On Fishes and Bottom Fauna in the Little Sioux River, Iowa, Iowa State Water Resources Research Institute: ISWRRI-38.
- 128. Harris, S. C., Martin, T. H., and Cummins, K. W. 1995. A model for aquatic invertebrate response to Kissimmee River restoration. Restoration Ecology 3: 181-194.
- 129. Harrison, C. W. 1923. Planting eyed salmon and trout eggs. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 52: 191-200.
- 130. Haslam, S. M. 1978. River Plants: The Macrophytic Vegetation of Watercourses, Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, MA.
- 131. Haynes, J. M. and Makarewi, J. C. 1982. Comparison of benthic communities in dredged and undredged areas of the St. Lawrence River, Cape Vincent, New York. Ohio Journal of Science 82: 165-170.
- 132. Hecht, B. and Woyshner, M. 1987. Effects of California Riparian Woodland on Flood Conveyance: Case of the Pajaro River. Proceedings, California Watershed Management Conference. Rep. 11. 87. Wildland Resources Center, UC, Berkeley.
- 133. Heiler, G., Hein, T., Schiemer, F., and Bornette, G. 1995. Hydrological connectivity and flood pulses as the central aspects for the integrity of a river-floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 11: 351-361.

- 134. Hein, T., Heiler, G., Pennetzdorfer, D., Riedler, P., Schagerl, M., Schiemer, F., and Layzer, J. B. 1999. The Danube Restoration Project: Functional aspects and planktonic productivity in the floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 259-270.
- 135. Henderson, J. E. 1986. Environmental Designs for Streambank Protection Projects. Water Resources Bulletin 22: 549-558.
- 136. Henke, M. and Stone, C. P. 1978. Value of riparian vegetation to avian populations along the Sacramento River system. Pages 228-235 *in* R. R. Johnson and J. R. McCormick, editors. Strategies for protection and management of floodplain wetlands and other riparian ecosystems. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report WO-12..
- Herr, L. A. 1973. Panel on stream channelization and trout fisheries. Trout Magazine 14: 25-26.
- 138. Hey, R. D. 1994. Environmentally sensitive river engineering. Pages 337-362 *in* P. Calow and G. E. Petts, editors. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles; Volume Two. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Hey, R. D. 1974. Prediction and effects of flooding in alluvial systems. Pages 42-56 *in* B. M. Funnell, editor. Preprediction of Geological Hazards. Geological Society, Misc. Paper No. 3, London.
- 140. Hill, A. R. 1976. The environmental impacts of agricultural land drainage. Journal of Environmental Management 4: 251-274.
- 141. Hjort, R. C., Hulett, P. L., LaBolle, L. D., and Li, H. W. 1984. Environmental and Water Quality Operational Studies. Fish and Invertebrates of Revetments and Other Habitats in the Willamette River, Oregon. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Report WES/TR/E84-9. Vicksburg, MS.
- Hoffmann, C. C., Pedersen, M. L., Kronvang, B., and Øvig, L. 1998. Restoration of the Rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, IV - implications for nitrate and iron transformation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 223-240.
- 143. Holmes, N. T. H. and Nielsen, M. B. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, I - Setting up and delivery of the project. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 185-196.
- 144. Horner, R. R. and Welch, E. B. 1982. Impacts of channel reconstruction in the Pilchuk River, Washington State Department of Transportation Highway Runoff Water Quality Research Project / Environmental Engineering and Science Program, Dept. of Civil Engineering, University of Washington. Seattle, Washington.

- 145. Hortle, K. G. and Lake, P. S. 1982. Macroinvertebrate assemblages in channelized and unchannelized sections of the Bunyip River, Victoria. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 33: 1071-1082.
- 146. Hunter, C. J. 1991. Better Trout Habitat: A Guide to Stream Restoration and Management, Island Press. Covelo, CA.
- 147. Hupp, C. R. 1992. Riparian vegetation recovery patterns following stream channelization: A geomorphic perspective. Ecology 73: 1209-1226.
- 148. Hupp, C. R. and Osterkamp, W. R. 1996. Riparian vegetation and fluvial geomorphic processes. Pages 277-295. *in* W. R. Osterkamp and C. R. Hupp, editors. International Geomorphology Conference 23-28 Aug 1993, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada.
- 149. Hynes, H. B. N. 1968. Further studies on the macroinvertebrate fauna of a Welsh mountain stream. Archives of Hydrobiology 65: 360-379.
- 150. Jaeggi, M. N. R. 1989. Channel Engineering and Erosion Control. Pages 163-183 *in* Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla.
- 151. Johnson, A. W. and Stypula, J. M. 1993. Guidelines for Bank Stabilization Projects in Riverine Environments of King County, King County Department of Public Works, Surface Water Management Division. Seattle, Washington.
- 152. Johnson, B. L., Richardson, W. B., and Naimo, T. J. 1995. Past, Present and Future Concepts in Large River Ecology. BioScience 45: 134-141.
- 153. Jurajda, P. 1995. Effect of channelization and regulation on fish recruitment in a flood plain river. Regulated Rivers Resource and Management 10: 207-215.
- 154. Karr, J. R. 1997. The future is now: Biological monitoring to ensure healthy waters. Northwest Science 71: 254-257.
- 155. Karr, J. R. 1977. Impact of nearstream vegetation and stream morphology on water quality and stream biota, Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, Environmental Research Laboratory. Springfield Va.
- Kaufman, J. B. and Krueger, W. C. 1984. Livestock impacts on riparian ecosystems and streamside management implications.. A review. Journal of Range Management 37: 430-438.
- 157. Keller, E. A. 1976. Channelization: Environmental, geomorphic and engineering aspects. Pages 115-140 *in* D. R. Coates, editor. Geomorphology and Engineering. George Allen and Unwin, London.

- 158. Keller, E. A. 1972. Development of Alluvial Stream Channels: A Five Stage Model. Geological Society of America Bulletin 82: 753-756.
- 159. Keller, E. A. 1978. Pools, riffles, and channelization. Environmental Geology 2: 119-127.
- 160. Keller, E. A. and Brookes, A. 1984. Consideration of meandering in channelization projects: selected observations and judgments. C. M. Elliott, editor. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- 161. Keller, E. A. and Kondolf, G. M. 1990. Groundwater and fluvial processes: selected observations. C. G. Higgins and D. R. Coates, editors. Groundwater geomorphology: the role of subsurface water in earth-surface processes and landforms. Geological Society of America, Boulder, CO.
- 162. Keller, E. A. and MacDonald, A. 1983. Large Organic Debris and Anadromous Fish Habitat in the Coastal Redwood Environment: The Hydrologic System, U.C. Davis; Water Resources Center Completion Report. Davis, CA.
- 163. Keller, E. A. and MacDonald, A. 1987. Stream Channel Response to the Removal of Large Woody Debris, Larry Damm Creek, Northwestern California. Pages 405-406 *in* Erosion and Sedimentation in the Pacific Rim.
- 164. Kern, K. 1992. Rehabilitation of Streams in Southwest Germany. P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 165. Kern, K. 1998. Reversibility in River Restoration. Pages 639-653 in P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- 166. Knight, A. W. and Bottoriff, R. L. 1984. The Importance of Riparian Vegetation to Stream Ecosystems. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 167. Knight, R. L. 1988. Relationship of birds of prey and riparian habitat in the Pacific Northwest: An overview. Pages 79-91 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 59. University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 168. Knopf, F. L. 1985. Significance of riparian vegetation to breeding birds across an altitudinal cline. Pages 105-111 *in* R. R. Johnson, C. D. Ziebell, D. R. Patton., P. F. Folliott, and R. H. Hamre, editors. Riparian Ecosytems and their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report, RM-120.

- 169. Knopf, F. L. and Samson, F. B. 1988. Ecological patterning of riparian avifaunas. Pages 77-78 in K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution, No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 170. Koebel, J. W. Jr. 1995. An historical perspective on the Kissimmee River restoration project. Restoration ecology 3: 149-159.
- 171. Koebel, J. W. Jr., Jones, B. L., and Arrington, D. A. 1999. Restoration of the Kissimmee River, Florida: Water quality impacts from canal backfilling. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 57: 85-107.
- 172. Kondolf, G. M. and Curry, R. R. 1986. Channel Erosion Along the Carmel River, Monterey County, California. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 11: 307-319.
- 173. Kondolf, G. M. and Curry, R. R. 1984. The Role of Riparian Vegetation in Channel Bank Stability: Carmel River, California. R.E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 174. Krogstad, F. 1995. A physiology and ecology based model of lateral root reinforcement of unstable hillslopes, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 175. Kronvang, B., Svendsen, L. M., Brookes, A., Fisher, K., Møller, B., Ottosen, O., Newson, M., and Sear, D. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, III channel morphology, hydrodynamics and transport of sediment and nutrients. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 209-222.
- 176. Kuenzler, E. J., Mulholland, P. J., Ruley, L. A., and Sniffen, R. P. 1977. Water Quality in North Carolina Coastal Plain Streams and Effects of Channelization, North Carolina Water Resources Research Institute, Raleigh, UNC-WRRI Rpt. No 127.
- 177. Lajczak, A. 1995. The impact of river regulation, 1850-1990, on the channel and floodplain of the upper Vistula River, southern Poland. Pages 209-233 *in* E. J. Hickin, editor. River Geomorphology. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- 178. Lane, E. W. 1955. Design of Stable Channels. ASCE Transactions 120: 1234-1279.
- Larinier, M. and Travade, F. 1998. Small-scale hydropower schemes and migratory fish passage. Petits amenagements hydroelectriques et libre circulation des poissons migrateurs 8: 46-51.
- 180. Larsen, E. W. 1995. The Mechanics and Modeling of River Meander Migration. University of California, Berkeley.

- 181. Larsen, E. W. and Dietrich, W. E. 1996. Modeling River Meander Migration. EOS Transactions, AGU 77: 247.
- 182. Larsen, E. W. and Greco, S. E. 1998. Modeling Channel and Ecosystem Evolution of the Sacramento River (Miles 218-222). American Geophysical Union Fall.
- 183. Larsen, E. W., Greco, S. E., and Barker, C. H. in manuscript. Channel Migration of the Sacramento River Near Woodson Bridge State Recreation Area: A Case Study of Alternative Channel Management Stratagies.
- 184. Larsen, E. W. and Micheli, E. W. 1997. Bank Erosion and Meander Migration Rates of the Upper Sacramento River. EOS Transactions, AGU 78: 256.
- 185. Larsen, E. W., Mount, J. F., and Schaldow, G. S. 1997a. Hydraulic Controls on River Meander Migration. Proceedings: Association of Engineering Geologists 120.
- 186. Larsen, E. W., Mount, J. F., and Schaldow, G. S. in manuscript. Meander Migration of the Upper Sacramento River: Sensitivity to Changing Hydraulic Variables.
- 187. Larsen, E. W., Schladow, G. S., and Mount, J. F. 1997b. The Geomorphic Influence of Bank Revetment on Channel Migration: Upper Sacramento River, Miles 218-206. International Association of Hydraulic Research (IAHR) XXVI Congress: San Francisco, California.
- 188. Leavitt, J. 1998. The Functions of Riparian Buffers in Urban Watersheds, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 189. Leopold, L. B., Wolman, M. G., and Miller, J. P. 1964. Fluvial Processes in Geomorphology, Dover. New York.
- 190. Li, H. W., Schrenck, C. B., and Tubb, R. A. 1984. Comparison of Habitats Near Spur Dikes, Continuous Revetments, and Natural Banks for Larval, Juvenile, and Adult Fishes of the Willamette River, USGS: Water Resources Research Institute Publication WRRI-95. Corvallis, OR.
- 191. Ligon, F. K., Dietrich, W. E., and Trush, W. J. 1995. Downstream Ecological Effects of Dams. BioScience 45: 183-192.
- 192. Lillehammer, A. and Saltveit, S. J. 1984. Regulated Rivers: 2nd International Symposium on Regulated Streams. Universitetsforlaget. Oslo, Norway.
- 193. Little, A. D. I. 1973. Report on Channel Modification: Vol. II and Environmental Protection Agency, I: Council on Environmental Quality. Washington D.C.
- 194. Lund, J. A. 1976. Evaluation of stream channelization and mitigation on fisheries resources of the St. Regis River, Montana, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; FWS/OBS-76/06.

- 195. Lynch, J. A., Corbett, E. S., and Hoopes, R. 1977. Implications of forest management practices on the aquatic environment. Fisheries 2: 16-22.
- 196. MacDonald, L. H., Smart, A. W., and Wissmar, R. C. 1991. Monitoring Guidelines to Evaluate Effects of Forestry Activities on Streams in the Pacific Northwest and Alaska. U.S. EPA. EPA 910/9-91-001. Washington, D.C.
- 197. Maddock, T. Jr. 1976. A primer on floodplain dynamics. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 31: 44-47.
- 198. Marchand, M., Marteijn, E. C. L., and Bakonyi, P. 1995. Policy analysis as a tool for habitat restoration: a case study on the Danube River floodplain, Hungary. Pages 179-186 *in* S. H. Hosper, R. D. Gulati, L. Van-Liere, and R. M. M. Rooijackers, editors. Integrated Water Resources Management. International Conference on Integrated Water Resources Management (Netherlands).
- 199. Marchand, M., Marteijn, E. C. L., Pedroli, G. B. M., van Velzen, E., and Bakonyi, P. 1994. The Gemenc floodplain rehabilitation project; a policy analysis for the rehabilitation of a Danube floodplain, Hungary. Pages 367-370 *in* J. A. Van-de-Kraats, editor. Rehabilitation of the River Rhine. International Conference on Integrated Water Resources Management (Netherlands).
- 200. Marzolf, G. R. 1978. The potential effects of clearing and snagging on stream ecosystems, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- 201. Maser, C. and Sedell, J. R. 1994. From the Forest to the Sea: The Ecology of Wood in Streams, Rivers, Estuaries, and Oceans, St. Lucie Press. Delray, FL.
- 202. Masterman, R. and Thorne, C. R. 1992. Predicting Influence of Bank Vegetation on Channel Capacity. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 118: 1052-1058.
- 203. McCall, T. C., Hodgman, T. P., Diefenbach, D. R., and Owen, R. B. Jr. 1996. Beaver populations and their relation to wetland habitat and breeding waterfowl in Maine. Wetlands 16: 163-172.
- 204. Mertes, L. A. K. 1997. Documentation and significance of the perirheic zone on inundated floodplains. Water Resource Research 33: 1749-1762.
- 205. Mertes, L. A. K., Daniel, D. L., Melack, J. M., Nelson, B., Martinelli, L. A., and Forsberg, B. R. 1995. Spatial patterns of hydrology, geomorphology, and vegetation on the floodplain of the Amazon River in Brazil from a remote sensing perspective. Geomorphology 13.
- 206. Miklejohn, B. A. and Hughes, J. W. 1999. Bird communities in riparian buffer strips of industrial forests. American Midland Naturalist 141: 172-184.

- 207. Miles, M. J. 1998. Restoration difficulties for fishery mitigation in high-energy gravel-bed rivers along highway corridors. Pages 393-399 *in* P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC..
- 208. Milhous, R. T., Miller, S., and Galay, V. J. 1998. Case Study of Gravel-Bed River Management: The Skykomish River Near Gold Bar, Washington. Pages 705-724 *in* P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- 209. Millar, R. G. and Quick, M. C. 1998. Stable width and depth of gravel-bed rivers with cohesive banks. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 124: 1005-1013.
- 210. Milner, N. J., Scullion, J., Carling, P. A., and Crisp, D. T. 1981. The effects of discharge on sediment dynamics and consequent effects on invertebrates and salmonids in upland rivers. Advances in Applied Biology VI: 153-220.
- 211. Montana Bull Trout Scientific Group (MBTSG). 1998. The relationship between land management activities and habitat requirements of bull trout, Report prepared for the Montana Bull Trout Restoration Team. Helena, MT.
- 212. Montgomery, D. R. and Buffington, J. 1993. Channel Classification: Prediction of Channel Response and Assessment of Channel Condition., Washington State Dept. of Natural Resources, Report TFW-SH10-93-002. Olympia, WA.
- 213. Montgomery, D. R., Buffington, J. M., Smith, R. D., Schmidt, K. M., and Pess, G. 1995. Pool spacing in forest channels. Water Resources Research 31: 1097-1105.
- 214. Morris, L. A., Langemeirs, R. M., Russell, T. R., and Witt, A. 1968. Effects of main stem impoundments and channelization upon the limnology of the Missouri River, Nebraska. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 97: 380-388.
- 215. Moyle, P. B. 1976. Some Effects of Channelization on the Fishes and Invertebrates of Rush Creek, Modoc County, California. California Fish and Game 62: 179-186.
- 216. Naiman, R. J., Beechie, T. J., Benda, L. E., Berg, D. R., Bisson, P. A., MacDonald, L. H., O'Connor, M. D., Olson, P. L., and Steel, E. A. 1992. Fundamental elements of ecologically healthy watersheds in the Pacific Northwest coastal ecoregion. Pages 127-188 *in* R. J. Naiman, editor. Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.
- Naiman, R. J., Decamps, H., Pastor, J., and Jonston, C. A. 1988. The potential importance of boundaries to fluvial ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 7: 289-306.

- 218. Naiman, R. J., Melillo, JK. M., and Hobbie, J. E. 1986. Ecosystem alteration of boreal forest streams by beaver (*Castor canadensis*). Ecology 67: 1254-1269.
- 219. Nanson, G. C. and Croke, J. C. 1992. A genetic classification of floodplains. Geomorphology 4: 459-486.
- 220. Nanson, G. C. and Hickin, E. J. 1986. Statistical Analysis of Bank Erosion and Channel Migration in Western Canada. Geological Society of America Bulletin 97: 497-504.
- 221. National Research Council. 1992. Restoration of aquatic ecosystems: science, technology, and public policy, National Academy Press. Washington, D.C.
- 222. Nelson, L. M. 1986. Effect of Bank Protection Measures, Stehekin River, Chelan County, Washington, USGS; Water Resources Investigations Report 85-4316.
- 223. Neuhold, J. H. 1981. Strategy of stream ecosystem recovery. Pages 261-265 *in* G. W. Barrett and R. Rosenburg, editors. Stress Effects on Natural Ecosystems, Environmental Monographs and Symposia. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- 224. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation. 1985. Stream corridor management: a basic reference manual, New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Division of Water, Bureau of Water Resources Department of Environmental Conservation. Albany, N.Y.
- 225. Newbury, R., Gaboury, M., and Bates, D. 1997. Restoring Habitats in Channelized or Uniform Streams Using Riffle and Pool Sequences.P. A. Z. D. Slaney, editor. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 226. Newbury, R. W. and Gaboury, M. N. 1993. Stream Analysis and Fish Habitat Design: A Field Manual, Newbury Hydraulics. Gibsons, British Columbia.
- 227. Nichols, R. A. and Sprague, S. G. 1999. The Use of Long-Line Cabled Logs to Protect Eroding Stream Banks in Skagit County, Washington: Lower Sauk River; Lower Finney Creek; Ovenell Slough, Skagit River, Report to the Center of Streamside Studies, University of Washington. Seattle, WA.
- 228. Nielsen, M. B. 1996. Lowland Stream Restoration in Denmark. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 229. Nolan, M. F. 1984. Vegetation on US Army Corps of Engineers Project Levees in the Sacramento/ San Joaquin Valley, California. R.E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.

- 230. Norman, D. K., Cederholm, C. J., and Lingley, W. S. Jr. 1998. Flood plains, salmon habitat, and sand and gravel mining, Washington Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geology and Earth Resources. Olympia, WA, United States.
- 231. Nunnally, N. R. 1978. Stream Renovation: An Alternative to Channelization. Environmental Management 2: 403-411.
- 232. Nunnally, N. R. and Keller, E. A. 1979. Use of Fluvial Processes to Minimize Adverse Effects of Stream Channelization, Water Resources Research Institute, Report No. 144. University of North Carolina.
- 233. O'Connell, M. A., Hallett, J. G., West, S. D., Kelsey, K. A., Manuwal, D. A., and Pearson, S. F. Effectiveness of Riparian Management Zones in Providing Habitat for Wildlife. 2000. Timber/Fish and Wildlife, CMER Committee, Report TFW-LWAG1-00-001.
- 234. O'Connor, N. A. 1991. The effects of habitat complexity on the macroinvertebrates colonizing wood substrates in a lowland stream. Oecologia 85: 504-512.
- 235. O'Neal, J. 2000. Biological Evaluation of Stream Enhancement: A Comparison of Large Woody Debris and an Engineered Alternative, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 236. Obeysekera, J. T. B. and Loftin, M. K. 1988. Kissimmee River: Floodplain Harmony in Restoration. Pages 79-86 *in* Floodplain Harmony. The Natural Hazards Research and Applications Information Center; Institute of Behavioral Science, Boulder, CO.
- 237. Orsborn, J. F. Jr., Cullen, R. T., Heiner, B. A., and Garric, C. M. a. R. M. 1992. A Handbook for the Planning and Analysis of Fisheries Habitat Modification Projects, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering. Washington State University, Washington.
- 238. Patterson, D. W., Finch, C. U., and Wilcox, G. I. 1984. Streambank Stabilization Techniques Used By the Soil Conservation Service in California. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 239. Peltier, W. H. and Welch, E. B. 1969. Factors Affecting Growth of Rooted Aquatics in a River. Weed Science 17: 412-416.
- 240. Percival, E. and Whitehead, H. 1929. A quantitative study of the fauna of some types of stream b Journal of Ecology 17: 282-314.
- 241. Perkins, S. J. 1981. Channel Migration on the Tolt and Raging rivers, King County, Washington. Pages 338-341 *in* J. Louthain, editor. Inspiration: come to the headwaters. Proceedings of the Fifteenth annual conference of the Association of State Floodplain Managers Denver, CO 1981. NHRAIC.

- 242. Perkins, S. J. 1993. Green River Channel Migration Study, King County Department of Public Works, Surface Water Management Division. Seattle, WA.
- 243. Perkins, S. J. 1994. The shrinking cedar river: channel changes following flow regulation and bank armoring. American Water Resources Association June Meeting; Subsection: Effects of Human-Induced Changes on Hydrologic Systems: 649-661.
- 244. Pess, G. 1998. Comments on Volume IV Pacific Lumber Company Habitat Conservation Plans, Sustained Yield Plan/Habitat Conservation Plan, Public Review Draft July 1998. http://www.wildcalifornia.org/projects/headwaters/HCPComments/pess.html.
- 245. Peterjohn, W. T. and Correll, D. L. 1984. Nutrient Dynamics in an Agricultural Watershed: Observations on the Role of a Riparian Forest. Ecology 65: 1466-1475.
- 246. Peters, R. J., Missildine, B. R., and Low, D. L. 1998. Seasonal fish densities near river banks stabilized with various stabilization methods: first year report of the Flood Technical Assistance Project, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, North Pacific Coast Ecoregion, Western Washington Office, Aquatic Resources Division. Lacey, WA.
- 247. Peterson, D. L. and Klimas, C. V. 1996. The Role of Restoration in Ecosystem Management, Society for Ecological Restoration. Madison, WI.
- 248. Piest, R. F., Elliot, L. S., and Spomer, R. G. 1977. Erosion of the Tarkio Drainage system, 1845-1976. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 20: 458-488.
- 249. Platts, W. S. 1991. Livestock grazing. Pages 389-423 *in* Influence of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society.
- 250. Pollock, M. M. and Kennard, P. M. 1999. A Low Risk Strategy for Preserving Riparian Buffers Needed to Protect and Restore Salmonid Habitat in Forested Watersheds of Washington State, 10,000 Years Institute. Bainbridge Island, WA.
- 251. Raedeke, K. J., Taber, R. D., and Paige, D. K. 1988. Ecology of large mammals in riparian systems of Pacific Northwest forests. Pages 113-132 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 252. Ralph, S. C., Poole, G. C., Conquest, L. L., and Naiman, R. J. 1994. Stream channel condition and in-stream habitat in logged and unlogged basins of western Washington. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 51: 37-51.
- 253. Rasid, H., Phillips, B. A. M., and Oosterveld, M. 1985. Morphologic Effects of Channelization: the Case of the Neebing-McIntyre Floodway, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada. Environmental Management 9: 399-416.

- 254. Reiner, R. and Calhoun, F. 1999. Cosumnes River Fisheries Restoration Workshop: Summary of Workshop Notes: 3/18/1997, The Nature Conservancy; http://www.ice.ucdavis.edu/cosumnes/. Cosumnes River Preserve, Franklin, CA.
- 255. Riley, A. L. 1998. Restoring Streams in Cities: A Guide for Planners, Policymakers and Citizens, Island Press. Covelo, CA.
- 256. Rinaldi, M. and Johnson, P. A. 1997. Stream Meander Restoration. Journal of the American Water Resource Association 33: 855-866.
- 257. Rinne, J. N. 1988. Grazing effects on stream habitat and fishes: Research design considerations. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 8: 240-247.
- 258. Ritzenthaler, E. A. S. 1998. Biogeochemistry and hydrology of a forested floodplain backchannel: riparian and hyporheic interactions. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- Robinson, S. K., Thompson, I. F. R., Donovan, T. M., Whitehead, D. R., and Faaborg, J. 1995. Regional forest fragmentation and the nesting success of migratory birds. Science 267: 1987-1990.
- 260. Rosgen, D. L. 1996. Applied River Morphology, Wildland Hydrology. Pagosa Springs, CO.
- 261. Rosgen, D. L. 1994. A Classification of Natural Rivers. Catena 22: 169-199.
- Rowntree, K. M. and Dollar, E. S. J. 1999. Vegetation controls on channel stability in the Bell River, Eastern Cape, South Africa. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 24: 127-134.
- 263. Sacramento River Advisory Council. 1989. Upper Sacramento River Fisheries and Riparian Habitat Management Plan, The Resources Agency: State of California; http://www.dla.water.ca.gov/nd/ndpub.html. Sacramento, CA.
- 264. Savery, A. W. 2000. A Comparison of the Hydraulic Effect of Large Woody Debris and an Engineered Alternative, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis. Seattle, WA.
- 265. Schiemer, F., Baumgartner, C., Tockner, K., and Layzer, J. B. 1999. Restoration of Floodplain Rivers: The 'Danube Restoration Project'. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 231-244.
- 266. Schiemer, F. and Waidbacher, H. 1992. Strategies for Conservation of a Danubian Fish Fauna. P.J. Boon, P. Calow, and G.E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.

- 267. Schmal, R. N. 1978. Effects of stream channelization on aquatic macroinvertebrates, Buena Vista Marsh, Portage County, Wisconsin, Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services, Eastern Energy and Land Use Team, Water Resources Analysis; Harpers Ferry, W.Va.
- 268. Schneberger, E. and Funk, J. L. 1972. Stream channelization: a symposium, North Central Division, American Fisheries Society; 2. Madison, WI.
- 269. Schnick, R. A., Morton, J. M., Mochalski, J. C., and Beall, J. T. 1982. Mitigation and enhancement techniques for the Upper Mississippi River system and other large river systems, U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Resource Publication 149. Washington, D.C.
- 270. Schumm, S. A. 1985. Patterns of alluvial rivers. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Science 13: 5-27.
- 271. Scott, D. 1958. Cover on river bottoms. Nature 188: 76-77.
- 272. Scott, M. L., Friedman, J. M., and Auble, G. T. 1996. Fluvial process and the establishment of bottomland trees. Pages 327-339 *in* W. R. Osterkamp and C. R. Hupp, editors. Fluvial geomorphology and vegetation: 3. International Geomorphology Conference, 23-28 Aug 1993. Hamilton, ON, Canada.
- 273. Sear, D. A., Briggs, A., and Brookes, A. 1998. A preliminary analysis of the morphological adjustment within and downstream of a lowland river subject to river restoration. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 167-183.
- 274. Sedell, J. R. and Beschta, R. L. 1991. Bringing back the "bio" in bioengineering. American Fisheries Society Symposium 10: 160-175.
- 275. Sedell, J. R. and Froggatt, J. L. 1984. Importance of Streamside Forests to Large Rivers: The isolation of the Willamette River, Oregon, USA, from its floodplain by snagging and streamside forest removal. International Verein. Limnol. 22: 1828-1834.
- 276. Sedell, J. R., Smith, J. E., Wissmar, R. C., Clarke, S. E., Reeves, G. H., Brown, L. A., and McIntosh, B. A. 1994. Historical changes in fish habitat for select river basins of eastern Oregon and Washington. Northwest Science 68: 36-53.
- 277. Sedell, J. R., Swanson, F. J., and Gregory, S. V. 1985. Evaluating fish response to woody debris. Pages 222-245 *in* Hassler, T.J. editor. Proceedings: Pacific Northwest Stream Habitat Management Workshop. Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA.
- 278. Shannon and Wilson, I. 1991. Tolt and Raging Rivers Channel Migration Study, King County, Washington, Prepared for Surface Water Management Division, King County Department of Public Works. Seattle, WA.

- 279. Sheehorn, M. E. 1985. Stream Habitat Improvement Handbook, U.S. Forest Service : Technical Publication R8-TP7. Atlanta, GA.
- 280. Shen, H. W., Tabios, G. I., and Harder, J. A. 1994. Kissimmee River restoration study. Journal of Water Resource Planning and Management 120: 330-349.
- 281. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1991. Woody Vegetation and Riprap Stability Along the Sacramento River Mile 84.5-119. Water Resources Bulletin 27: 527-536.
- Shields, F. D. Jr., Bowie, A. J., and Cooper C.M. 1995a. Control of Streambank Erosion Due To Bed Degradation With Vegetation and Structure. Water Resource Bulletin 31: 475-489.
- 283. Shields, F. D. Jr., Cooper, C. M., and Testa, S. I. 1995b. Towards Greener Riprap: Environmental Considerations from Microscale to Macroscale.C. R. Thorne, S. R. Abt, F. B. J. Barends, S. T. Maynord, and K. W. Pilarcyzk, editors. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armorstone. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 284. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Copeland, R. R. 1990. Environmental Design of Channels: Can It Be Done? Pages 181-186 *in* American Society of Civil Engineers Hydraulic Engineering, editor. Proceedings of the 1990 National Conference. New York.
- 285. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Gippel, C. J. 1995. Prediction of Effects of Woody Debris Removal on Flow Resistance. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 121.
- 286. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Gray, D. H. 1992. Effects of Woody Vegetation on Sandy Levee Integrity. Water Resources Bulletin 28: 917-931.
- 287. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Nunnally, N. R. 1984. Environmental Aspects of Clearing and Snagging. Journal of Environmental Engineering 110: 152-165.
- 288. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Sanders, T. G. 1986. Water Quality Effects of Excavation and Diversion. Journal of Environmental Engineering (ASCE) 112: 211-228.
- 289. Simon, A. 1994. Gradation processes and channel evolution in modified west Tennessee streams process, response, and form, USGS. Denver, CO.
- Simon, A. and Hupp, C. R. 1992. Geomorphic and Vegetative Recovery Processes Along Modified Stream Channels of West Tennessee. USGS; Open-File Report 91-502. Denver, CO.

- 291. Simon, A. and Hupp, C. R. 1987. Geomorphic and Vegetative Recovery Processes along Modified Tennessee Streams: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Disturbed Fluvial Systems. International Association of Hydrological Sciences, editor. Forest Hydrology and Watershed Management. International Association of Hydrological Sciences, Washington, DC.
- 292. Simpson, P. W., Newman, J. R., Keirn, M. A., Matter, R. M., and Guthrie, P. A. 1982. Manual of Stream Channelization Impacts on Fish and Wildlife. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Washington, DC.
- 293. Skidmore, P., Cooper, P., and Boyd, K. 1999. Methodology for Determining Meander Corridor Limits. American Water Resources Association: December 1999 Meeting: Watershed Management to Protect Declining Species 421-424.
- 294. Slaney, P. A. and Zaldokas, D. 1997. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures, Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks: Watershed Restoration Technical Circular No. 9. Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 295. Small, M. F. and M.L. Hunter, M. L. 1988. Forest fragmentation and avian nest predation in forested landscapes. Oecologia 76: 62-64.
- 296. Smith, R. D., Sidle, R. C., Porter, P. E., and Noel, J. R. 1993. Effects of experimental removal of woody debris on the channel morphology of a forest, gravel-bed stream. Journal of Hydrology 152: 153-178.
- 297. Smith, R. H., Shields, F. D. Jr., Dardeau, E. A. Jr., Schaefer, T. E., and Gibson, A. C. 1992. Incremental effects of large woody debris removal on physical aquatic habitat, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; Technical Report EL-92-35. Vicksburg, MS.
- 298. Sotir, R. B. and Nunnally, N. R. 1995. Use of Riprap in Soil Bioengineering Streambank Protection. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Amorstone. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. Chichester, England.
- 299. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1993. An Ecosystem Perspective of Alluvial Rivers: Connectivity and the Hyporheic Corridor. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 48-60.
- 300. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1988. The hyporheic habitat of river ecosystems. Nature 335: 64-66.
- 301. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1992. Management of aquatic resources in large catchments: Recognizing interactions between ecosystem connectivity and disturbance. Pages 91-124 *in* R. J. Naiman, editor. Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.

- 302. Stanford, J. A., Ward, J. V., and Ellis, B. K. 1994. Ecology of the Alluvial Aquifers of the Flathead River, Montana. Pages 367-390 *in* J. Gibert, D. L. Danielopol, and J. A. Stanford, editors. Groundwater Ecology. Academic Press, San Diego.
- 303. Stanley, E. H. and Boulton, A. J. 1993. Hydrology and the Distribution of Hyporheos: Perspectives from a Mesic River and a Desert Stream. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 79-83.
- Steiger, J., James, M., and Gazelle, F. 1998. Channelization and consequences on floodplain system functioning on the Garonne River, SW France. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 14: 13-23.
- 305. Sullivan, K., Lisle, T. E., Dolloff, C. A., Grant, G. E., and L.M. Reid, L. M. 1987. Stream channels: The link between forests and fishes. Pages 39-97 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution, No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.
- 306. Tarzwell, C. M. 1934. Stream Improvement Methods, U.S. Bureau of Fisheries: Stream Improvement Bulletin R-4: Division of Scientific Inquiry. Ogden, UT.
- 307. Task Committee. 1978. Environmental effects of hydraulic structures. Journal of Hydraulics Division, American Society of Civil Engineers 104: 203-221.
- 308. Theiling, C. 1995. Habitat Rehabilitation on the Upper Mississippi River. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 11: 227-238.
- 309. Thorne, C. R., Abt, S. R., Barends, F. B. J., Maynord, S. T., and Pilarcyzk, K. W. 1995. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.
- 310. Thronson, R. E. 1979. Best management practices guidance: discharge of dredged or fill materials, Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Planning and Standards, Water Planning Division. Washington D.C.
- 311. Tockner, K., Pennetzdorfer, D., Reiner, N., Schiemer, F., and Ward, J. V. 1999b. Hydrologic connectivity, and the exchange of organic matter, and nutrients in a dynamic river-floodplain system (Danube, Austria). Freshwater Biology 41: 521-535.
- 312. Tockner, K. and Schiemer, F. 1997. Ecological aspects of the restoration strategy for a riverfloodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters 6: 321-329.

- 313. Tockner, K., Schiemer, F., Baumgartner, C., Kum, G., Weigand, E., Zweimueller, I., Ward, J. V., and Layzer, J. B. 1999a. The Danube Restoration Project: Species diversity patterns across connectivity gradients in the floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 2454-258.
- 314. Tockner, K., Schiemer, F., and Ward, J. V. 1998. Conservation by restoration: the management concept for a river-floodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 71-86.
- 315. Toth, L. A. 1993. The Ecological Basis of the Kissimmee River Restoration Plan. Florida Scientist 56: 25-51.
- 316. Toth, L. A. 1996. Restoring the Hydrogeomorphology of the Channelized Kissimmee River.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 317. Toth, L. A., Arrington, D. A., and Begue, G. 1997. Headwater restoration and reestablishment of natural flow regimes: Kissimmee River of Florida. J.E. Williams, C. A. Wood, and M. P. Dombeck, editors. Watershed Restoration: Principles and Practices. American Fisheries Society.
- 318. Toth, L. A., Arrington, D. A., Brady, M. A., and Muszick, D. A. 1995. Conceptual evaluation of factors potentially affecting restoration of habitat structure within the channelized Kissimmee River ecosystem. Restoration Ecology 3: 160-180.
- 319. Toth, L. A., Melvin, S. L., Arrington, D. A., and Chamberlain, J. 1998. Hydrologic Manipulations of the Channelized Kissimmee River. 48: 757-764.
- 320. Tricounty. http://www.salmoninfo.org/tricounty/tcdevelopment.htm.
- 321. Triska, F. J., Kennedy, V. C., Avanzino, R. J., Zellweger, G. W., and Bencala, K. E. 1989a. Retention and Transport of Nutrients in a Third Order Stream: Channel Processes. Ecology 70: 1877-1892.
- 322. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1984a. Mitigating the impacts of stream alterations, US Army Corps of Engineers, Nashville District. Nashville, Tenn.
- 323. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1984b. Navigation channel improvement, Columbia River, Oregon and Washington, Longview to Kalama Reach, river miles 64 to 78, US Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District. Seattle, WA.
- 324. U.S. Department of Transportation. 1989. Design of riprap revetment, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Research, Development, and Technology, Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center. McLean, Va.

- 325. U.S. Department of Transportation. 1985. Design of Spur-type Streambank Stabilization Structures, U.S.DOT: Federal Highway Administration: Report No. FHWA/RD-84/101. McLean, VA.
- 326. U.S. Federal Highway Administration. 1988. Use of Riprap for Bank Protection, U.S. Federal Highway Administration: Highway Engineering Circular No. 12. Washington, D.C.
- 327. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 1998. Bull trout interim conservation guidance, USFWS. Lacey, WA.
- 328. U.S. Soil Conservation Service. 1977. Design of Open Channels, Department of Agriculture: Technical Release No. 25. Washington D.C.
- 329. Vannote, R. L., Minsall, G. W., Cummins, K. W., Sedell, J. R., and Cushing, C. E. 1980. The river continuum concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 37: 103-137.
- 330. Vick, J., andrews, E., and Williams, P. B. 1997. Analysis of Opportunities for Restoring a Natural Flood Regime on the Cosumnes River Floodplain, Philip Williams and Associates, Ltd; Report 1148. San Francisco, CA.
- 331. Vivash, R., Ottosen, O., Janes, M., and Sørensen, H.V. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, II - the river restoration works and other related practical aspects. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 197-208.
- 332. Wade, P. M. and Edwards, R. W. 1980. The effect of channel maintenance on the aquatic macrophytes of the drainage channels in the Monmouthsire Levels, South Wales, 1870-1976. Aquatic Biology 8: 307-322.
- 333. Wallis, P. M., Hynes, H. B. N., and Telang, S. A. 1981. The Importance of Groundwater in the Transportation of Allochthonous Dissolved Organic Matter to the Streams Draining a Small Mountain Basin. Hydrobiologia 79: 77-90.
- 334. Ward, J. V. 1989. The four dimensional nature of lotic ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8: 2-8.
- 335. Ward, J. V. and Stanford, J. A. 1995. Ecological connectivity in alluvial river ecosystems and its disruption by flow regulation. Pages 105-119 *in* K. Lubinski, J. Wiener, and N. Bhowmik, editors. The International Conference, Sustaining the Ecological Integrity of Large Floodplain Rivers July 12-15 La Crosse, WI 1994.
- 336. Ward, J. V. and Stanford, J. A. 1987. Ecology of Regulated Streams: Past Accomplishments and Directions for Future Research. Pages 391-409 *in* J. F. Craig and J. B. Kemper, editors. Regulated Streams: Advances in Ecology. Plenum Press, New York, NY.

- 337. Washington Forest Practices Board. Washington Forest Practices. 2000.
- 338. Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. 2000. Integrated Streambank Protection Guidelines, Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife; Inter-Fluve, Inc.
- 339. Wene, G. and Wickfliff, E. L. 1940. Modification of a stream bottom and its effect on the insect fauna. Canadian Entomologist 72: 131-135.
- 340. Wesche, T. A. 1985. Stream Channel Modifications and Reclamation Structures to Enhance Fish Habitat. Pages 103-163 *in* J. A. Gore, editor. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- 341. West, S. 2000. personal communication College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 342. Whitaker, D. M. and Montevecchi, W. A. 1999. Breeding bird assemblages inhabiting riparian buffer strips in Newfoundland, Canada. Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 167-179.
- 343. White, D. S. 1993. Perspectives on Defining and Delineating Hyporheic Zones. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 61-69.
- 344. White, R. J. 1996. Growth and development of North American stream habitat management for fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 53: 342-363.
- 345. Whitener, K. and Kennedy, T. 1998. Evaluation of the Fisheries Relating to Floodplain Restoration on the Cosumnes River Preserve, The Nature Conservancy; http://www.ice.ucdavis.edu/cosumnes/. Cosumnes River Preserve, Franklin, CA.
- 346. Whiting, B. M. and Sweeney, M. D. 1999. GPR-Based Study of Avulsed River Channels of the Yakima River, Central Washington: Implications for Salmonid Habitat Restoration. GSA Annual Meeting, 1999; Shallow Subsurface Mapping Abstract 52146.
- 347. Whitlow, T. H., Harris, R. W., and Leiser, A. T. 1984. Experimenting with Levee Vegetation: Some Unexpected Findings. R.E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 348. Williams, D. D. 1984. The Hyporheic Zone: as Habitat for Aquatic Insects and Associated Arthropods. V.H. Resh and D. M. Rosenberg, editors. The Ecology of Aquatic Insects. Praeger, New York.
- 349. Winner, M. D. Jr. and Simmons, C. E. 1977. Hydrology of the Creeping Swamp Watershed, North Carolina, with Reference to Potential Effects of Stream Channelization. USGS; Water-Resources Investigations 77-26.

- 350. Wissmar, R. C. 1996. Recommended Guidelines for Developing Bank Stabilization Facilities of Rivers in Western Washington, Fisheries Research Institute; School of Fisheries; University of Washington. Seattle, WA.
- 351. Woodsmith, R. D. and J.M. Buffington, J. M. 1996. Multivariate geomorphic analysis of forest streams: implications for assessment of land use impacts on channel condition. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 21: 377-393.
- 352. Wootton, J. T., Parker, M. S., and Power, M. E. 1996. Effects of Disturbance on River Food Webs. Science 273: 1558-1561.
- 353. Wright, J. F., Hiley, P. D., Cameron, A. C., Wigham, M. E., and Berrie, A. D. 1983. A quantitative study of the macroinvertebrate fauna of five biotopes in the River Lambourn, Berkshire, England. Archives of Hydrobiology 96: 271-292.
- 354. Yahner, R. H. and D.P. Scott, D. P. 1988. Effects of forest fragmentation on depredation of artificial nests. Journal of Wildlife Management 52: 158-161.
- 355. Yarbro, L. A., Kuenzler, E. J., Mulholland, P. J., and Sniffen, R. P. 1984. Effects of Stream Channelization on Exports of Nitrogen and Phosphorus from North Carolina Coastal Plain Watersheds. Environmental Management 8: 151-160.

## **APPENDIX** A

## Complete Literature Database

## **Complete Literature Database**

- 1. Abbe, T. B. 2000. Patterns, mechanics and geomorphic effects of wood debris accumulations in a forest river system. University of Washington, PhD Dissertation, Seattle, WA.
- Abbe, T. B. and Montgomery, D. R. 1996. Large Woody Debris Jams, Channel Hydraulics and Habitat Formation in Large Rivers. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 12: 201-221.
- 3. Abbe, T. B., Montgomery, D. R., and Petroff C. 1997. Design of stable in-channel wood debris structures for bank protection and habitat restoration: An example from the Cowlitz River, WA. Langendoen, E. J. Proceedings of the Conference on Management of Landscapes Disturbed by Channel Incision (MLDCI). University of Mississippi, University, MS.
- 4. Abell, D. L. 1989. Proceedings of the California Riparian Systems Conference: Protection, Management, and Restoration for the 1990's, Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, U.S. Forest Service: Tech. Rep. PSW-110; Sept. 22-24, 1988. Berkeley, CA.
- 5. Adams, W. M. and Perrow, M. R. 1999. Scientific and Institutional Constraints on the Restoration of European Floodplains.S. B. Marriott and J. Alexander, editors. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches. Geological Society of London, London, UK.
- 6. Allan, J. D. 1995. Stream ecology : structure and function of running waters, Chapman and Hall. New York.
- Allen, J. H. and Lowe, S. 1997. Rehabilitating Mainstem Holding and Rearing Habitat. P. A. Slaney and D. Zaldokas, editors. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 8. Amoros, C., Roux, A. L., Reygrobellet, J. L., Bravard, J. P., and Pautou, G. 1987. A Method for Applied Ecological Studies of Fluvial Hydrosystems. Regulated Rivers 1: 17-36.
- 9. Anderson, B. W. and Ohmart, R. D. 1985. Riparian Revegation as a Mitigating Process in Stream and River Restoration. J. A. Gore, editor. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- Andrew, F. J. 1991. Cooperative efforts to protect salmonid habitat from potential effects of highway construction in British Columbia. Pages 191-199 *in* J. Colt and R. J. White, editors. Fisheries Bioengineering Symposium. American Fisheries Society.

- Andrews, E. S. 1999. Identification of an Ecologically Based Floodway: The Case of the Cosumnes River, California. Pages 99-110 *in* S. B. Marriott and J. Alexander, editors. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches. Geological Society of London, London, UK.
- 12. Andrus, C. W., Landers, D. H., Erway, M. L., Sharps, D., and Cline, S. P. 1997. Ecological Functions of Off-Channel Habitat, Willamette River, Oregon. Final Research Plan, National Health and Environmental Effects Research Lab; Report: EPA/600/R-98/004. Corvallis, OR.
- 13. Armitage, P. D. and Pardo, I. 1995. Impact assessment of regulation at the reach level using macroinvertebrate information from mesohabitats. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 10: 147-158.
- Arner, D. H., Robinette, H. R., Frasier, J. E., and Gray, M. H. 1976. Effects of Channelization of the Luxapalila River on Fish, Aquatic Invertebrates, Water Quality and Furbearers, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services: Report No. FWS/OBS-76-08. Springfield, VA.
- Asselman, N. E. M. 1999. The Use of Floodplain Sedimentation Measurements to Evaluate the Effects of River Restoration Works. S. B. Marriott and J. Alexander, editors. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches. Geological Society of London, London, UK.
- 16. Avery, S. T. and Novak, P. 1978. Oxygen Transfer at Hydraulic Structures. Journal of the Hydraulics Division, American Society of Civil Engineers 104: 1512-1540.
- Baker, J. A., Kasul, R. L., Winfield, L. E., Bingham, C. R., and Pennington, C. H. 1988. Lower Mississippi River environmental program. Report 9. An ecological investigation of revetted and natural bank habitats in the Lower Mississippi River, USACOE, Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, MS.
- Barclay, J. S. 1980. Impact of stream alterations on riparian communities in southcentral Oklahoma, Eastern Energy and Land Use Team, National Water Resources Analysis Group, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Kearneysville, W. Va.
- Barnard, R. S. 1977. Morphology and Morphometry of a Channelized Stream: The Case History of Big Pine Creek Ditch, Benton, County, Indiana, Studies in Fluvial Geomorphology No. 4. Purdue University Water Resources Research Center: Technical Report No. 92.
- 20. Barton, J. R. and Winger, P. V. 1973. Rehabilitation of a Channelized River in Utah. Pages 1-10 *in* ASCE, editor. Hydraulic Engineering and the Environment; Proceedings of the 21st Annual Hydraulic Division Specialty Conference. New York.

- 21. Baxter, C. V. and Hauer, F. R. 2000. Geomorphology, Hyporheic Exchange, and Selection of Spawning Habitat by Bull Trout (*Salvelinus Confluentus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57: 1470-1481.
- 22. Bayley, P. B. 1991. The Flood Pulse Advantage and the Restoration of River-Floodplain Systems. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 6: 75-86.
- 23. Bayley, P. B. 1995. Understanding large river-floodplain ecosystems. Bioscience 45: 153-160.
- 24. Bayley, P. B. and Li, H. W. 1994. Riverine Fishes. Pages 251-281 *in* P. Calow and G. E. Petts, editors. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles: Volume One. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- 25. Beach, E. 1999. Conifer regeneration in managed riparian forests: effects of seed source, substrate, landform and vegetation, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 26. Beamer, E. M. and Henderson, R. A. 1998. Juvenile Salmonid Use of Natural and Hydromodified Stream Bank Habitat in the Mainstem Skagit River, Northwest Washington, Skagit System Cooperative: Miscellaneous Report. LaConner, WA.
- 27. Beard, L. R. 1974. Hydrological Evaluation of Changes in Runoff Characteristics. Pages 1048-1055 *in* IAHS, editor. Mathematical Models in Hydrology, Proceedings of the Warsaw Symposium, Poland July 1971.
- 28. Beasley, R. P., Gregory, J. M., and McCarty, T. R. 1984. Erosion and Sediment Pollution Control, Iowa State University Press: Second Edition. Ames, Iowa.
- 29. Beckett, D. C. and Pennington, C. H. 1986. Water Quality, Macroinvertebrates, Larval Fishes, and Fishes of the Lower Mississippi River A Synthesis. USACOE, Waterways Experiment Station: Technical Report E-86-12. Vicksburg, MS.
- 30. Beechie, T. and Bolton, S. M. 1999. An approach to restoring salmonid habitat-forming processes in Pacific Northwest watersheds. Fisheries Habitat 24: 6-15.
- 31. Beechie, T., Pess, G., Kennard, P., Bilby, R., and Bolton, S. 2000. Modeling recovery rates and pathways for woody debris recruitment in Northwestern Washington streams. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20: 436-452.
- 32. Belanger, T. V., Heck, H., and Kennedy, C. 1994. Critical dissolved oxygen field studies in the Kissimmee River/floodplain system. Lake and Reservoir Management 9: 55-56.
- 33. Bencala, K. E. 1993. A Perspective on Stream-catchment Connections. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 44-47.

- 34. Benke, A. C., Gillespie, D. M., and Parrish, F. K. 1979. Biological Basis for Assessing Impacts of Channel Modification: Invertebrate Production, Drift, and Fish Feeding in a Southeastern Blackwater River, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta: Applied Sciences Lab. Washington, DC.
- 35. Benke, A. C., Henry III, R. L., Gillespie, D. M., and Hunter, R. J. 1985. Importance of snag habitat for animal production in Southeastern streams. Fisheries 10: 8-13.
- 36. Bergen, S. D., Bolton, S. M., Fridley, J. L. In press. Design principles for ecological engineering. Ecological Engineering.
- 37. Beschta, R. L., Bilby, R. E., Brown, G. W., Holtby, L. B., and Hofstra, T. D. 1987. Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: Fisheries and forestry interactions. Pages 191-232 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 38. Bhowmik, N. G. 1993. Physical impacts of human alterations within river basins: The case of the Kankakee, Mississippi, and Illinois Rivers. Long-term resource monitoring program, Illinois State Water Survey Division / U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Onalaska, WI.
- Bhutani, J., Holberger, R., Jacobsen, W. E., Spewak, P., and Truett, J. B. 1975. Impacts of Hydrologic Modification On Water Quality, Environmental Protection Agency: Report EPA-600/2-75-007.
- 40. Biggs, J., Corfield, A., Grøn, P., Hansen, H. O., Walker, D., Whitfield, M., and Williams, P. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, V - short-term impacts on the conservation value of aquatic macroinvertebrate and macrophyte assemblages. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 241-254.
- 41. Bilby, R. E. 1988. Interactions between aquatic and terrestrial systems. Pages 13-43 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 59 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 42. Bilby, R. E. and Likens, G. E. 1980. Importance of Organic Debris Dams in the Structure and Function of Stream Ecosystems. Ecology 61: 1107-1113.
- 43. Bilby, R. E. and Ward, J. W. 1989. Changes in characteristics and function of woody debris with increasing size of streams in western Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 118: 368-378.
- 44. Bilby, R. E. and Ward, J. W. 1991. Characteristics and function of large woody debris in streams draining old-growth, clear-cut, and second-growth forests in southwestern Washington. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 48: 2499-2508.

- 45. Bisson, P. A., Bilby, R. E., Bryant, M. D., Dolloff, C. A., Grette, G. B., House, R. A., Murphy, M. L., Koski, K. V., and Sedell, J. R. 1987. Large Woody Debris in Forested Streams in the Pacific Northwest: Past, Present and Future. Pages 143-190 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 57 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 46. Bisson, P. A., Reeves, G. H., Bilby, R. E., and Naiman, R. J. 1997. Watershed management and Pacific salmon: Desired future conditions.D. J. Stouder, P. A. Bisson, and R. J. Naiman, editors. Pacific Salmon and Their Ecosystems: Status and Future Options. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- 47. Blodgett, J. C. and Lucas, J. B. 1988. Profile of Sacramento River, Freeport to Verona, California, Flood of February 1986, USGS: Open-File Report 88-82.
- 48. Boon, P. J., Calow, P., and Petts, G. E. 1992. River Conservation and Management, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.
- 49. Booth, D. B. and Jackson, C. R. 1997. Urbanization of Aquatic Systems: Degradation Thresholds, Stormwater Detection, and the Limits of Mitigation. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 33: 1007-1089.
- 50. Borchardt, D. 1993. Effects of flow and refugia on drift loss of benthic macroinvertebrates: implications for habitat restoration in lowland streams. Freshwater Biology 29: 221-227.
- 51. Bottorf, R. L. 1974. Cottonwood habitat for birds in Colorado. American Birds 28: 975-979.
- 52. Boulton, A. J. 1993. Stream ecology and surface-hyporheic hydrologic exchange: Implications, techniques and limitations. Australian journal of marine and freshwater research 44: 553-564.
- 53. Boulton, A. J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E. H., and Valett, H. M. 1998. The functional significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and rivers. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29: 59-81.
- 54. Boulton, A. J., Scarsbrook, M. R., Quinn, J. M., and Burrell, G. P. 1997. Land-use effects on the hyporheic ecology of five small streams near Hamilton, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 31: 609-622.
- 55. Boulton, A. J., Valett, H. M., and Fisher, S. G. 1992. Spatial distribution and taxonomic composition of the hyporheos of several Sonoran desert (Arizona, USA) streams. Archiv fur Hydrobiologie 125: 37-61.
- 56. Bovee, K. D. M. R. 1978. Hydraulic Simulation in In-stream Flow Studies, Cooperative Instream Flow Service Group: In-stream Flow Information Paper No. 5: FWS/OBS-78/33. Fort Collins, Colorado.

- 57. Bowles, M. 1991. River greenway planning for stream corridor restoration in King County, Washington. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 58. Braatne, J. H., Rood, S. B., and Heilman P. E. 1996. Life History, Ecology and Conservation of Riparian Cottonwoods in North America. Pages 57-85 *in* R. F. Stettler, editor. Biology of Populus. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Canada.
- 59. Bradley, J. B., Williams, D. T., and Walton, R. 1998. Applicability and Limitations of Sediment Transport Modeling in Gravel-Bed Rivers. Pages 543-578 *in* Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC..
- 60. Brice, J. 1977. Lateral Migration of the Middle Sacramento River, California, USGS: Water-Resources Investigations 77-43.
- 61. Brice, J. C. 1981. Stability of relocated stream channels, Federal Highway Administration, Offices of Research & Development, Environmental Division. Washington, D.C.
- 62. Brooker, M. P. 1985. Impact of River Channelization; IV. The Ecological Effects of Channelization. Geographical Journal 151: 63-69.
- 63. Brookes, A. 1991. Design Practices for Channels Receiving Urban Runoff: Examples From The River Thames Catchment, UK. Engineering Foundation Conference.
- 64. Brookes, A. 1989. Alternative Channelization Procedures. Pages 139-162 *in* J. A. Gore and G. E. Petts, editors. Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida.
- 65. Brookes, A. 1988. Channelized Rivers: Perspectives for Environmental Management. John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, U.K.
- 66. Brookes, A. 1985a. Impact of River Channelization; III. Downstream Morphological Consequences of River Channelization in England and Wales. Geographical Journal 151: 57-62.
- 67. Brookes, A. 1995. The Importance of High Flows for Riverine Environments.D. M. Harper and A. J. D. Ferguson, editors. Ecological Basis for River Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- 68. Brookes, A. 1987a. Recovery and Adjustment of Aquatic Vegetation within Channelization Works in England and Wales. Journal of Environmental Management 24: 365-382.
- Brookes, A. 1992. Recovery and Restoration of Some Engineered British River Channels.P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.

- 70. Brookes, A. 1986. Response of Aquatic Vegetation to Sedimentation Downstream from River Channelisation Works in England and Wales. Biological Conservation 38: 351-367.
- 71. Brookes, A. 1990. Restoration and Enhancement of Engineered River Channels: Some European Experiences. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 5: 45-56.
- 72. Brookes, A. Restoring the Sinuosity of Artificially Straightened Stream Channels. Environmental Geology and Water Sciences 10(1), 3-41. 87.
- 73. Brookes, A. 1987c. River channel adjustments downstream from channelization works in England and Wales. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 12: 337-351.
- 74. Brookes, A. 1994. River channel change. Pages 55-75 *in* P. Calow and G. E. Petts, editors. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles; Volume Two. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- 75. Brookes, A. 1985b. River channelization: traditional engineering methods, physical consequences and alternative practices. Progress in Physical Geography. 9: 44-73.
- 76. Brookes, A. 1996. River Restoration Experiences in Northern Europe. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 77. Brookes, A., Baker, J., and Redmond, C. 1996a. Floodplain Restoration and Riparian Zone Management. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 78. Brookes, A., Gregory, K. J., and Dawson, F. H. 1983. Assessment of River Channelization in England and Wales. The Science of the Total Environment 27: 97-111.
- 79. Brookes, A., Knight, S. S., and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996b. Habitat Enhancement. in a. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- Brookes, A. and Sear, D. A. 1996. Geomorphic Principles for Restoring Channels.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- Brookes, A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996b. Perspectives on River Channel Restoration.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 82. Brookes, A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996a. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.

- 83. Brookes, A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996c. Towards an Approach to Sustainable River Restoration. in A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 84. Brown, D. J., Hubert, W. A., and Anderson, S. H. 1996. Beaver ponds create wetland habitat for birds in mountains of southeastern Wyoming. Wetlands 16: 127-133.
- 85. Brown, S. A. 1985a. Design of spur-type streambank stabilization structures, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. McLean, VA.
- 86. Brown, S. A. 1985b. Streambank stabilization measures for highway engineers, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. McLean, VA.
- 87. Brunke, M. and Gonser, T. 1997. The ecological significance of exchange processes between rivers and groundwater. Freshwater Biology 37: 1-33.
- 88. Budd, W. W., Cohen, P. L., Saunders, P. R., and Steiner, F. R. 1987. Stream corridor management in the Pacific Northwest: 1. Determination of stream-corridor widths. Environmental Management 11: 587-597.
- 89. Buer, K., Forwalter, D., Kissel, M., and Stohlert, B. 1989. The middle Sacramento River: human impacts on physical and ecological processes along a meandering river. D. L. Abell, editor. Proceedings of the California Riparian Systems Conference: Protection, Management, and Restoration for the 1990s. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, U.S. Forest Service: Tech. Rep. PSW-110; Sept. 22-24, 1988, Berkeley, CA.
- 90. Buer, K. Y., Eaves, J. N., Scott, R. G., and McMillan, J. R. 1984. Basin Changes Affecting Salmon Habitat in the Sacramento River. T. J. Hassler, editor. Proceedings: Pacific Northwest Stream Habitat Managment Workshop. California Cooperative Fishery Research Unit / American Fisheries Society, Arcata, CA.
- 91. Bulkley, R. V., Bachmann, R. W., Carlander, K. D., Fierstine, H. L., and King, L. R. 1976. Warm Water Stream Alteration in Iowa: Extent, Effects On Habitat, Fish, and Fish Food, and Evaluation of Stream Improvement Structures (Summary Report), U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, FWS/OBS-76-16.
- 92. Bullard, T. F. and Wells, S. G. 1992. Hydrology of the Middle Rio Grande from Velarde to Elephant Butte Reservoir, New Mexico. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service: Technical Report No. 179. Washington D.C.
- 93. Buntz, J. 1969. Some Effects of The Kissimmee River Channelization On the Fishery Resource, Florida Game and Fish Commission.
- 94. Burckhardt, J. C. and Todd, B. L. 1998. Riparian forest effect on lateral stream channel migration in the glacial till plains. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 34: 179-184.
- 95. Burner, C. J. 1951. Characteristics of spawning nests of Columbia River salmon. Fishery Bulletin of the Fish and Wildlife Service 52: 97-110.
- 96. Burns, J. W. 1984. Public Values and Riparian Systems.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 97. Burress, R. M., Krieger, D. A., and Pennington, C. H. 1982. Aquatic Biota of Bank Stabilization Structure on the Missouri River, North Dakota, USACOE, Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station: Technical Report E-82-6. Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 98. Bury, R. B. and Corn, P. S. 1987. Responses of aquatic and streamside amphibians to timber harvest. Pages 165-181 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fishery Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 99. Butturini, A. and Sabater, F. 1996. Effects of riparian vegetation removal on fluxes of dissolved matter in a Mediterranean stream. Buffer Zones: Their Processes and Potential in Water Protection, Conference Handbook. Samara Publishing Limit
- 100. California Department of Water Resources. 1967. Pilot levee maintenance study, California Department of Water Resources: Bulletin no. 167. Sacramento.
- 101. Calow, P. and Petts, G. E. 1994. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles; Volume One and Two, Blackwell Scientific Publications. Oxford, United Kingdom.
- 102. Cameron, W. A., Knapp, S. M., and Carmichael R.W. 1997. Evaluation of juvenile salmonid bypass facilities and passage at water diversions on the lower Umatilla River, U.S. Department of Energy, Bonneville Power Administration, Environment, Fish, and Wildlife. Portland, OR.
- 103. Canter, L. W. 1985. Environmental Impact of Water Resources Projects. Lewis Publishers, Inc. Chelsea, Michigan.
- 104. Carey, A. B. 1988. The influence of small streams on the composition of upland bird communities. Pages 153-159 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute for Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.

- 105. Carline, R. F. and Klosiewski, S. P. 1985. Responses of Fish Populations to Mitigation Structures in Two Small Channelized Streams in Ohio. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 5: 1-11.
- 106. Carothers, S. W. and Johnson, R. R. 1975. The effects of stream channel modification on birds in the southwestern United States. Pages 60-70 *in* Symposium on Stream Channel Modification. Harrisonburg, VA.
- 107. Carter, L. W. and Anderson, G. L. 1984. Riparian Vegetation on Flood Control Project Levees: Constraints and Opportunities.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 108. Castelle, A. J. and Johnson., A. W. 2000. Riparian vegetation effectiveness, National Council for Air and Stream Improvement; Technical Bulletin 799.
- Cederholm, C. J. 1972. The short-term physical and biological effects of stream channelization at Big Beef Creek, Kitsap County, Washington. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 110. Cederholm, C. J. and Koski, K. V. 1977. Effects of stream channelization on the salmonid habitat and populations of lower Big Beef Creek, Kitsap County, Washington, 1969-73, University of Washington. Seattle: Washington Cooperative Fishery Research Unit, College of Fisheries.
- 111. Chang, H. H. 1985. Formation of alternate bars. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering, ASCE 111: 1412-1422.
- Chapman, D. W. and Knudsen, E. 1980. Channelization and Livestock Impacts on Salmonid Habitat and Biomass in Western Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 109: 357-363.
- 113. Cherry, J. and Beschta, R. L. 1989. Coarse woody debris and channel morphology: a flume study. Water Resources Bulletin 25: 1031-1036.
- 114. Cirmo, C. P. and McDonnell, J. J. 1997. Linking the hydrologic and biochemical controls of nitrogen transport in near-stream zones of temperate-forested catchments: A review. Journal of Hydrology 199: 88-120.
- Cohen, P. L., Saunders, P. R., Budd, W. W., and Steiner, F. R. 1987. Stream corridor management in the Pacific Northwest: 2. Management strategies. Environmental Management 11: 599-605.
- 116. Cole, G. 1976. Land drainage in England and Wales. Journal of the Institute of Water Engineers 30: 354-361.

- 117. Collier, M., Webb, R. H., and Schmidt, J. C. 1996. Dams and Rivers: A Primer On the Downstream Effects On Dams, U.S. Geological Survey: Circular 1126.
- 118. Conly, F. M. and Martz, L. W. 1998. Modeling channel profile response to weir removal: South Saskatchewan River at Saskatoon. Canadian Water Resources Journal 23: 31-44.
- 119. Cooper, C. M. and Knight, S. S. 1987. Fisheries in Man-Made Pools Below Grade-Control Structures and in Naturally Occurring Scour Holes of Unstable Streams. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 42: 370-373.
- 120. Cordone, A. J. and Kelley, D. W. 1961. The influences of inorganic sediment on the aquatic life of streams. California Fish and Game 47: 1355-1380.
- 121. Corning, R. V. 1975. Proceedings: Symposium on Stream Channel Modification, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Harrisonburg, Virginia.
- 122. Correll, D. L., Jorden, T. E., and Weller, D. E. 1997. Failure of Agricultural Riparian Buffers to Protect Surface Waters from Groundwater Nitrate Contamination.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 123. Cotterell, E. 1998. Fish passage in streams: fisheries guidelines for design of stream crossings, Queensland Department of Primary Industries: Fisheries Group. Brisbane, Australia.
- 124. Cowx, I. G. 1998. Fish Passage Facilities in the UK: Issues and Options for Future Development. Jungwirth, M., Schmutz, S., and Weiss, S. Fish Migration and Fish Bypass Channels Symposium. Fishing News Books.
- 125. Cowx, I. G. and Welcomme, R. L. 1998. Rehabilitation of Rivers for Fish, Fishing News Books. Oxford, UK.
- 126. Crance, J. H. 1988. Relationships between palustrine wetlands of forested riparian floodplains and fishery resources: A review, National Ecology Research Center. Fort Collins, CO.
- 127. Crisp, D. T. 2000. Trout and salmon: ecology, conservation and rehabilitation, Fishing News Books. Oxford, UK.
- 128. Crisp, D. T. and Gledhill, T. 1970. A quantitative description of the recovery of the bottom fauna in a muddy reach of a mill stream in southern England after draining and dredging. Archives of Hydrobiology 67: 502-541.

- 129. Cuinat, R. Consequences in hydrobiology and in fish culture of the channelization of a little brook in Limagne (France). French Limnological Society. French Limnological Society.27th National Congress. 63-68. 82.
- 130. Cullen, A. J. and Humes, T. M. 1975. Effects of channelization work on flow conditions and structures on the North River, Colchester County, Nova Scotia. Slivitzky, M. Canadian hydrology symposium-1975. National Reseach Council, Canada.
- 131. Culp, J. M., Scrimgeour, G. J., and Townsend, G. D. 1996. Simulated fine woody debris accumulations in a stream increase rainbow trout fry abundance. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 125: 472-479.
- 132. Cummins, K. W. and Dahm, C. N. 1995. Introduction restoring the Kissimmee. Restoration Ecology 3: 147-148.
- 133. Daar, S., Klitz, W., and Olkowski, W. 1984. The Role of Vegetation in an Integrated Pest Management Approach to Levee Management.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 134. Danielopol, D. L. 1989. Groundwater fauna associated with riverine aquifers. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8: 18-35.
- 135. Danielopol, D. L., Rouch, R., Pospisil, P., Torreiter, P., and Moszlacher, F. 1997. Ecotonal Animal Assembages; Their Interst for Groundwater Studies.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 136. Daniels, R. B. 1960. Entrenchment of the Willow Creek Drainage Ditch, Harrison County, Iowa. American Journal of Science 258: 161-176.
- 137. Darby, S. E. and Thorne, C. R. 1992. Impact of Channelization on the Mimmshall Brook, Hertfordshire, UK. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 7: 193-204.
- 138. Dardeau, E. A. Jr., Killgore, K. J., and Miller, A. C. 1995. Using Riprap to Create or Improve Riverine Habitat.C. R. Thorne, S. R. Abt, F. B. J. Barends, S. T. Maynord, and K. W. Pilarcyzk, editors. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 139. De Waal, L. C., Large, A. R. G., and Wade, P. M. 1998. Rehabilitation of rivers : principles and implementation, Wiley. Chichester, UK.
- 140. Degtyarev, V. V. 1991. Influence of streamflow regulation and dredging on channeling processes. Water Resources 18: 540-546.

- 141. Dennis, N. B., Ellis, D., Arnold, J. R., and Renshaw, D. L. 1984. Riparian Surrogates in the Sacramento/ San Joaquin Delta and their Habitat Values.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 142. Department of the Environment. 1973. Aeration at Weirs, Department of the Environment (England), Notes On Water Pollution No. 61: Water Pollution Research Lab., Stevenage.
- 143. Detenbeck, N. E., DeVore, P. W., Niemi, G. J., and Lima, A. 1992. Recovery of temperatestream fish communities from disturbance: A review of case studies and synthesis of theory. Environmental Management 16: 33-53.
- 144. Dillon, J. F. and Littleton, T. M. 1998. Literature Review of Rock Revetment and Channelization Impacts on Pacific Northwest Aquatic Resources. Pages 145-150 in D. F. Hayes, editor. Engineering Approaches to Ecosystem Restoration.
- Doeg, T. J. and Koehn, J. D. 1994. Effects of draining and desilting a small weir on downstream fish and macroinvertebrates. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 9: 263-277.
- 146. Doesburg, J. M. 1986. Effects of channel control structures of flood levels for a selected reach of the Mississippi River. University of Missouri, Columbia, M.S. Thesis, Columbia, MO, United States.
- 147. Dole-Olivier, M. J. 1998. Surface water-groundwater exchanges in three dimensions on a backwater of the Rhone River. Freshwater Biology 40: 93-109.
- 148. Donovan, T. R., Thompson III, F. R., Faaborg. J., and Probst, J. R. 1997. Variation in localscale edge effects: Mechanisms and landscape context. Ecology 78: 2064-2075.
- 149. Downs, P. 1995. River Channel Classification for Channel Management Purposes. Pages 347-367 *in* A. Gurnell and G. Petts, editors. Changing River Channels. John Whiley & Sons Ltd., University of Nottingham, UK.
- 150. Dreher, J. E., Pospisil, P., and Danielopol, D. L. 1997. The Role of Hydrology in Defining a Groundwater Ecosystem.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 151. Drower, M. S. 1954. Water supply, irrigation and agriculture. Pages 520-557 *in* C. Singer, E. J. Holmyard, and A. R. Hall, editors. History of Technology. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- 152. Drury, T. 2000. Stability and pool scour of engineered logjams on the North Fork Stillaguamish. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis, Seattle.

- 153. Duvel, W. A. J., Volkmar, R. D., Specht, W. L., and Johnson, F. W. 1976. Environmental Impact of Stream Channelization. Water Resources Bulletin 12: 799-812.
- 154. Dwyer, J. P., Wallace, D., and Larsen, D. R. 1997. Value of woody river corridors in levee protection along the Missouri River in 1993. Journal of the American Water Resource Association 33: 481-489.
- 155. Eastern Energy and Land Use Team. 1980. Summaries of Riparian and Stream Alteration Studies Completed by the Eastern Energy and Land Use Team., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Kearneysville, WV.
- Eaton, H. L. S. and Martin, J. H. Complex response of a channelized stream, Alexander County. Virginia Academy of Science. Virginia Academy of Science, 70th annual meeting. 92.
- 157. Ebersole, J. L., Liss, W. J., and Frissell, C. A. 1997. Restoration of Stream Habitats in the Western United States: Restoration as Reexpression of Habitat Complexity. Environmental Management 21: 1-14.
- 158. Ebert, D. J. and Filipek, S. P. 1988. Response of fish communities to habitat alternation in a small Ozark stream. Proceedings of the Arkansas Academy of Science 42 : 28-32.
- 159. Edwards, R. T. 1998. The Hyporheic Zone. Pages 399-429 *in* R. J. Naiman and R. E. Bilby, editors. River Ecology and Management. Springer.
- 160. Elliott, C. M. 1984. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83, American Society of Civil Engineers. New York.
- 161. Emerson, J. W. 1971. Channelization: A case study. Science 173: 325-326.
- 162. Erskine, W. D. 1992. Channel Response to Large-Scale River Training Works: Hunter River, Australia. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 7: 261-278.
- Essery, C. J. and Wilcock, D. N. 1991. Environmental Impacts of Channelization on the River Main, Country Antrim, Northern Ireland. Journal of Environmental Management 32: 127-143.
- 164. Essery, C. J. and Wilcock, D. N. 1990. Impact of Channelization on the Hydrology of the Upper River Main, County Antrim, Northern Ireland: A Long-TermCase Study. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 5: 17-34.
- 165. Evans, R. O., Parsons, J. E., Stone, K., and Wells, W. B. 1992. Water Table Management on a Watershed Scale. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 47: 58-64.

- 166. Everest, F. H., Beschta, R. L., Scrivener, J. C., Koski, K. V., Sedell. J.R., and Cederholm, C. J. 1987. Fine sediment and salmonid production: A paradox. Pages 98-142 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 167. Farrington, R. L. and Savina, M. E. 1977. Off-site effects of roads and clearcut units on slope stability and stream channels, Fox Planning Unit : Six Rivers National Forest, U.S. Forest Service. California.
- 168. Faye, E. M. 1984. A Farmer's View of Riparian Systems. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 169. Federal Emergency Management Agency. 1999. Riverine Erosion Hazard Areas: Mapping Feasibility Study, FEMA, Technical Services Division, Hazards Study Branch.
- 170. Federal Interagency Stream Restoration Working Group (FISRWG). 1998. Stream corridor restoration: principles, processes, and practices, Washington D.C.
- 171. FEMA. http://www.fema.gov/Reg-X/env\_faq.htm#question\_5.
- 172. Ferrari, C. 1993. Exotic plant invasions across landscape patch types on the Olympic Peninsula. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis, Seattle.
- 173. Fischenich, J. C. 1990. Cumulative Impacts Analysis on a Midwest Fluvial System. Pages 802-807 *in* American Society of Civil Engineers, editor. Hydraulic Engineering: Proceedings of the 1990 National Conference.
- 174. Fisher, S. G., Grimm, N. B., Marti, E., Holmes, R. M., and Jones, J. B. Jr. 1998. Material Spiraling in Stream Corridors: A Telescoping Ecosystem Model. Ecosystems 1: 19-34.
- 175. Fjellheim, A. and Raddum, G. G. 1995. Weir building in a regulated west Norwegian river: Long-term dynamics of invertebrates and fish. Pages 501-508 *in* J. E. Brittain, I. Brinkman, and C. Nilsson, editors. Proceedings of an International Workshop on Remedial Strategies in Regulated Rivers 25-28 Sept. 1995. Lycksele Sweden.
- 176. Florsheim, J. L. and Mount, J. F. 1999. Geomorphic and Ecological Response of the Anastomosing Lower Cosumnes River, California, to Anthropogenic Disturbances: Implications for Restoration. Geological Society of America, Abstracts with Programs 31: A-202.
- 177. Florsheim, J. L. and Mount, J. F. 2000. Intentional Levee Breaching as a Floodplain Restoration Tool: Monitoring Floodplain Topography, Cosumnes River, California. American Geophysical Union Spring.

- 178. Flosi, G., Downie, S., Hopelain, J., Bird, M., Coey, R., and Collins, B. 1998. California Salmonid Stream Habitat Restoration Manual, Third Edition, California Department of Fish and Game. Sacramento, California.
- 179. Foeckler, F., Diepolder, U., and Deichner, O. 1991. Water mollusc communities and bioindication of lower Salzach floodplain waters. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 6: 301-312.
- 180. Fox, M. J. forthcoming. Booth, D., Bolton, S., Montgomery, D. editor. Restoration of Puget Sound Rivers. University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA.
- 181. Galat, D. and Rasmussen, J. 1995. Realising the Vision for Floodplain Management on the Lower Missouri River. Fisheries 20: 30.
- Galay, V. J. 1983. Causes of River Bed Degradation. Water Resources Research 19: 1057-1090.
- 183. Garcia, M. and Bittner, L. 1994. Physical effects of channel modifications on streams and river of Illinois, University of Illinois, Illinois Water Resources Center: Annual Report. Urbana, IL.
- 184. Gardiner, J. L. and Cole, L. 1992. Catchment Planning: The Way Forward for River Protection in the UK.P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 185. Geist, D. R. and Dauble, D. D. 1998. Redd Site Selection and Spawning Habitat Use by Fall Chinook Salmon: The Importance of Geomorphic Features in Large Rivers. Environmental Management 22: 655-669.
- 186. George, J. F., Pickering, G. A., and Turner, H. O. 1994. General design for replacement of or modifications to the Lower Santa Ana River drop structures, Orange County, California, US Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station Springfield, VA. Vicksburg, MS.
- 187. Ghanem, A., Steffler, P., Hicks, F., and Saltveit, S. J. 1996. Two-dimensional hydraulic simulation of physical habitat conditions in flowing streams. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 12: 185-200.
- 188. Gibert, J., Danielopol, D. L., and Stanford, J. A. 1994. Groundwater Ecology, Academic Press. San Diego.
- 189. Gibert, J., Mathieu, J., and Fournier, F. 1997b. The Groundwater/surface water Ecotone Perspectives: State of the Art. Pages 3-8 *in* J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.

- 190. Gibert, J., Mathieu, J., and Fournier, F. 1997a. Groundwater/surface water ecotones: biological and hydrological interactions and management options, Cambridge University Press. New York.
- 191. Gippel, C. J. 1995. Environmental hydraulics of large woody debris in streams and rivers. Journal of Environmental Engineering 121: 388-395.
- 192. Gippel, C. J., O'Neill, I. C., and Finlayson, B. L. 1992. The Hydraulic Basis of Snag Management, Centre for Environmental Applied Hydrology, Department of Civil and Agricultural Engineering. University of Melbourne, Parkville.
- 193. Gippel, C. J., O'Neill, I. C., Finlayson, B. L., and Schnatz, I. 1996. Hydraulic Guidelines for the Reintroduction and Management of Large Woody Debris in Lowland River Systems. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 12: 223-236.
- 194. Girel, J., Garguet-Duport, B., and Pautou, G. 1997. Landscape Structure and Historical Processes Along Diked European Valleys: A Case Study of the Arc/Isere Confluence (Savoie, France). Environmental Management 21: 891-907.
- 195. Goldner, B. H. 1984. Riparian Restoration Efforts Associated with Structurally Modified Flood Control Channels.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 196. Gore, J. A. 1985. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- 197. Gore, J. A. 1978. A technique for predicting in-stream flow requirements of benthic macroinvertebrates. Freshwater Biology 8: 141-151.
- 198. Gore, J. A. and Hamilton, S. W. 1995. Comparison of flow-related habitat evaluations downstream of low-head weirs on small and large fluvial ecosystems. Brittain, J. E., Brinkman, I., and Nilsson, C. Proceedings of an International Workshop on Remedial Strategies in Regulated Rivers.
- 199. Gore, J. A. and Petts, G. E. 1989. Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, Florida.
- 200. Gore, J. A. and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1995. Can large rivers be restored? Bioscience 45: 142-152.
- 201. Gras, R. and Albignat, J. P. 1985. Impact of Hydraulic Works on Water Quality. International Water Power and Dam Construction 37: 45-48.
- 202. Gray, D. H. and Leiser, A. T. 1982. Biotechnical Slope Protection and Erosion Control, Van Nostrand Reinhold. New York, NY.

- 203. Gray, D. H., MacDonald, A., Thomann, T., Blatz, I., and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1991. The Effects of Vegetation on the Structural Integrity of Sand Levees, Department of the Army, Waterways Experiment Station, Corps of Engineers, Technical Report No. REMR-EI-5. Vicksburg, MS.
- 204. Gray, M. H. and Arner, D. H. 1977. The Effects of Channelization on Furbearers and Furbearer Habitat. Proceedings of the Thirty-First Annual Conference of the Southeastern Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies.
- 205. Greco, S. E. 1999. Monitoring Riparian Landscape Change and Modeling Habitat Dynamics of the Yellow-billed Cuckoo on the Sacramento River, California. University of California, Davis, PhD Dissertation.
- 206. Greeson, P. E. 1982. Biota and biological principles of the aquatic environment, U. S. Geological Survey: Circular.
- 207. Gregery, K. J. 1992. Vegetation and River Channel Process Interaction.P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 208. Gregory, K. J., Gurnell, A. M., Hill, C. T., and Tooth, S. 1994. Stability of the pool-riffle sequence in changing river channels. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 9: 35-43.
- 209. Gregory, S. V. and Bisson, P. A. 1997. Degradation and loss of anadromous salmonid habitat in the Pacific Northwest. Pages 277-314 *in* D. J. Stouder, P. A. Bisson, and R. J. Naiman, editors. Pacific Salmon and Their Ecosystems: Status and Future Options. Chapman and Hill, New York.
- 210. Gregory, S. V., Lamberti, A., Erman, D. C., Koski, K. V., Murphy, M. L., and Sedell, J. R. 1987. Influences of Forest Practices on Aquatic Production. Pages 233-255 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 57 Seattle: University of Washington.
- 211. Gregory, S. V., Swanson, F. J., McKee, W. A., and Cummins, K. W. 1991. An Ecosystem Perspective of Riparian Zones. BioScience 41: 540-551.
- 212. Griffiths, G. A. 1981. Flow Resistance in Coarse Gravel Bed Rivers. Journal of the Hydraulics Division, ASCE 107: 899-918.
- 213. Griggs, G. B. 1984. Flood control and riparian system destruction: Lower San Lorenzo River, Santa Cruz County, California. Pages 142-149 *in* R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation, and Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA; California Riparian Systems Conference, Davis, CA (USA), 17-19 Sep 1981.

- 214. Grubaugh, J. W. and Anderson, R. V. 1988. Spatial and Temporal Availability of Floodplain Habitat: Long-Term Changes at Pool 19, Mississippi River. American Midland Naturalist 119: 402-411.
- 215. Gupta, O. P., Gupta, S. N., and Saxena, P. N. 1967. Effect of Flood Hydrographs On the Regime of Alluvial and Boulder Stage Rivers Above and Below Control Structures. Pages 292-302 *in* Proceedings 12th Congress of the International Association for Hydraulic Research.
- 216. Gurnell, A. M. 1997. Adjustments in river channel geometry associated with hydraulic discontinuities across the fluvial-tidal transition of a regulated river. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 22: 967-985.
- 217. Gurnell, A. M. 1998. The hydrogeomorphological effects of beaver dam-building activity. Progress in Physical Geography 22: 167-189.
- 218. Hachmoeller, B., Matthews, R. A., and Brakke, D. F. 1991. Effects of riparian community structure, sediment size, and water quality on the macroinvertebrate communities in a small, suburban stream. Northwest Science 65: 125-132.
- 219. Hahn, H. H. and Troubounis, G. L. 1983. Possible Changes in Groundwater Quality Resulting from River Channelization and Impoundment. Pages 1087-1103 *in* Ground Water in Water Resources Planning: proceedings of a symposium. IAHS Publication No. 142, Koblenz, Federal Republic of Germany.
- 220. Hahn, S. S. 1982. Stream channelization; effects on stream fauna. Pages 43-49 in P. E. Greeson, editor. Biota and biological principles of the aquatic environment. U. S. Geological Survey: Circular.
- 221. Hall, B. R. 1991. Impact of agricultural levees on flood hazards, US Army Corps of Engineers, Hydraulics Laboratory. Vicksburg, Miss.
- 222. Hall, F. C. 1988. Characterization of riparian systems. Pages 7-12 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 223. Haltiner, J. 1995. Environmentally Sensitive Approaches to River Channel Management.C. R. Thorne, S. R. Abt, F. B. J. Barends, S. T. Maynord, and K. W. Pilarcyzk, editors. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 224. Haltiner, J. P., Kondolf, G. M., and Williams, P. B. 1996. Restoration Approaches in California.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.

- 225. Hanowski, J. M., Wolter, P. T., and Niemi, G. J. 2000. Effects of riparian buffers on landscape characteristics: Implications for breeding birds. Pages 523-528 *in* P. J. Wigington and R. L. Beschta, editors. Riparian Ecology and Management in Multi-Land Use Watersheds. American Water Resources Association, Middleburg, VA.
- 226. Hansen, D. R. 1971. Effects of Stream Channelization On Fishes and Bottom Fauna in the Little Sioux River, Iowa, Iowa State Water Resources Research Institute: ISWRRI-38.
- 227. Haro, A., Odeh, M., Noreika, J., and Castro-Santos, T. 1998. Effect of water acceleration on downstream migratory behavior and passage of Atlantic salmon smolts and juvenile American shad at surface bypasses. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 127: 118-127.
- 228. Harris, S. C., Martin, T. H., and Cummins, K. W. 1995. A model for aquatic invertebrate response to Kissimmee River restoration. Restoration Ecology 3: 181-194.
- 229. Harrison, C. W. 1923. Planting eyed salmon and trout eggs. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 52: 191-200.
- 230. Harvey, M. D. 1984. A geomorphic Evaluation of a Grade-Control Structure in a Meandering Channel. Elliott, C. M. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83. New York, American Society of Civil Engineers.
- 231. Harvey, M. D. and Watson, C. C. 1989. Effects of bank revetment on Sacramento River, California.D. L. Abell, editor. Proceedings of the California Riparian Systems Conference: Protection, Management, and Restoration for the 1990's. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, U.S. Forest Service: Tech. Rep. PSW-110; Sept. 22-24, 1988, Berkeley, CA.
- 232. Harvey, M. D. and Watson, C. C. 1986. Fluvial Processes and Morphological Thresholds in Incised Channel Restoration. Water Resources Bulletin 22: 359-368.
- 233. Hasfurther, V. R. 1985. The Use of Meander Parameters in Restoring Hydrologic Balance to Reclaimed Stream Beds.J. A. Gore, editor. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- 234. Haslam, S. M. 1978. River Plants: The Macrophytic Vegetation of Watercourses, Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, MA.
- 235. Hassler, T. J. 1981. Proceedings: Propagation, Enhancement, and Rehabilitation of Anadromous Salmonid Populations and Habitat in the Pacific Northwest Symposium, California Cooperative Fishery Research Unit / American Fisheries Society. Arcata, CA.

- 236. Hathaway, C. B. J. 1978. Stream Channel Modification in Hawaii. Part C: Tolerance of Native Stream Species to Observed Levels of Environmental Variability, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Report.
- 237. Hauer, F. R. and Smith, R. D. 1998. The hydrogeomorphic approach to functional assessment of riparian wetlands: Evaluating impacts and mitigation on river floodplains in the U.S.A. Freshwater Biology 40: 517-530.
- 238. Haynes, J. M. and Makarewi, J. C. 1982. Comparison of benthic communities in dredged and undredged areas of the St. Lawrence River, Cape Vincent, New York. Ohio Journal of Science 82: 165-170.
- 239. Hecht, B. and Woyshner, M. 1987. Effects of California Riparian Woodland on Flood Conveyance: Case of the Pajaro River. Proceedings, California Watershed Management Conference. Rep. 11. 87. Wildland Resources Center, UC, Berkeley.
- 240. Heiler, G., Hein, T., Schiemer, F., and Bornette, G. 1995. Hydrological connectivity and flood pulses as the central aspects for the integrity of a river-floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 11: 351-361.
- 241. Hein, T., Heiler, G., Pennetzdorfer, D., Riedler, P., Schagerl, M., Schiemer, F., and Layzer, J. B. 1999. The Danube Restoration Project: Functional aspects and planktonic productivity in the floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 259-270.
- 242. Heiner, B.A. 1991. Hydraulic analysis and modeling of fish habitat structures. Pages 78-87 *in* J. Colt and R. J. White, editors. Fisheries Bioengineering Symposium. American Fisheries Society.
- 243. Hemphill, R. W. and Bramley, M. E. 1989. Protection of River and Canal Banks. Construction Industry Research and Information.
- 244. Henderson, J. E. 1986. Environmental Designs for Streambank Protection Projects. Water Resources Bulletin 22: 549-558.
- 245. Hendricks, S. P. 1993. Microbial Ecology of the Hyporheic Zone: A Perspective Integrating Hydrology and Biology. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 70-78.
- 246. Henke, M. and Stone, C. P. 1978. Value of riparian vegetation to avian populations along the Sacramento River system. Pages 228-235 *in* R. R. Johnson and J. R. McCormick, editors. Strategies for protection and management of floodplain wetlands and other riparian ecosystems. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report WO-12..
- 247. Herr, L. A. 1973. Panel on stream channelization and trout fisheries. Trout Magazine 14: 25-26.

- 248. Herricks, E. E. 1996. Water Quality Issues in River Channel Restoration. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 249. Herricks, E. E. and Osborne, L. L. 1985. Water Quality Restoration and Protection in Streams and Rivers.J. A. Gore, editor. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- 250. Hey, R. D. 1994. Environmentally sensitive river engineering. Pages 337-362 *in* P. Calow and G. E. Petts, editors. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles; Volume Two. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- 251. Hey, R. D. 1979. Flow Resistance in Gravel-Bed Rivers. Journal of the Hydraulics Division 105: 365-379.
- Hey, R. D. 1974. Prediction and effects of flooding in alluvial systems. Pages 42-56 *in* B. M. Funnell, editor. Preprediction of Geological Hazards. Geological Society, Misc. Paper No. 3, London.
- 253. Hickin, E. J. 1995. River Geomorphology, John Wiley & Sons. Chichester, U.K.
- 254. Higgins, C. G. and Coates, D. R. 1990. Groundwater geomorphology: the role of subsurface water in earth-surface processes and landforms, Geological Society of America. Boulder, CO.
- 255. Hill, A. R. 1976. The environmental impacts of agricultural land drainage. Journal of Environmental Management 4: 251-274.
- 256. Hjort, R. C., Hulett, P. L., LaBolle, L. D., and Li, H. W. 1984. Environmental and Water Quality Operational Studies. Fish and Invertebrates of Revetments and Other Habitats in the Willamette River, Oregon. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Report WES/TR/E84-9. Vicksburg, MS.
- 257. Hobma, T. W. 1997. Hydrochemistry and Ecohydrology of the Transition Area of the Netherlands Delta and the Brabantse Wal.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 258. Hockin, D. L. 1985. Impact of River Channelization; II. Channelization: Some Engineering Aspects. Geographical Journal 151: 54-57.
- 259. Hoffmann, C. C., Pedersen, M. L., Kronvang, B., and Øvig, L. 1998. Restoration of the Rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, IV - implications for nitrate and iron transformation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 223-240.

- 260. Holmes, N. T. H. and Nielsen, M. B. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, I - Setting up and delivery of the project. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 185-196.
- 261. Holz, H. W. 1971. Resistance Is a Greater Contributor to Groundwater Recharge by Dammed Up Rivers. Pages 72-79 *in* International Association of Hydrogeologists Memoires, editor. Proceedings of Asian Regional Conference, August 18-27, 1971, Tokyo: Japanese National Committee of the International Association of Hydrogeologists.
- 262. Horner, R. R. and Welch, E. B. 1982. Impacts of channel reconstruction in the Pilchuk River, Washington State Department of Transportation Highway Runoff Water Quality Research Project / Environmental Engineering and Science Program, Dept. of Civil Engineering, University of Washington. Seattle, Washington.
- 263. Hortle, K. G. and Lake, P. S. 1983. Fish of channelized and unchannelized sections of the Bunyip River, Victoria. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 34: 441-450.
- 264. Hortle, K. G. and Lake, P. S. 1982. Macroinvertebrate assemblages in channelized and unchannelized sections of the Bunyip River, Victoria. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 33: 1071-1082.
- 265. House, R. A. and P.L. Boehne, P. L. 1986. Effects of in-stream structures on salmonid habitat and populations in Tobe Creek, Oregon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 6: 38-46.
- 266. Hunter, C. J. 1991. Better Trout Habitat: A Guide to Stream Restoration and Management, Island Press. Covelo, CA.
- 267. Hupp, C. R. 1992. Riparian vegetation recovery patterns following stream channelization: A geomorphic perspective. Ecology 73: 1209-1226.
- 268. Hupp, C. R. and Osterkamp, W. R. 1996. Riparian vegetation and fluvial geomorphic processes. Pages 277-295. *in* W. R. Osterkamp and C. R. Hupp, editors. International Geomorphology Conference 23-28 Aug 1993, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada.
- 269. Hupp, C. R. and Simon, A. 1991. Bank accretion and the development of vegetated depositional surfaces along modified alluvial channels. Geomorphology 4: 111-124.
- 270. Hvidsten, N. A. and Johnsen, B. O. 1992. River bed construction: Impact and habitat restoration for juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., and brown trout, Salmo trutta L. Aquaculture and Fish Management 23: 489-498.
- 271. Hynes, H. B. N. 1968. Further studes on the macroinvertebrate fauna of a Welsh mountain stream. Archives of Hydrobiology 65: 360-379.

- 272. Hynson, J. R., Adamus, P. R., Elmer, J. O., DeWan, T., and Shields, F. D. Jr. 1985. Environment and water quality operational studies. Environmental features for streamside levee projects, Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Stn., Vicksburg, MS (USA). Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 273. Inglis, C. C. The Behavior and Control of Rivers and Canals, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 274. Inglis, C. C. 1947. Meanders and their bearing on river training, the Institution of Civil Engineers: Maritime and Waterways Paper no. 7: Maritime and Waterways Engineering Division.
- 275. International Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (IAFWA). 1983. Stream Obstruction Removal Guidelines, Stream Renovation Guidelines Committee, Washington D.C.
- 276. International Boundary and Water Commission. 1973. Lower Rio Grande Flood Control Project, Texas, International Boundary and Water Commission, El Paso, Texas.
- 277. Jacobson, R. B. and Primm, A. T. 1994. Historical land-use changes and potential effects on stream disturbance in the Ozark Plateaus, Missouri, U.S. Geological Survey. Rolla, Missouri.
- 278. Jaeggi, M. N. R. 1989. Channel Engineering and Erosion Control. Pages 163-183 *in* Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla.
- 279. Jansen, W., Kappus, B., Boehmer, J., and Winfield, I. J. 1996. Fish diets and densities of benthos upstream and downstream of a man-made barrier on the Glems River, Baden-Wuerttemberg, Germany. Polish Archives of Hydrobiology 43: 225-244.
- 280. Jarrett, R. D. H. E. P. Jr. 1985. Computer Program NCALC User's Manual: Verification of Manning's Roughness Coefficient in Channels, U.S.G.S.: Water-Resources Investigations Report 85-4317. Lakewood, CO.
- 281. Johnson, A. W. and Stypula, J. M. 1993. Guidelines for Bank Stabilization Projects in Riverine Environments of King County, King County Department of Public Works, Surface Water Management Division. Seattle, Washington.
- 282. Johnson, B. L., Richardson, W. B., and Naimo, T. J. 1995. Past, Present and Future Concepts in Large River Ecology. BioScience 45: 134-141.
- 283. Jones, J. B. and Mulholland, P. J. 2000. Streams and ground waters, Academic Press. San Diego.

- 284. Jungwirth, M. 1998. River Continuum and Fish Migration: Going Beyond the Longitudinal River Corridor in Understanding Ecological Integrity. Jungwirth, M., Schmutz, S., and Weiss, S. Fish Migration and Fish Bypass Channels Symposium. Fishing News Books.
- 285. Junk, W. J., Bayley, P. B., and Sparks, R. E. 1989. The flood pulse concept in riverfloodplain system. Proceedings of the International Large River Symposium: Ontario, Canada, 1986 106: 110-127.
- 286. Jurajda, P. 1995. Effect of channelization and regulation on fish recruitment in a flood plain river. Regulated Rivers Resource and Management 10: 207-215.
- 287. Karr, J. R. 1997. The future is now: Biological monitoring to ensure healthy waters. Northwest Science 71: 254-257.
- 288. Karr, J. R. 1977. Impact of nearstream vegetation and stream morphology on water quality and stream biota, Environmental Protection Agency, office of Research and Development, Environmental Research Laboratory. Springfield Va.
- 289. Kaufman, J. B. and Krueger, W. C. 1984. Livestock impacts on riparian ecosystems and streamside managment implications. A review. Journal of Range Management 37: 430-438.
- 290. Keller, E. A. 1976. Channelization: Environmental, geomorphic and engineering aspects. Pages 115-140 *in* D. R. Coates, editor. Geomorphology and Engineering. George Allen and Unwin, London.
- 291. Keller, E. A. 1972. Development of Alluvial Stream Channels: A Five-Stage Model. Geological Society of America Bulletin 82: 753-756.
- 292. Keller, E. A. 1978. Pools, riffles, and channelization. Environmental Geology 2: 119-127.
- 293. Keller, E. A. and Brookes, A. 1984. Consideration of meandering in channelization projects: selected observations and judgements. C. M. Elliott, editor. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- 294. Keller, E. A. and Kondolf, G. M. 1990. Groundwater and fluvial processes: selected observations. C. G. Higgins and D. R. Coates, editors. Groundwater geomorphology: the role of subsurface water in earth-surface processes and landforms. Geological Society of America, Boulder, CO.
- 295. Keller, E. A. and MacDonald, A. 1983. Large Organic Debris and Anadromous Fish Habitat in the Coastal Redwood Environment: The Hydrologic System, U.C. Davis; Water Resources Center Completion Report. Davis, CA.

- 296. Keller, E. A. and MacDonald, A. 1987. Stream Channel Response to the Removal of Large Woody Debris, Larry Damm Creek, Northwestern California. Pages 405-406 *in* Erosion and Sedimentation in the Pacific Rim.
- 297. Keller, E. A. and Nunnally, N. R. 1979. Use of Fluvial Processes to Minimize Adverse Effects of Stream Channelization, Water Resources Research Institute of the University of North Carolina: UNC-WRRI Report 144. Available from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield VA 22161, as PB-299 934.
- 298. Kellerhals, R. and Church, M. 1989. The Morphology of Large Rivers: Characterization and Management. Dodge, D. P. The International Large River Symposium.
- 299. Kern, K. 1992. Rehabilitation of Streams in South-west Germany. P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 300. Kern, K. 1998. Reversibility in River Restoration. Pages 639-653 in P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- Kesel, R. H. and Yodis, E. G. 1992. Some Effects of Human Modifications on Sand-Bed Channels in Southwestern Mississippi, U.S.A. Environmental Geology and Water Sciences 20: 93-104.
- 302. Kindel, F. 1984. Riparian Protection from Corps of Engineers Projects. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 303. King, L. R. and Carlander, K. D. 1976. A Study of the Effects of Stream Channelization and Bank Stabilization on Warmwater Sport Fish in Iowa: Subproject No. 3. Some Effects of Short-Reach Channelization on Fishes and Fish Food Organisms in Central Iowa Warmwater Streams, Springfield VA.
- 304. Klaassen, G. J., Lambeek, J., Mosselman, E., Duizendstra, H. D., and Nieuwenhuijzen, M. E. 1998. Re-naturalization of the Meuse River in the Netherlands. Pages 655-674 *in* P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC.
- 305. Klingeman, P. C. 1987. Geomorphic Influences on Sediment Transport in the Willamette River. Pages 365-374 *in* International Association of Hydrological Sciences, editor. Erosion and Sedimentation in the Pacific Rim. IAHS Publication No. 165. Washington D.C.

- 306. Knight, A. W. and Bottoriff, R. L. 1984. The Importance of Riparian Vegetation to Stream Ecosystems. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 307. Knight, R. L. 1988. Relationship of birds of prey and riparian habitat in the Pacific Northwest: An overview. Pages 79-91 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution No. 59. University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 308. Knighton, D. 1998. Fluvial Forms and Processes: A New Perspective. Arnold, London.
- 309. Knopf, F. L. 1985. Significance of riparian vegetation to breeding birds across an altitudinal cline. Pages 105-111 *in* R. R. Johnson, C. D. Ziebell, D. R. Patton., P. F. Ffolliott, and R. H. Hamre, editors. Riparian Ecosystems and their Management: Reconciling Conflicting Uses. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report, RM-120.
- 310. Knopf, F. L. and Samson, F. B. 1988. Ecological patterning of riparian avifaunas. Pages 77-78 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution, No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 311. Koebel, J. W. Jr. 1995. An historical perspective on the Kissimmee River restoration project. Restoration ecology 3: 149-159.
- 312. Koebel, J. W. Jr., Jones, B. L., and Arrington, D. A. 1999. Restoration of the Kissimmee River, Florida: Water quality impacts from canal backfilling. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 57: 85-107.
- 313. Kondolf, G. M. 1997. Hungry water: Effects of dams and gravel mining on river channels. Environmental Management 21: 533-551.
- 314. Kondolf, G. M. 1995. Surface-Ground Water Interactions: Some Implications for Sustainability of Ground Water Resources. J. J. DeVries and J. Woled, editors. Proceedings of the 19th Biennial Ground Water Conference. Water Resources Center Report No. 84, U.C. Davis.
- 315. Kondolf, G. M. and Curry, R. R. 1986. Channel Erosion Along the Carmel River, Monterey County, California. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 11: 307-319.
- 316. Kondolf, G. M. and Curry, R. R. 1984. The Role of Riparian Vegetation in Channel Bank Stability: Carmel River, California. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.

- 317. Kondolf, G. M. and Downs, P. W. 1996. Catchment Approach to Planning Channel Restoration. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 318. Kondolf, G. M. and Micheli, E. 1995. Evaluating Stream Restoration Projects. Environmental Management 19: 1-15.
- 319. Kotalawala, A. B. 1994. Impact of weirs on fish fauna of Wak-Oya, a tributary of the Kelani River. Journal of the National Science Council of Sri Lanka 22: 65-86.
- 320. Kraemer, T. J. 1984. Sacramento River Environment: A Management Plan. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 321. Kresch, D. and Dinicola, K. 1997. What causes floods in Washington State?, U. S. Geological Survey: Fact Sheet. Reston, VA, United States.
- 322. Krogstad, F. 1995. A physiology and ecology based model of lateral root reinforcement of unstable hillslopes, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 323. Kronvang, B., Svendsen, L. M., Brookes, A., Fisher, K., Møller, B., Ottosen, O., Newson, M., and Sear, D. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, III channel morphology, hydrodynamics and transport of sediment and nutrients. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 209-222.
- 324. Kuenzler, E. J., Mulholland, P. J., Ruley, L. A., and Sniffen, R. P. 1977. Water Quality in North Carolina Coastal Plain Streams and Effects of Channelization, North Carolina Water Resources Research Institute, Raleigh, UNC-WRRI Rpt. No 127.
- 325. Laikari, H. 1982. Study and Developmental Project for Lessening the Drawbacks of River Construction Works in Finland. Aqua Fennica 12: 17-25.
- 326. Lajczak, A. 1995. The impact of river regulation, 1850-1990, on the channel and floodplain of the upper Vistula River, southern Poland. Pages 209-233 *in* E. J. Hickin, editor. River Geomorphology. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- 327. Lakso, E. 1988. Aeration at Overflow Weirs, Water and Environmental Research Institute, Helsinki Finland.
- 328. Lane, E. W. 1955. Design of Stable Channels. ASCE Transactions 120: 1234-1279.
- 329. Larinier, M. and Travade, F. 1998. Small-scale hydropower schemes and migratory fish passage. Petits amenagements hydroelectriques et libre circulation des poissons migrateurs 8: 46-51.

- 330. Larsen, E. W. 1995. The Mechanics and Modeling of River Meander Migration. University of California, Berkeley.
- 331. Larsen, E. W. and Dietrich, W. E. 1996. Modeling River Meander Migration. EOS Transactions, AGU 77: 247.
- 332. Larsen, E. W. and Greco, S. E. 1998. Modeling Channel and Ecosystem Evolution of the Sacramento River (Miles 218-222). American Geophysical Union Fall.
- 333. Larsen, E. W., Greco, S. E., and Barker, C. H. in manuscript. Channel Migration of the Sacramento River Near Woodson Bridge State Recreation Area: A Case Study of Alternative Channel Management Strategies.
- 334. Larsen, E. W. and Micheli, E. W. 1997. Bank Erosion and Meander Migration Rates of the Upper Sacramento River. EOS Transactions, AGU 78: 256.
- 335. Larsen, E. W., Mount, J. F., and Schaldow, G. S. 1997a. Hydraulic Controls on River Meander Migration. Proceedings: Association of Engineering Geologists 120.
- 336. Larsen, E. W., Mount, J. F., and Schaldow, G. S. in manuscript. Meander Migration of the Upper Sacramento River: Sensitivity to Changing Hydraulic Variables.
- 337. Larsen, E. W., Schladow, G. S., and Mount, J. F. 1997b. The Geomorphic Influence of Bank Revetment on Channel Migration: Upper Sacramento River, Miles 218-206. International Association of Hydraulic Research (IAHR) XXVI Congress: San Francisco, California.
- 338. Larsen, P. 1994. Restoration of river corridors: German Experiences. Pages 419-438 in P. Calow and G. E. Petts, editors. The Rivers Handbook: Hydrological and Ecological Principles; Volume Two. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- 339. Leavitt, J. 1998. The Functions of Riparian Buffers in Urban Watersheds, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 340. Lee, L. C. and Hinckley, T. M. 1977. Impact of Water Level Changes On Woody Riparian and Wetland Communities, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; National Stream Alteration Team; Office of Biological Services.
- Lemcke, R. and Winkler, H. M. 1998. The negotiation of obstacles by migrating river lamprey (Lampetra fluviatilis) Ueberwindung von Hindernissen durch wandernde Flussneunaugen. Wasser-Boden 50: 15-17.
- 342. Leopold, L. B., Wolman, M. G., and Miller, J. P. 1964. Fluvial Processes in Geomorphology, Dover. New York.

- 343. Li, H. W., Schrenck, C. B., and Tubb, R. A. 1984. Comparison of Habitats Near Spur Dikes, Continuous Revetments, and Natural Banks for Larval, Juvenile, and Adult Fishes of the Willamette River, USGS: Water Resources Research Institute Publication WRRI-95. Corvallis, OR.
- 344. Ligon, F. K., Dietrich, W. E., and Trush, W. J. 1995. Downstream Ecological Effects of Dams. BioScience 45: 183-192.
- 345. Lillehammer, A. and Saltveit, S. J. 1984. Regulated Rivers: 2nd International Symposium on Regulated Streams. Universitetsforlaget. Oslo, Norway.
- 346. Lister, D. B. and Bengeyfield, W. E. 1998. An assessment of compensatory fish habitat at five sites in the Thompson River system, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Vancouver, BC Canada: Report No. 2444.
- 347. Lister, D. B., Beniston, R. J., Kellerhals, R., and Miles, M. 1995. Rock Size Affects Juvenile Salmonid Use of Streambank Riprap. C. R. Thorne, S. R. Abt, F. B. J. Barends, S. T. Maynord, and K. W. Pilarcyzk, editors. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 348. Little, A. D. I. 1973. Report on Channel Modification: Vol. I and II, Environmental Protection Agency: Council on Environmental Quality. Washington D.C.
- 349. Lockard, W. M. and Burgess, R. A. 1984. The Preservation and Restoration of Riparian Resources in Conducting Flood Control Activities. R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 350. Lucas, M. C. and Batley, E. 1996. Seasonal movements and behavior of adult barbel Barbus barbus, a riverine cyprinid fish: Implications for river management. Journal of Appied Ecology 33: 1345-1358.
- 351. Lucas, M. C. and Frear, P. A. 1997. Effects of a flow-gauging weir on the migratory behaviour of adult barbel, a riverine cyprinid. Journal of Fish Biology 50: 382-396.
- 352. Lund, J. A. 1976. Evaluation of stream channelization and mitigation on fisheries resources of the St. Regis River, Montana, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; FWS/OBS-76/06.
- 353. Lynch, J. A., Corbett, E. S., and Hoopes, R. 1977. Implications of forest management practices on the aquatic environment. Fisheries 2: 16-22.
- 354. MacDonald, L. H., Smart, A. W., and Wissmar, R. C. 1991. Monitoring Guidelines to Evaluate Effects of Forestry Activities on Streams in the Pacific Northwest and Alaska. U.S. EPA. EPA 910/9-91-001. Washington, D.C.

- 355. Maddock, T. Jr. 1976. A primer on floodplain dynamics. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 31: 44-47.
- 356. Madej, M. A., Weaver, W. E., and Hagans, D. K. 1994. Analysis of bank erosion on the Merced River, Yosemite Valley, Yosemite National Park, California, USA. Environmental Management 18: 235-250.
- 357. Maki, T. E., Weber, A. J., Hazel, D. W., Hunter, S. C., and Hyberg, B. T. 1980. Effects of Stream Channelization on Bottomland and Swamp Forest Ecosystems., Research Institute of the University of North Carolina, Raleigh: Report No 147.
- 358. Malanson, G. P. 1995. Riparian Landscapes, Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, U.K.
- 359. Manci, K. M. 1989. Riparian ecosystem creation and restoration: A literature summary, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Report 89(20):1-59. Jamestown, ND: Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center Home Page. http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/literatr/ripareco/ripareco.htm (Version 16JUL97).
- 360. Marchand, M., Marteijn, E. C. L., and Bakonyi, P. 1995. Policy analysis as a tool for habitat restoration: a case study on the Danube River floodplain, Hungary. Pages 179-186 in S. H. Hosper, R. D. Gulati, L. Van-Liere, and R. M. M. Rooijackers, editors. Integrated Water Resources Management. International Conference on Integrated Water Resources Management (Netherlands).
- 361. Marchand, M., Marteijn, E. C. L., Pedroli, G. B. M., van Velzen, E., and Bakonyi, P. 1994. The Gemenc floodplain rehabilitation project; a policy analysis for the rehabilitation of a Danube floodplain, Hungary. Pages 367-370 *in* J. A. Van-de-Kraats, editor. Rehabilitation of the River Rhine. International Conference on Integrated Water Resources Management (Netherlands).
- 362. Marriott, S. B. and Alexander, J. 1999. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches, Geological Society of London. London, UK.
- 363. Marzolf, G. R. 1978. The potential effects of clearing and snagging on stream ecosystems, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- 364. Maser, C. and Sedell, J. R. 1994. From the Forest to the Sea: The Ecology of Wood in Streams, Rivers, Estuaries, and Oceans, St. Lucie Press. Delray, FL.
- 365. Masterman, R. and Thorne, C. R. 1992. Predicting Influence of Bank Vegetation on Channel Capacity. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 118: 1052-1058.
- 366. Mattingly, R. L. and Herricks, E. E. 1991. Channelization of streams and rivers in Illinois: Procedural review and selected case studies, Illinois Univ., Urbana-Champaign (USA).

- Mattingly, R. L. and Herricks, E. E. 1991. Channelization of streams and rivers in Illinois: Procedural review and selected case studies. Appendices, Illinois Univ., Urbana-Champaign (USA).
- 368. Mattingly, R. L., Herricks, E. E., and Johnston, D. M. 1993. Channelization and levee construction of Illinois: Review and implications for management. Environmental Management 17: 781-795.
- 369. May, C., Horner, R., Karr, J., Mar, B., and Welch, E. 1997. Effects of Urbanization On Small Streams in the Puget Sound Ecoregion. Watershed Protection Technique 2: 483-494.
- 370. McCall, T. C., Hodgman, T. P., Diefenbach, D. R., and Owen, R. B. Jr. 1996. Beaver populations and their relation to wetland habitat and breeding waterfowl in Maine. Wetlands 16: 163-172.
- 371. McCarthy, D. T. 1985. The adverse effects of channelization and their amelioration. Pages 83-97 *in* J. S. Alabaster, editor. Habitat Modification and Freshwater Fisheries, Proceedings of a Symposium of the European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission. May 23-25 Aarhus, Sweden.
- 372. McClellan, T. J. 1974. Ecological Recovery of Realigned Stream Channels, Federal Highway Administration: Report FHWA-OR-74-1.
- 373. Mclaughlin Water Engineers. 1986. Evaluation of and Design Recommendation for Drop Structures in the Denver Metropolitan Area.
- 374. Mellquist, P. 1986. Life in regulated streams: The Weir Project. Oslo-Norway-Norwegian-Water-Resources-and-Energy-Administration.
- 375. Mertes, L. A. K. 1997. Documentation and significance of the perirheic zone on inundated floodplains. Water Resource Research 33: 1749-1762.
- 376. Mertes, L. A. K., Daniel, D. L., Melack, J. M., Nelson, B., Martinelli, L. A., and Forsberg, B. R. 1995. Spatial patterns of hydrology, geomorphology, and vegetation on the floodplain of the Amazon River in Brazil from a remote sensing perspective. Geomorphology 13.
- Mertes, L. A. K., Dunne, T., and Martinelli, L. A. 1996. Channel-floodplain geomorphology along the Solimoes-Amozon River. Geological Society of America Bulletin 108: 1089-1107.
- Mifkovic, C. S. and Petersen, M. S. 1975. Environmental aspects Sacramento bank protection. Journal of the Hydraulics Division, American Society of Civil Engineers 101: 543-555.

- 379. Miklejohn, B. A. and Hughes, J. W. 1999. Bird communities in riparian buffer strips of industrial forests. American Midland Naturalist 141: 172-184.
- 380. Miles, M. J. 1998. Restoration difficulties for fishery mitigation in high-energy gravel-bed rivers along highway corridors. Pages 393-399 in P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC..
- 381. Milhous, R. T., Miller, S., and Galay, V. J. 1998. Case Study of Gravel-Bed River Management: The Skykomish River Near Gold Bar, Washington. Pages 705-724 in P. C. Klingeman, R. L. Beschta, P. D. Komar, and J. B. Bradley, editors. Gravel-Bed Rivers in the Environment. Water Resources Publications, LLC..
- 382. Millar, R. G. 1977. Ballast Requirements for Lateral Logjams, British Columbia Ministry of Environment, Watershed Restoration Program: Technical Memorandum.
- 383. Millar, R. G. and Quick, M. C. 1998. Stable width and depth of gravel-bed rivers with cohesive banks. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 124: 1005-1013.
- 384. Miller, A. C., Kerr, S. N., Reams, H. E., and Sartor, J. P. 1984. Physical Modeling of Spurs for Bank Protection. Elliott, C. M. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83. New York, American Society of Civil Engineers.
- 385. Milner, N. J., Scullion, J., Carling, P. A., and Crisp, D. T. 1981. The effects of discharge on sediment dynamics and consequent effects on invertebrates and salmonids in upland rivers. Advances in Applied Biology VI: 153-220.
- 386. Minckley, W. L. D. J. E. 1991. Battle Against Extinction: Native Fish Management in the American West, University of Arizona Press. Tucson.
- 387. Montana Bull Trout Scientific Group (MBTSG). 1998. The relationship between land management activities and habitat requirments of bull trout, Report prepared for the Montana Bull Trout Restoration Team. Helena, MT.
- 388. Montgomery, D. R. and Buffington, J. 1993. Channel Classification: Prediction of Channel Response and Assessment of Channel Condition., Washington State Dept. of Natural Resources, Report TFW-SH10-93-002. Olympia, WA.
- 389. Montgomery, D. R., Buffington, J. M., Smith, R. D., Schmidt, K. M., and Pess, G. 1995. Pool spacing in forest channels. Water Resources Research 31: 1097-1105.
- 390. Moore, D. S. 1989. Sediment ramping at Mill Creek. Pages 833-838 in Hydraulic Engineering, editor. National Conference on Hydraulic Engineering.14-18 Aug 1989 New Orleans, LA (USA).

- 391. Morris, L. A., Langemeirs, R. M., Russell, T. R., and Witt, A. 1968. Effects of main stem impoundments and channelisation upon the limnology of the Missouri River, Nebraska. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 97: 380-388.
- 392. Morrow, J. V. Jr., Kirk, J. P., Killgore, K. J., Rogillio, H., and Knight, C. 1998. Status and Recovery Potential of Gulf Sturgeon in the Pearl River System, Louisiana-Mississippi. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 18: 798-808.
- 393. Mount, J. F. 1995. California Rivers and Streams, University of California Press. Berkeley, CA.
- 394. Moyle, P. B. 1976. Some Effects of Channelization on the Fishes and Invertebrates of Rush Creek, Modoc County, California. California Fish and Game 62: 179-186.
- 395. Munther, G. L. 1975. Fishery effects of irrigation diversion and related structures : an interim fisheries management plan for the Sawtooth National Recreation Area, U. S. Forest Service.
- 396. Naiman, R. J., Beechie, T. J., Benda, L. E., Berg, D. R., Bisson, P. A., MacDonald, L. H., O'Connor, M. D., Olson, P. L., and Steel, E. A. 1992. Fundamental elements of ecologically healthy watersheds in the Pacific Northwest coastal ecoregion. Pages 127-188 *in* R. J. Naiman, editor. Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.
- 397. Naiman, R. J., Decamps, H., Pastor, J., and Jonston, C. A. 1988. The potential importance of boundaries to fluvial ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 7: 289-306.
- 398. Naiman, R. J., Melillo, JK. M., and Hobbie, J. E. 1986. Ecosystem alteration of boreal forest streams by beaver (*Castor canadensis*). Ecology 67: 1254-1269.
- 399. Nakamura, F., Sudo, T., Kameyama, S., and Jitsu, M. 1997. Influences of channelization on discharge of suspended sediment and wetland vegetation in Kushiro Marsh, northern Japan. Geomorphology 18: 279-289.
- 400. Nanson, G. C. and Croke, J. C. 1992. A genetic classification of floodplains. Geomorphology 4: 459-486.
- 401. Nanson, G. C. and Hickin, E. J. 1986. Statistical Analysis of Bank Erosion and Channel Migration in Western Canada. Geological Society of America Bulletin 97: 497-504.
- 402. Narf, R. P. 1985. Aquatic insect colonization and substrate changes in a relocated stream segment. Great Lakes Entomology 18: 83-92.

- 403. National Research Council. 1992. Restoration of aquatic ecosystems: science, technology, and public policy, National Academy Press. Washington, D.C.
- 404. National Stream Alteration Team. 1978. Some effects of stream channelization on fish populations, macroinvertebrates, and fishing in Ohio and Indiana, National Stream Alteration Team, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Columbus, Ohio.
- 405. Nehlsen, W. J., Williams, J. E., and Lichatowich, J. A. 1991. Pacific salmon at the crossroads: stocks at risk from California, Oregon, Idaho, and Washington. Fisheries 16: 4-21.
- 406. Neill, C. R. and Yaremko, E. K. 1988. Regime aspects of flood control channelization. White, W. R. International conference on River regime. New York, NY, United States, John Wiley & Sons.
- 407. Neilson, F. M., Waller, T. N., and Kennedy, K. M. 1991. Annotated Bibliography on Grade Control Structures: A Miscellaneous Paper HL-91-4, US Army Corp of Engineers. Washington D.C.
- 408. Nelson, L. M. 1986. Effect of Bank Protection Measures, Stehekin River, Chelan County, Washington, USGS; Water Resources Investigations Report 85-4316.
- 409. Neuhold, J. H. 1981. Strategy of stream ecosystem recovery. Pages 261-265 *in* G. W. Barrett and R. Rosenburg, editors. Stress Effects on Natural Ecosystems, Environmental Monographs and Symposia. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- 410. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 1984. Flood plain management: technical manual for stream encroachment, New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Water Resources, Bureau of Flood Plain Management. Trenton, N.J.
- 411. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation. 1985. Stream corridor management: a basic reference manual, New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Division of Water, Bureau of Water Resources Department of Environmental Conservation. Albany, N.Y.
- 412. Newbury, R., Gaboury, M., and Bates, D. 1997. Restoring Habitats in Channelized or Uniform Streams Using Riffle and Pool Sequences.P. A. Z. D. Slaney, editor. Fish Habiatt Rehabilitation Procedures. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 413. Newbury, R. W. and Gaboury, M. N. 1993. Stream Analysis and Fish Habitat Design: A Field Manual, Newbury Hydraulics. Gibsons, British Columbia.

- 414. Nichols, R. A. and Sprague, S. G. 1999. The Use of Long-Line Cabled Logs to Protect Eroding Stream Banks in Skagit County, Washington: Lower Sauk River; Lower Finney Creek; Ovenell Slough, Skagit River, Report to the Center of Streamside Studies, University of Washington. Seattle, WA.
- 415. Nielsen, M. B. 1996. Lowland Stream Restoration in Denmark. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 416. Nolan, M. F. 1984. Vegetation on US Army Corps of Engineers Project Levees in the Sacramento/ San Joaquin Valley, California.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 417. Norman, D. K., Cederholm, C. J., and Lingley, W. S. Jr. 1998. Flood plains, salmon habitat, and sand and gravel mining, Washington Department of Natural Resources, Division of Geology and Earth Resources. Olympia, WA, United States.
- 418. Nunnally, N. R. 1978. Stream Renovation: An Alternative to Channelization. Environmental Management 2: 403-411.
- 419. Nunnally, N. R. and Beverly, L. 1984. Morphologic Effects of Lower Mississippi River Dike Fields. Elliott, C. M. River meandering: proceedings of the Conference Rivers '83. New York, American Society of Civil Engineers.
- 420. Nunnally, N. R. and Keller, E. A. 1979. Use of Fluvial Processes to Minimise Adverse Effects of Stream Channelisation, Water Resources Research Institute, Report No. 144. University of North Carolina.
- 421. Nunnally, N. R., Shields, F. D. Jr., and Hynson, J. 1987. Environmental considerations for levees and floodwalls. Environmental Management 11: 183-191.
- 422. Nyman, L. and Willner, H. 1988. Effects of artificial channelization for rafting timber on a population of trout. INF.-SOETVATTENSLAB.-DROTTNINGHOLM. Soetvattenslaboratoriet, Drottningholm (Sweden) 1: 21.
- 423. O'Connell, M. A., Hallett, J. G., West, S. D., Kelsey, K. A., Manuwal, D. A., and Pearson, S. F. Effectiveness of Riparian Management Zones in Providing Habitat for Wildlife. 2000. Timber/Fish and Wildlife, CMER Committee, Report TFW-LWAG1-00-001.
- 424. O'Connor, N. A. 1991. The effects of habitat complexity on the macroinvertebrates colonizing wood substrates in a lowland stream. Oecologia 85: 504-512.
- 425. O'Neal, J. 2000. Biological Evaluation of Stream Enhancement: A Comparison of Large Woody Debris and an Engineered Alternative, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.

- 426. O'rear, C. W. 1975. The effects of stream channelization of the distribution of nutrients and metals., North Carolina Water Resources Research Institute; UNC-WRRI Report No 108. Raleighs, NC; UNC.
- 427. Obeysekera, J. T. B. and Loftin, M. K. 1988. Kissimmee River: Floodplain Harmony in Restoration. Pages 79-86 *in* Floodplain Harmony. The Natural Hazards Research and Applications Information Center; Institute of Behavioral Science, Boulder, CO.
- 428. Oregon State Department of Environmental Quality. 1974. Environmental assessment, Ash Creek RC & D project, Polk County, Oregon, Salem, OR.
- 429. Orsborn, J. F. Jr., Cullen, R. T., Heiner, B. A., and Garric, C. M. a. R. M. 1992. A Handbook for the Planning and Analysis of Fisheries Habitat Modification Projects, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering. Washington State University, Washington.
- 430. Osman, A. M. and Thorne, C. R. 1988. Riverbank Stability Analysis. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 114: 134-159.
- 431. Padilla, I. 1991. The effect of channelization of Rio Puerto Nueva on ground water levels in the San Juan metropolitan area, Puerto Rico. Pages 168-169 *in* W. F. Ritter, editor. Proceedings of the 1991 national conference on Irrigation and drainage engineering. American Society of Civil Engineers., New York, NY.
- 432. Palmer, M. A. 1993. Experimentation in the Hyporheic Zone: Challenges and Perspectives. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 84-93.
- 433. Pankow, W. E. 1986. Annotated bibliography for navigation training structures, Dept. of the Army, Waterways Experiment Station, Corps of Engineers. Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 434. Patterson, D. W., Finch, C. U., and Wilcox, G. I. 1984. Streambank Stabilization Techniques Used By the Soil Conservation Service in California.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 435. Peltier, W. H. and Welch, E. B. 1969. Factors Affecting Growth of Rooted Aquatics in a River. Weed Science 17: 412-416.
- 436. Pennington, C. H., Baker, J. A., and Bond, C. L. 1983. Fishes of Selected Aquatic Habitats on the Lower Mississippi River, USACOE, Technical Report E-83-2. 1983.
- 437. Percival, E. and Whitehead, H. 1929. A quantitattive study of the fauna of some types of stream Journal of Ecology 17: 282-314.

- 438. Perkins, S. J. 1981. Channel Migration on the Tolt and Raging rivers, King County, Washington. Pages 338-341 *in* J. Louthain, editor. Inspiration: come to the headwaters. Proceedings of the Fifteenth annual conference of the Association of State Floodplain Managers Denver, CO 1981. NHRAIC.
- 439. Perkins, S. J. 1993. Green River Channel Migration Study, King County Department of Public Works, Surface Water Management Division. Seattle, WA.
- 440. Perkins, S. J. 1994. The shrinking cedar river: channel changes following flow regulation and bank armoring. American Water Resources Association June Meeting; Subsection: Effects of Human-Induced Changes on Hydrologic Systems: 649-661.
- 441. Pess, G. 1998. Comments onVolume IV Pacific Lumber Company Habitat Conservation Plans, Sustained Yield Plan/Habitat Conservation Plan, Public Review Draft July 1998. http://www.wildcalifornia.org/projects/headwaters/HCPComments/pess.html.
- 442. Peterjohn, W. T. and Correll, D. L. 1984. Nutrient Dynamics in an Agricultural Watershed: Observations on the Role of a Riparian Forest. Ecology 65: 1466-1475.
- 443. Peters, R. J., Missildine, B. R., and Low, D. L. 1998. Seasonal fish densities near river banks stabilized with various stabilization methods: first year report of the Flood Technical Assistance Project, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, North Pacific Coast Ecoregion, Western Washington Office, Aquatic Resources Division. Lacey, WA.
- 444. Peterson, D. L. and Klimas, C. V. 1996. The Role of Restoration in Ecosystem Management, Society for Ecological Restoration. Madison, WI.
- 445. Peterson, R. C., Peterson, L. B. M., and Lacoursiere, J. 1992. A Building-block Model for Stream Restoration. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 446. Petts, G. E. 1996. Water allocation to protect river ecosystems. Pages 353-365 *in* J. E. Brittain, I. Brinkman, and C. Nilsson, editors. Proceedings of an international workshop on remedial strategies in regulated rivers, September 1995. Lycksele, Sweden.
- 447. Petts, G. E., Armitage, P., and Gustard, A. 1989. Fourth International Symposium on Regulated Streams.
- 448. Pickup, G. A. W. R. F. 1976. Effects of Hydrologic Regime on the Magnitude and Frequency of Dominant Discharge. Journal of Hydrology 29: 51-75.
- 449. Piest, R. F., Elliot, L. S., and Spomer, R. G. 1977. Erosion of the Tarkio drainage system, 1845-1976. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers 20: 458-488.

- 450. Platts, W. S. 1991. Livestock grazing. Pages 389-423 *in* Influence of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. American Fisheries Society.
- 451. Poff, N. L., Allan, J. D., Bain, M. B., Karr, J. R., Prestegaard, K. L., Richter, B. D., Sparks, R. E., and Stromberg, J. C. 1997. The Natural Flow Regime: A Paradigm for River Conservation and Restoration. BioScience 47: 769-784.
- 452. Pollock, M. M. and Kennard, P. M. 1999. A Low Risk Strategy for Preserving Riparian Buffers Needed to Protect and Restore Salmonid Habitat in Forested Watersheds of Washington State, 10,000 Years Institute. Bainbridge Island, WA.
- 453. Portt, C. B., Balon, E. K., and Noakes, D. L. G. 1986. Biomass and Production of Fishes in Natural and Channelized Streams. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 43: 1926-1934.
- 454. Pusch, M. H. E., Pusch, M., and Braukmann, U. 1991. Restoration of Channelized Streams: A Benthological Study. Internationale Vereinigung fuer Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie. Verhandlungen 24: 1851-1855.
- 455. Quinn, J. M., Williamson, R. B., Smith, R. K., and Vickers, M. L. 1992. Effects of riparian grazing and channelisation on streams in Southland, New Zealand. Benthic invertebrates. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 26: 259-273.
- 456. Raedeke, K. J., Taber, R. D., and Paige, D. K. 1988. Ecology of large mammals in riparian systems of Pacific Northwest forests. Pages 113-132 *in* K. J. Raedeke, editor. Streamside Management: Riparian Wildlife and Forestry Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources, Contribution No. 59, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 457. Ralph, S. C., Poole, G. C., Conquest, L. L., and Naiman, R. J. 1994. Stream channel condition and in-stream habitat in logged and unlogged basins of Western Washington. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 51: 37-51.
- 458. Rao, D. B. 1974. Analysis of relief wells in embankments. Indian Geotechnical Journal 4: 271-277.
- 459. Rasid, H., Phillips, B. A. M., and Oosterveld, M. 1985. Morphologic Effects of Channelization: the Case of the Neebing-McIntyre Floodway, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada. Environmental Management 9: 399-416.
- 460. Reiner, R. and Calhoun, F. 1999. Cosumnes River Fisheries Restoration Workshop: Summary of Workshop Notes: 3/18/1997, The Nature Conservancy; http://www.ice.ucdavis.edu/cosumnes/. Cosumnes River Preserve, Franklin, CA.

- 461. Rhoads, B. L. 1991. Impact of Agricultural Development on Regional Drainage in the Lower Santa Cruz Valley, Arizona, U.S.A. Environmental Geology and Water Sciences EGWSEI 18: 119-135.
- 462. Rhoads, B. L. and Herricks, E. E. 1996. Naturalization of Headwater Streams in Illinois: Challenges and Possibilities. A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 463. Richards, C. and Bacon, K. L. 1994. Influence of fine sediment on macroinvertebrate colonization of surface and hyporheic stream substrates. Great Basin Naturalist 54: 106-113.
- 464. Richter, B. D., Baumgartner, J. V., Braun, D. P., and Powell, J. 1998. A spatial assessment of hydrologic alteration within a river network. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 14: 329-340.
- 465. Ricks, C. L. 1981. Sedimentation and flood history at the mouth of a small northwestern coastal system. Estuaries 4: 292.
- 466. Riley, A. L. 1998. Restoring Streams in Cities: A Guide for Planners, Policymakers and Citizens, Island Press. Covelo, CA.
- 467. Rinaldi, M. and Johnson, P. A. 1997. Stream Meander Restoration. Journal of the American Water Resource Association 33: 855-866.
- 468. Rinne, J. N. 1988. Grazing effects on stream habitat and fishes: Research design considerations. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 8: 240-247.
- 469. Ritter, D. F. 1979. The effects of channelization on a high-energy river. Environmental Geology 3: 29-38.
- 470. Ritzenthaler, E. A. S. 1998. Biogeochemistry and hydrology of a forested floodplain backchannel: Riparian and hyporheic interactions. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 471. Robbins, C. H. a. S. A. 1983. Man-induced channel adjustment in Tennessee streams, USGS; Water-Resources Investigations Report 82-4098. Nashville, Tennessee.
- Robinson, S. K., Thompson, I. F. R., Donovan, T. M., Whitehead, D. R., and Faaborg, J. 1995. Regional forest fragmentation and the nesting success of migratory birds. Science 267: 1987-1990.
- 473. Rodzenko, G., Tram, J. J., and Plasencia, D. S. 1988. Loss of Overbank Storage in Floodplain Management. Pages 239-247 *in* Floodplain Harmony. The Natural Hazards Research and Applications Information Center; Institute of Behavioral Science, University of Colorado, Boulder, CO.

- 474. Rosgen, D. L. 1996. Applied River Morphology, Wildland Hydrology. Pagosa Springs, CO.
- 475. Rosgen, D. L. 1994. A Classification of Natural Rivers. Catena 22: 169-199.
- Rowntree, K. M. and Dollar, E. S. J. 1999. Vegetation controls on channel stability in the Bell River, Eastern Cape, South Africa. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 24: 127-134.
- 477. Sacramento River Advisory Council. 1989. Upper Sacramento River Fisheries and Riparian Habitat Management Plan. The Resources Agency, State of California; http://www.dla.water.ca.gov/nd/ndpub.html. Sacramento, CA.
- 478. Sandheinrich, M. B. and Atchison, G. J. 1986. Environmental Effects of Dikes and Revetments on Large Riverine Systems. USACOE, Technical Report E-86-5.
- 479. Savery, A. W. 2000. A Comparison of the Hydraulic Effect of Large Woody Debris and an Engineered Alternative, University of Washington, M.S. Thesis. Seattle, WA.
- 480. Scarnecchia, D. L. 1988. The importance of streamlining in influencing fish community structure in channelized and unchannelized reaches of a prairie stream. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 2: 155-166.
- 481. Schiemer, F., Baumgartner, C., Tockner, K., and Layzer, J. B. 1999. Restoration of Floodplain Rivers: The 'Danube Restoration Project'. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 231-244.
- 482. Schiemer, F. and Waidbacher, H. 1992. Strategies for Conservation of a Danubian Fish Fauna.P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 483. Schiller, E. J. 1972. Backwater Effect of Submerged Sills. Journal of the Hydraulics Division, American Society of Civil Engineers 98: 2059-2064.
- 484. Schmal, R. N. 1978. Effects of stream channelization on aquatic macroinvertebrates, Buena Vista Marsh, Portage County, Wisconsin, Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Biological Services, Eastern Energy and Land Use Team, Water Resources Analysis; Harpers Ferry, W.Va.
- 485. Schneberger, E. and Funk, J. L. 1972. Stream channelization: a symposium, North Central Division, American Fisheries Society; 2. Madison, WI.
- 486. Schnick, R. A., Morton, J. M., Mochalski, J. C., and Beall, J. T. 1982. Mitigation and enhancement techniques for the Upper Mississippi River system and other large river systems, U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Resource Publication 149. Washington, D.C.

- 487. Schoof, R. 1980. Environmental impact of channel modification. Water Resources Bullitin 16: 697-70.
- 488. Schoor, M. M., Wolfert, H. P., Maas, G. J., Middelkoop, H., and Lambeek, J. J. 1999. Potential for Floodplain Rehabilitation Based on Historical Maps and Present-day Processes along the River Rhine, The Netherlands.S. B. Marriott and J. Alexander, editors. Floodplains: Interdisciplinary Approaches. Geological Society of London, London, UK.
- 489. Schumm, S. A. 1985. Patterns of alluvial rivers. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Science 13: 5-27.
- 490. Scott, A. and Grant, T. 1997. Impacts of water management in the Murray-Darling Basin on the platypus (Ornithorhynchus anatinus) and the water rat (Hydromys chrysogaster). CSIRO Land and Water, Technical Report 23/97. Australia.
- 491. Scott, D. 1958. Cover on river bottoms. Nature 188: 76-77.
- 492. Scott, M. L., Friedman, J. M., and Auble, G. T. 1996. Fluvial process and the establishment of bottomland trees. Pages 327-339 *in* W. R. Osterkamp and C. R. Hupp, editors. Fluvial geomorphology and vegetation: 3. International Geomorphology Conference, 23-28 Aug 1993. Hamilton, ON, Canada.
- 493. Sear, D. A. 1996. The Sediment System and Channel Stability.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 494. Sear, D. A., Briggs, A., and Brookes, A. 1998. A preliminary analysis of the morphological adjustment within and downstream of a lowland river subject to river restoration. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 167-183.
- 495. Sear, D. A., Darby, S. E., Thorne, C. R., and Brookes, A. B. 1994. Geomorphological approach to stream stabilization and restoration: Case study of the Mimmshall Brook, Hertfordshire, UK. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 9: 205-223.
- 496. Sedell, J. R. and Beschta, R. L. 1991. Bringing back the "bio" in bio-engineering. American Fisheries Society Symposium 10: 160-175.
- 497. Sedell, J. R. and Froggatt, J. L. 1984. Importance of Streamside Forests to Large Rivers: The isolation of the Willamette River, Oregon, USA, from its floodplain by snagging and streamside forest removal. Verh. International Verein. Limnol. 22: 1828-1834.
- 498. Sedell, J. R., Smith, J. E., Wissmar, R. C., Clarke, S. E., Reeves, G. H., Brown, L. A., and McIntosh, B. A. 1994. Historical changes in fish habitat for select river basins of eastern Oregon and Washington. Northwest Science 68: 36-53.

- 499. Sedell, J. R., Swanson, F. J., and Gregory, S. V. 1985. Evaluating fish response to woody debris. Pages 222-245 *in* Hassler. T.J. editor. Proceedings: Pacific Northwest Stream Habitat Management Workshop. Humboldt State University, Arcata, CA.
- 500. Shankman, D. and Pugh, T. B. 1992. Discharge response to channelization of a coastal plain stream. Wetlands 12: 157-162.
- 501. Shankman, D. and Samson, S. A. 1991. Channelization Effects on Obion River Flooding, Western Tennessee. Water Resources Bulletin 27: 247-254.
- 502. Shannon and Wilson, I. 1991. Tolt and Raging Rivers Channel Migration Study, King County, Washington, Prepared for Surface Water Management Division, King County Department of Public Works. Seattle, WA.
- 503. Sheehorn, M. E. 1985. Stream Habitat Improvement Handbook, U.S. Forest Service : Technical Publication R8-TP7. Atlanta, GA.
- 504. Shen, H. W., Tabios, G. I., and Harder, J. A. 1994. Kissimmee River restoration study. Journal of Water Resource Planning and Management 120: 330-349.
- 505. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1983. Design of Habitat Structures for Open Channels. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management 109: 331-344.
- 506. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1988. Effectiveness of Spur Dike Notching. S. R. Abt and J. Gessler, editors. Hydraulic Engineering: Proceedings of the 1988 National Conference. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- 507. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1996. Hydraulic and Hydrologic Stability.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 508. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1987. Management of Environmental Resources of Cutoff Bends along the Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 509. Shields, F. D. Jr. 1991. Woody Vegetation and Riprap Stability along the Sacramento River Mile 84.5-119. Water Resources Bulletin 27: 527-536.
- 510. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Aziz, N. M. 1992. Knowledge-Based System for Environmental Design of Stream Modifications. Applied Engineering Agriculture, ASCE 8: 553-562.
- Shields, F. D. Jr., Bowie, A. J., and Cooper C.M. 1995a. Control of Streambank Erosion Due To Bed Degradation With Vegetation and Structure. Water Resource Bulletin 31: 475-489.

- 512. Shields, F. D. Jr., Cooper, C. M., and Knight, S. 1995d. Experiment in Stream Restoration. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering ASCE 121: 494-502.
- Shields, F. D. Jr., Cooper, C. M., and Knight, S. S. 1993. Initial habitat response to incised channel rehabilitation. Aquatic Conservation of Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 3: 93-104.
- 514. Shields, F. D. Jr., Cooper, C. M., and Testa, S. I. 1995b. Towards Greener Riprap: Environmental Considerations from Microscale to Macroscale.C. R. Thorne, S. R. Abt, F. B. J. Barends, S. T. Maynord, and K. W. Pilarcyzk, editors. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 515. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Copeland, R. R. 1990. Environmental Design of Channels: Can It Be Done? Pages 181-186 *in* American Society of Civil Engineers Hydraulic Engineering, editor. Proceedings of the 1990 National Conference. New York.
- 516. Shields, F. D. Jr., Ethridge, L. T., and Waller, T. N. 1990. Study of vegetation on revetments. Sacramento River Bank Protection Project. Phase 1. Literature review and pilot study, USACOE. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Stn., Vicksburg, MS (USA). Hydraulics Lab.
- 517. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Gippel, C. J. 1995. Prediction of Effects of Woody Debris Removal on Flow Resistance. Journal of Hydraulic Engineering 121.
- 518. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Gray, D. H. 1992. Effects of Woody Vegetation on Sandy Levee Integrity. Water Resources Bulletin 28: 917-931.
- 519. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Hoover, J. J. 1991. Effects of Channel Restabilization on Habitat Diversity, Twentymile Creek, Mississippi. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 6: 163-181.
- 520. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Ingram, J. J. 1990. River Engineering and Environmental Resources. Pages 1128-1133 *in* ASCE, editor. Hydraulic Engineering: Proceedings of the 1990 National Conference. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York.
- 521. Shields, F. D. Jr., Knight, S. S., and Cooper, C. M. 1998. Addition of spurs to stone toe protection for warmwater fish habitat rehabilitation. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 34.
- 522. Shields, F. D. Jr., Knight S.S., and Cooper, C. M. 1994. Effects of Channel Incision On Base Flow Stream Habitats and Fishes. Environmental Management 18: 43-57.
- 523. Shields, F. D. Jr., Knight, S. S., and Cooper, C. M. 1995c. Incised stream physical habitat restoration with stone weirs. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 10: 181-198.
- 524. Shields, F. D. Jr., Knight, S. S., and Cooper, C. M. 1996. Rehabilitation of Watersheds with Incising Channels. Water Resources Bulletin 31: 971-982.
- 525. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Nunnally, N. R. 1984. Environmental Aspects of Clearing and Snagging. Journal of Environmental Engineering 110: 152-165.
- 526. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Palermo, M. R. 1982. Assessment of Environmental Considerations in the Design and Construction of Waterway Projects. US Army Corps of Engineers, Technical Report E-82-8.
- 527. Shields, F. D. Jr. and Sanders, T. G. 1986. Water Quality Effects of Excavation and Diversion. Journal of Environmental Engineering (ASCE) 112: 211-228.
- 528. Simon, A. 1994. Gradation processes and channel evolution in modified west Tennessee streams process, response, and form, USGS. Denver, CO.
- 529. Simon, A. and Hupp, C. R. 1986. Channel Widening Characteristics and Bank Slope Development along a Reach of Cane Creek, West Tennessee. USGS Water-Supply Paper 2290. Denver, CO.
- 530. Simon, A. and Hupp, C. R. 1992. Geomorphic and Vegetative Recovery Processes along Modified Stream Channels of West Tennessee. USGS; Open-File Report 91-502. Denver, CO.
- 531. Simon, A. and Hupp, C. R. 1987. Geomorphic and Vegetative Recovery Processes along Modified Tennessee Streams: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Disturbed Fluvial Systems. International Association of Hydrological Sciences, editor. Forest Hydrology and Watershed Management. International Association of Hydrological Sciences, Washington, DC.
- 532. Simon, A. and Robbins, C. H. 1987. Man-Induced Gradient Adjustment of the South Fork Forked Deer River, West Tennessee. Environmental Geology and Water Sciences 9: 109-118.
- 533. Simon, A. 1990. The Discharge of Sediment in Channelized Alluvial Streams. Water Resources Bulletin 25: 1177-1188.
- 534. Simons, D. B. 1980. Proceedings, Workshop on Downstream River Channel Changes Resulting from Diversions or Reservoir Construction: a compilation of papers, summaries, and problem sets presented at Fort Collins, Colorado 27-29 August 1980, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Washington, D. C.
- 535. Simpson, P. W., Newman, J. R., Keirn, M. A., Matter, R. M., and Guthrie, P. A. 1982. Manual of Stream Channelization Impacts on Fish and Wildlife. Fish and Wildlife Service. Washington, DC.

- 536. Skidmore, P., Cooper, P., and Boyd, K. 1999. Methodology for Determining Meander Corridor Limits. American Water Resources Association: December 1999 Meeting: Watershed Management to Protect Declining Species 421-424.
- 537. Slaney, P. A., Finnigan, R. J., and Millar, R. G. 1997. Accelerating the Recovery of Log-jam Habitats: Large Woody Debris-boulder Complexes. P. A. Slaney and D. Zaldokas, editors. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 538. Slaney, P. A. and Zaldokas, D. 1997. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures, Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks: Watershed Restoration Technical Circular No. 9. Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 539. Small, M. F. and M.L. Hunter, M. L. 1988. Forest fragmentation and avian nest predation in forested landscapes. Oecologia 76: 62-64.
- 540. Smith, K. and Ward, R. 1998. Floods: physical processes and human impacts, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.
- 541. Smith, M. E. and Maderak, M. L. 1993. Geomorphic and hydraulic assessment of the Bear River in and near Evanston, Wyoming, USGS.
- 542. Smith, R. D., Sidle, R. C., Porter, P. E., and Noel, J. R. 1993. Effects of experimental removal of woody debris on the channel morphology of a forest, gravel-bed stream. Journal of Hydrology 152: 153-178.
- 543. Smith, R. H., Shields, F. D. Jr., Dardeau, E. A. Jr., Schaefer, T. E., and Gibson, A. C. 1992. Incremental effects of large woody debris removal on physical aquatic habitat, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; Tecnical Report EL-92-35. Vicksburg, MS.
- 544. Snavely, D. S. 1975. Effects of channelization of the Eel River, Indiana. Washington University, M.S. Thesis, St. Louis, MO, United States.
- 545. Sotir, R. B. and Nunnally, N. R. 1995. Use of Riprap in Soil Bioengineering Streambank Protection. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Amourstone. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. Chichester, England.
- 546. Sowl, J. H. 1990. Restoration of Riparian Wetlands along a Channelized River: Oxbow Lakes and the Middle Missouri. Pages 294-305 *in* J. J. Berger, editor. Environmental Restoration: Science and Strategies for Restoring the Earth.
- 547. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1995. Ecological connectivity in alluvial river ecosystems and its disruption by flow regulation. Pages 105-119 *in* K. Lubinski, J. Wiener, and N. Bhowmik, editors. International Conference, Sustaining the Ecological Integrity of Large Floodplain Rivers. July 12-15 La Crosse, WI 1994.

- 548. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1993. An Ecosystem Perspective of Alluvial Rivers: Connectivity and the Hyporheic Corridor. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 48-60.
- 549. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1988. The hyporheic habitat of river ecosystems. Nature 335: 64-66.
- 550. Stanford, J. A. and Ward, J. V. 1992. Management of aquatic resources in large catchments: Recognizing interactions between ecosystem connectivity and disturbance. Pages 91-124 *in* R. J. Naiman, editor. Watershed Management: Balancing Sustainability and Environmental Change. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.
- 551. Stanford, J. A., Ward, J. V., and Ellis, B. K. 1994. Ecology of the Alluvial Aquifers of the Flathead River, Montana. Pages 367-390 *in* J. Gibert, D. L. Danielopol, and J. A. Stanford, editors. Groundwater Ecology. Academic Press, San Diego.
- 552. Stanford, J. A., Ward, J. V., Liss, W. J., Frissell, C. A., Williams, R. N., Lichatowich, J. A., and Coutant, C. C. 1996. A General Protocol for Restoration of Regulated Rivers. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 12: 391-413.
- 553. Stanley, E. H. and Boulton, A. J. 1993. Hydrology and the Distribution of Hyporheos: Perspectives from a Mesic River and a Desert Stream. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 79-83.
- 554. Steiger, J., James, M., and Gazelle, F. 1998. Channelization and consequences on floodplain system functioning on the Garonne River, SW France. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 14: 13-23.
- 555. Stern, D. H. and Stern, M. S. 1980. Effects of Bank Stabilization on the Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Streams and Small Rivers: an Annotated Bibliography. Fish and Wildlife Service, Biological Services Program Report FWS/OBS-80/12.
- 556. Sullivan, K., Lisle, T. E., Dolloff, C. A., Grant, G. E., and L.M. Reid, L. M. 1987. Stream channels: The link between forests and fishes. Pages 39-97 *in* E. O. Salo and T. W. Cundy, editors. Streamside Management: Forestry and Fisheries Interactions. Institute of Forest Resources Contribution, No. 57, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.
- 557. Swales, S. 1982. A "before and after" study of the effects of land drainage works on fish stocks in the upper reaches of a lowland river. Fisheries Management 13: 105-114.
- 558. Swales, S. 1982. Environmental Effects of River Channel Works Used in Land Drainage Improvement. Journal of Environmental Management 14: 103-126.

- 559. Swales, S. 1980. Fisheries conservation and land drainage improvement. Pages 437-442 *in* Proceedings of the Technical Consultation on Allocation of Fishery Resources. Vichy, France.
- 560. Swales, S. 1982. Notes on the construction, installation and environmental effects of habitat improvement structures in a small lowland river in Shropshire. Fisheries Management 13: 1-10.
- 561. Swales, S. Rehabilitation, mitigation and restoration of fish habitat in regulated rivers. Sustainable-Fisheries-Through-Sustaining-Fish-Habitat: Australian Soc. for Fish Biology Workshop, Victor Harbor, Sa (Australia), 12-13 Aug, 92. Canberra-Australia Australian-Government-Publishing-Serv. 1993 Pp. 49-56.
- 562. Swales, S. 1989. The Use of In-stream Habitat Improvement Methodology in Mitigating the Adverse Effects of River Regulation on Fisheries. J. A. Gore and G. E. Petts, editors. Alternatives in Regulated River Management. CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida.
- 563. Swanson, G. A. 1979. The Mitigation Symposium: A National Workshop on Mitigating Losses of Fish and Wildlife Habitats, U.S. Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station: General Technical Report RM-65. Fort Collins, CO.
- 564. Taneja, D. D. 1977. Sediment Problems Related to Increased Discharges at the Intake of a Run-of-River Canal System in Haryana (India). Pages 344-352 *in* IAHS, editor. Erosion and Solid Matter Transport in Inland Waters Symposium; Proceedings of the Paris Symposium July 1977: International Association of Hydrological Sciences Publication. Paris, France.
- 565. Tarzwell, C. M. 1934. Stream Improvement Methods, U.S. Bureau of Fisheries: Stream Improvement Bulletin R-4: Division of Scientific Inquiry. Ogden, UT.
- 566. Task Committee. 1978. Environmental effects of hydrualic structures. Journal of Hydraulics Division, American Society of Civil Engineers 104: 203-221.
- 567. Teeter, A. M. 1989. Effects of Cooper River rediversion flows on shoaling conditions at Charleston Harbor, Charleston, South Carolina, US Army Corps of Engineers, Hydraulics Laboratory. Vicksburg, Mississippi.
- 568. Temolieres, M., Correll, D., and Olah, J. 1997. Riparian Vegetation and Water Quality Improvement. J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones: biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 569. Terrio, P. J. and Nazimek, J. E. 1997. Changes in cross-section geometry and channel volume in two reaches of the Kankakee River in Illinois, 1959-1994, USGS; Water Resources Investigations Report 96-4261.

- 570. Thackston, E. L. and Sneed, R. B. 1982. Review of Environmental Consequences of Waterway Design and Construction Practices as of 1979. USACOE, Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. Vicksburg, MS.
- 571. The Nature Conservancy. 1998. Conservation Site Plan: Upper Floodplain of the Cosumnes River, The Nature Conservancy; http://www.ice.ucdavis.edu/cosumnes/. Cosumnes River Preserve, Franklin, CA.
- 572. Theiling, C. 1995. Habitat Rehabilitation on the Upper Mississippi River. Regulated Rivers: Research and Management 11: 227-238.
- 573. Thoms, M. C. and Walker, K. F. 1993. Channel Changes Associated with Two Adjacent Weirs on a Regulated Lowland Alluvial River. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 8: 271-284.
- 574. Thorne, C. R., Abt, S. R., Barends, F. B. J., Maynord, S. T., and Pilarcyzk, K. W. 1995. River, Coastal and Shoreline Protection: Erosion Control Using Riprap and Armourstone, John Wiley and Sons. Chichester, UK.
- 575. Thronson, R. E. 1979. Best management practices guidance: discharge of dredged or fill materials, Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Planning and Standards, Water Planning Division. Washington D.C.
- 576. Tockner, K., Pennetzdorfer, D., Reiner, N., Schiemer, F., and Ward, J. V. 1999b. Hydrologic connectivity, and the exchange of organic matter, and nutrients in a dynamic river-floodplain system (Danube, Austria). Freshwater Biology 41: 521-535.
- 577. Tockner, K. and Schiemer, F. 1997. Ecological aspects of the restoration strategy for a riverfloodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters 6: 321-329.
- 578. Tockner, K., Schiemer, F., Baumgartner, C., Kum, G., Weigand, E., Zweimueller, I., Ward, J. V., and Layzer, J. B. 1999a. The Danube Restoration Project: Species diversity patterns across connectivity gradients in the floodplain system. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 2454-258.
- 579. Tockner, K., Schiemer, F., and Ward, J. V. 1998. Conservation by restoration: the management concept for a river-floodplain system on the Danube River in Austria. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 71-86.
- 580. Toth, L. A. 1993. The Ecological Basis of the Kissimmee River Restoration Plan. Florida Scientist 56: 25-51.

- 581. Toth, L. A. 1996. Restoring the Hydrogeomorphology of the Channelized Kissimmee River.A. Brookes and F. D. Jr. Shields, editors. River Channel Restoration: Guiding Principles for Sustainable Projects. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 582. Toth, L. A., Arrington, D. A., and Begue, G. 1997. Headwater restoration and reestablishment of natural flow regimes: Kissimmee River of Florida.J. E. Williams, C. A. Wood, and M. P. Dombeck, editors. Watershed Restoration: Principles and Practices. American Fisheries Society.
- 583. Toth, L. A., Arrington, D. A., Brady, M. A., and Muszick, D. A. 1995. Conceptual evaluation of factors potentially affecting restoration of habitat structure within the channelized Kissimmee River ecosystem. Restoration Ecology 3: 160-180.
- 584. Toth, L. A., Melvin, S. L., Arrington, D. A., and Chamberlain, J. 1998. Hydrologic Manipulations of the Channelized Kissimmee River. 48: 757-764.
- 585. Toth, L. A., Obeysekera, J. T. B., Perkins, W. A., and Loftin, M. K. 1993. Flow Regulation and Restoration of Florida's Kissimmee River. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 8: 155-166.
- 586. Tricounty. http://www.salmoninfo.org/tricounty/tcdevelopment.htm.
- 587. Triska, F. J., Kennedy, V. C., Avanzino, R. J., Zellweger, G. W., and Bencala, K. E. 1989a. Retention and Transport of Nutrients in a Third Order Stream: Channel Processes. Ecology 70: 1877-1892.
- 588. Triska, F. J., Kennedy, V. C., Avanzino, R. J., Zellweger, G. W., and Bencala, K. E. 1989b. Retention and Transport of Nutrients in a Third Order Stream: Hyporheic Processes. Ecology 70: 1893-1905.
- 589. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1976. Bear River, California : Communication from the Assistant Secretary of the Army (Civil Works) transmitting a letter from the Chief of Engineers, Department of the Army, submitting a report on Bear River, California, requested by a resolution of the House Committee on Public Works adopted June 13, 1956, U.S. Govt. Print. Office. Washington D.C.
- 590. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1979. Chehalis River at South Aberdeen and Cosmopolis, Washington : communication from the Secretary of the Army transmitting a Corps of Engineers report., Dept. of Defense, Dept. of the Army, Corps of Engineers. Washington.
- 591. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1976. Grays Harbor, Chehalis River and Hoquiam River, Washington; interim feasibility report; channel improvements for navigation, outer bar to Cosmopolis, USACOE Seattle District. Seattle, WA.

- 592. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1972. Lower Klamath River Flood Control Project, Del Norte County, California (Final Environmental Impact Statment)., USACOE, Army Engineer District, San Francisco, Calif.
- 593. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1984a. Mitigating the impacts of stream alterations, US Army Corps of Engineers, Nashville District. Nashville, Tenn.
- 594. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1984b. Navigation channel improvement, Columbia River, Oregon and Washington, Longview to Kalama Reach, river miles 64 to 78, US Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District. Seattle, WA.
- 595. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1972. Sacramento River Bank Protection Project, California (Final Environmental Impact Statement)., USACOE, Army Engineer District, Sacramento, Calif.
- 596. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1963. Skagit River, Washington: plans for flood control and recreation improvements, including fisheries, as added purposes for Avon Bypass, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, U.S. Army Engineer District, Seattle. Seattle, Washington.
- 597. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1972. Wahkiakum County Consolidated Diking District No.
  1, Wahkiakum County, Washington (Final Environmental Impact Statement), USACOE, Army Engineer District, Portland, OR.
- 598. U.S. Congress. 1973. Stream Channelization (Part 5).U.S. House of Representatives, editor. Hearings--Subcomm. of the Comm. On Government Operations--U.S. House of Representatives, 93d Cong, 1st Session.
- 599. U.S. Department of Transportation. 1989. Design of riprap revetment, U.S. Dept. of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Research, Development, and Technology, Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center. McLean, Va.
- 600. U.S. Department of Transportation. 1985. Design of Spur-type Streambank Stabilization Structures, U.S.DOT: Federal Highway Administration: Report No. FHWA/RD-84/101. McLean, VA.
- 601. U.S. Federal Highway Administration. 1988. Use of Riprap for Bank Protection, U.S. Federal Highway Administration: Highway Engineering Circular No. 12. Washington, D.C.
- 602. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 1998. Bull trout interim conservation guidance, USFWS. Lacey, WA.
- 603. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 1960. Fish and wildlife resources in relation to the proposed diversion of the Chilkat River, U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Bureau of Commercial Fisheries/ Branch of River Basin Studies. Juneau, Alaska.

- 604. U.S. Geological Survey. 1982. Biota and Biological Principles of the Aquatic Environment. Reston, VA. Water Resources Division.
- 605. U.S. Soil Conservation Service. 1977. Design of Open Channels, Department of Agriculture: Technical Release No. 25. Washington D.C.
- 606. United States: Congress: House: Committee on Government Operations. 1973. Stream channelization: what federally financed draglines and bulldozers do to our Nation's streams: fifth report, U. S. Govt. Print. Off. Washington D.C.
- 607. United States General Accounting Office. 1995. Midwest flood: information on the performance, effects, and control of levees : report to congressional requesters, Washington, D.C.
- 608. Vanek, V. 1997. Heterogeneity of Groundwater-Surface Water Ecotones.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 609. Vannote, R. L., Minsall, G. W., Cummins, K. W., Sedell, J. R., and Cushing, C. E. 1980. The river continuum concept. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 37: 103-137.
- 610. Vaubel, J. A. and Hoffman, G. R. 1975. A study of vegetation development in relation to age of river stabilization structures along a channelized segment of the Missouri River, University of South Dakota, Dept. Biol., Vermillion. 76 pp. Unpubl. Rep.
- 611. Vick, J., Andrews, E., and Williams, P. B. 1997. Analysis of Opportunities for Restoring a Natural Flood Regime on the Cosumnes River Floodplain, Philip Williams and Associates, Ltd; Report 1148. San Francisco, CA.
- 612. Vivash, R., Ottosen, O., Janes, M., and Sørensen H.V. 1998. Restoration of the rivers Brede, Cole and Skerne: a joint Danish and British EU-LIFE demonstration project, II - the river restoration works and other related practical aspects. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 197-208.
- 613. Wade, P. M. and Edwards, R. W. 1980. The effect of channel maintenance on the aquatic macrophytes of the drainage channels in the Monmouthsire Levels, South Wales, 1870-1976. Aquatic Biology 8: 307-322.
- 614. Walker, E. H. 1973. The effects on the ground-water resources of channelization of the Sudbury River through Cedar Swamp, Westborough, Massachusetts. U. S. Geological Survey. Reston, VA.

- 615. Walker, K. F. 1984. A review of the ecological effects of river regulation in Australia. Davies, B. R. and Walmsley, R. D. Symposium on Perspectives in Southern Hemisphere Limnology, Wilderness.
- 616. Walker, K. F. and Thoms, M. C. 1993. Environmental Effects of Flow Regulation on the Lower River Murray, Australia. Regulated Rivers Research & Management 8: 103-119.
- 617. Walker, K. F., Thoms, M. C., and Sheldon, F. 1992. Effects of Weirs on the Littoral Environment of the River Murray, South Australia.P. J. Boon, P. Calow, and G. E. Petts, editors. River Conservation and Management. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 618. Wallis, P. M., Hynes, H. B. N., and Telang, S. A. 1981. The Importance of Groundwater in the Transportation of Allochthonous Dissolved Organic Matter to the Streams Draining a Small Mountain Basin. Hydrobiologia 79: 77-90.
- 619. Wang, L., Lyons, J., and Kanehl, P. 1998. Development and Evaluation of a Habitat Rating System for Low-Gradient Wisconsin Streams. North-American Journal of Fisheries Management 18: 775-785.
- 620. Ward, B. R. 1997. Using Boulder Clusters to Rehabilitate Juvenile Salmonid Habitat. P. A. Slaney, D. Zaldokas, editor. Fish Habitat Rehabilitation Procedures. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.
- 621. Ward, J. V. 1989. The four dimensional nature of lotic ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8: 2-8.
- 622. Ward, J. V. and Stanford, J. A. 1995. Ecological connectivity in alluvial river ecosystems and its disruption by flow regulation. Pages 105-119 *in* K. Lubinski, J. Wiener, and N. Bhowmik, editors. The International Conference, Sustaining the Ecological Integrity of Large Floodplain Rivers July 12-15 La Crosse, WI 1994.
- 623. Ward, J. V. and Stanford, J. A. 1987. Ecology of Regulated Streams: Past Accomplishments and Directions for Future Research. Pages 391-409 *in* J. F. Craig and J. B. Kemper, editors. Regulated Streams: Advances in Ecology. Plenum Press, New York, NY.
- 624. Ward, J. V., Tockner, K., Schiemer, F., and Layzer, J. B. 1999. Biodiversity of floodplain river ecosystems: ecotones and connectivity. Regulated Rivers Research and Management 15: 125-139.
- 625. Washington Forest Practices Board. Washington Forest Practices. 2000.
- 626. Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife. 2000. Integrated Streambank Protection Guidelines, Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife; Inter-Fluve, Inc.

- 627. Wasson, J. G., Malavoi, J. R., Maridet, L., Souchon, Y., and Paulin, L. 1995. Ecological impact of river channelization. Antony-France Cemagref 166.
- 628. Weigand, D. C. 1991. Effects of gravel scalping on juvenile salmonid habitat. University of Washington, M.S. Thesis.
- 629. Welcomme, R. L. 1995. Relationships between fisheries and the integrity of river systems. Lubinski, K., Wiener, J., and Bhowmik, N. The International Conference, Sustaining the Ecological Integrity of Large Floodplain Rivers. La Crosse, WI.
- 630. Wene, G. and Wickfliff, E. L. 1940. Modification of a stream bottom and its effect on the insect fauna. Canadian Entomologist 72: 131-135.
- 631. Wesche, T. A. 1985. Stream Channel Modifications and Reclamation Structures to Enhance Fish Habitat. Pages 103-163 *in* J. A. Gore, editor. The Restoration of Rivers and Streams: Theories and Experience.
- 632. West, S. 2000. personal communication College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- 633. Whelan, J. B., Maughan, O., Shabman, L. A., and Mauney, M. 1982. Biological and Economic Impact of Stream Alteration in the Virginia Piedmont. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Kearneysville, WV.
- 634. Whitaker, D. M. and Montevecchi, W. A. 1999. Breeding bird assemblages inhabiting riparian buffer strips in Newfoundland, Canada. Journal of Wildlife Management 63: 167-179.
- 635. White, D. S. 1993. Perspectives on Defining and Delineating Hyporheic Zones. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 12: 61-69.
- 636. White, E. M. and Knights, B. 1997. Dynamics of upstream migration of the European eel, Anguilla anguilla (L.), in the Rivers Severn and Avon, England, with special reference to the effects of man-made barriers. Fisheries Management and Ecology 4: 311-324.
- 637. White, R. J. 1996. Growth and development of North American stream habitat management for fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 53: 342-363.
- 638. White, T. R. and Fox, R. C. 1980. A Bibliography of Stream Alteration (Channelization)., Water Resources Research Institute; Technical Report No 87. Clemson University.
- 639. Whitener, K. and Kennedy, T. 1998. Evaluation of the Fisheries Relating to Floodplain Restoration on the Cosumnes River Preserve, The Nature Conservancy; http://www.ice.ucdavis.edu/cosumnes/. Cosumnes River Preserve, Franklin, CA.

- 640. Whiting, B. M. and Sweeney, M. D. 1999. GPR-Based Study of Avulsed River Channels of the Yakima River, Central Washington: Implications for Salmonid Habitat Restoration. GSA Annual Meeting, 1999; Shallow Subsurface Mapping Abstract 52146.
- 641. Whitlow, T. H., Harris, R. W., and Leiser, A. T. 1984. Experimenting with Levee Vegetation: Some Unexpected Findings.R. E. Warner and K. M. Hendrix, editors. California Riparian Systems: Ecology, Conservation and Productive Management. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- 642. Wilcock, D. N. and Essery, C. I. 1991. Environmental Impacts of Channelization on the River Main, Country Antrim, Northern Ireland. Journal of Environmental Management 32: 127-143.
- 643. Williams, D. D. 1984. The Hyporheic Zone as Habitat for Aquatic Insects and Associated Arthropods.V. H. Resh and D. M. Rosenberg, editors. The Ecology of Aquatic Insects. Praeger, New York.
- 644. Williams, P. B. and Swanson, M. L. 1989. A New Approach to Flood Protection Design and Riparian Management. The California Riparian Systems Conference. USDA Forest Service.
- 645. Winkley, B. R. and Walters, W. A. 1973. Response of the Mississippi River to cutoffs and channelization. Geological Society of America 5: 866.
- 646. Winner, M. D. Jr. and Simmons, C. E. 1977. Hydrology of the Creeping Swamp Watershed, North Carolina, with Reference to Potential Effects of Stream Channelization. USGS; Water-Resources Investigations 77-26.
- 647. Wissmar, R. C. 1996. Recommended Guidelines for Developing Bank Stabilization Facilities of Rivers in Western Washington, Fisheries Research Institute; School of Fisheries; University of Washington. Seattle, WA.
- 648. Witten, A. L. and Bulkley, R. V. 1976. A Study of the Effects of Stream Channelization and Bank Stabilization On Warmwater Sport Fish in Iowa: Subproject 2. A Study of the Impact of Selected Bank Stabilization Structures On Game Fish and Associated Organisms., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; Report FWS/OBS-76-12.
- 649. Wolman, M. G. M. J. P. 1960. Magnitude and Frequency of Forces in Geomorphic Processes. Journal of Geology 68: 54-74.
- 650. Woodsmith, R. D. and J.M. Buffington, J. M. 1996. Multivariate geomorphic analysis of forest streams: implications for assessment of land use impacts on channel condition. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 21: 377-393.
- 651. Wootton, J. T., Parker, M. S., and Power, M. E. 1996. Effects of Disturbance on River Food Webs. Science 273: 1558-1561.

- 652. Wormleaton, P. R. and Soufiani, E. 1998. Aeration performance of triangular planform labyrinth weirs. Journal of Environmental Engineering 124: 709-719.
- 653. Wright, J. F., Hiley, P. D., Cameron, A. C., Wigham, M. E., and Berrie, A. D. 1983. A quantatative study of the macroinvertebrate fauna of five biotopes in the River Lambourn, Berkshire, England. Archives of Hydrobiology 96: 271-292.
- 654. Wydoski, R. S. and Helm, W. T. 1980. Effects of alterations to low gradient reaches of Utah streams, Eastern Energy and Land Use Team, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service: FWS/OBS-80/14. Kearneysville, W. Va.
- 655. Wyzga, B. 1996. Changes in the magnitude and transformation of flood waves subsequent to the channelization of the Raba River, Polish Carpathians. Earth-Surface Processes and Landforms 21: 749-763.
- 656. Yahner, R. H. and D.P. Scott, D. P. 1988. Effects of forest fragmentation on depredation of artificial nests. Journal of Wildlife Management 52: 158-161.
- 657. Yarbro, L. A., Kuenzler, E. J., Mulholland, P. J., and Sniffen, R. P. 1984. Effects of Stream Channelization on Exports of Nitrogen and Phosphorus from North Carolina Coastal Plain Watersheds. Environmental Management 8: 151-160.
- 658. Yin, Y. 1995. Modifications to the upper Mississippi River and their effects on floodplain forests, National Biological Services, Environmental Management Technical Center. Onalaska, WI.
- 659. Zaletaev, V. S. 1997. Ecotones and Problems of their Management in Irrigation Regions.J. Gibert, J. Mathieu, and F. Fournier, editors. Groundwater/surface water ecotones : biological and hydrological interactions and management options. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 660. Zimmermann, U., Goerlach, J., and Ohde, O. 1998. Barriers to fish migration on rivers in Thuringia. Wasser-und-Boden [Wasser-Boden] 50.
- 661. Zinke, A. and Gutzweiler, K. A. 1990. Possibilities for regeneration for Floodplain Forests within the Framework of the Flood-Protection Measures on the Upper Rhine, West Germany. Forest Ecology and management 33/34: 13-20.